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AMERCO.

Dear Fellow Shareholders:

| am pleased to report that we are making pragress on our strategic initiatives to restructure our balance
sheet, improve our operations and more fully exploit our competitive advantage as the acknowledged leader
in the self-moving and self-storage industry.

In order to implement our restructuring initiatives, on June 20, 2003, AMERCO filed a voluntary petition under
Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code. Subsequently, on August 13, 2003, AMERCO's wholly-owned
subsidiary, Amerco Real Estate Company (AREC) filed a voluntary petition under Chapter 11, This second filing
was undertaken to facilitate the commitment from Wells Fargo Foothill for up to $300 million of debtor-in-
possession financing and $650 million of exit financing for the Company.

The decision to voluntarily file to restructure under Chapter 11 was a serious step extensively explored before
it was executed. Efforts were made to reach a consensual out-of-court restructuring, but this proved to be an
illusive goal. We came to the conclusion that in order to achieve a successful comprehensive restructuring of

our debt, a court-supervised restructuring was necessary.

We are committed to a full-pay reorganization plan that provides principal and interest to our creditors, while
preserving the equity of our shareholders. Our restructuring initiatives have been supported by key creditor
constituencies, including our revolver lending syndicate, led by JP Morgan Chase, and the insurance
companies holding $100 million of notes issued by AREC. At press time, we are continuing discussions with
our other constituencies and look forward to a timely resolution. For up to the hour information on AMERCO's
restructuring visit our Web site at www.amerco.com. We firmly believe that this process is in the best
long-term interests of our shareholders, customers, creditors, vendors and employees.

Recap of Fiscal Year 2003

This past October, AMERCO failed to refinance a maturing $100M obligation. Refinancing efforts were
hindered by past performance of AMERCO's previous independent auditors. Undeterred, we have responsibly
filed a $2.5B lawsuit to recaver these losses for the organization and its shareholders.

Despite all the events of the past year, our core U-Haul business continues to perform very well in what is
perceived by many to be a down economy. We have implemented a number of new operating systems and
financial controls that have enabled us to operate more efficiently, especially in the peak demand season.
These actions are having a positive impact on our margins and we expect these savings to continue
throughout fiscal 2004 and beyond.

We strengthened our senior financial team. Our new Director of Financial Reporting and our new Controlier
continue to reinforce our internal control structure. Shareholders have asked for, and AMERCO has produced,
more transparent and user-friendly financial statements to assist investors in measuring our progress and




evaluating their investment in AMERCO. It remains our goal to provide greater financial transparency that
allows investors the kinds of information they need to evaluate investment decisions.

In April 2003 AMERCDO established an independent Governance Committee. This independent committee
plays a role in ensuring high quality corporate governance standards during and beyond the Chapter 11

reorganization.

Significant progress was made at Republic Western Insurance Company. It continues its exit from unprofitable
lines of business, where substantial losses have been incurred. Steps have been taken to prevent these
losses from occurring again in the future. In order to reduce costs and build upon its core strengths, RepWest
continues to write anly lines of business that strategically fit with U-Haul. These lines include claims handling
for U-Haul from eight offices across the United States and Canada, the underwriting of Safe programs offered
in connection with U-Haul self-move and self-store rentals and insurance for self-storage operators and
customers. The elimination of non U-Haul related risks written at RepWaest will allow RepWest to leverage on
its U-Haul relationship and will have the effect of improving the transparency of AMERCO's financial reporting.

The outlook for fiscal year 2004 is positive. We continue to focus on our customers and on objectives that
support profitable growth, deleveraging and improved productivity. At the close of our fiscal year 2003, we
undertook a comprehensive program to upgrade our fleet of over 90,000 trucks. The first run of 2,000 new box
trucks started renting in June of 2003. These trucks provide us with opportunities for significant savings in
repair costs, reduced downtime, increased fleet availability and increased revenues. You can see these trucks

traveling throughout North America. | encourage you to rent one.

| am excited about the future of AMERCO. As we complete our financial restructuring, we will be well positioned
to sustain profitable growth and build shareholder value. Our operations are solid. Our organization is blessed
with the best facilities, systems and personnel in the business. I ask for your continued support and your

patronage of our products and services.

Sincerely,

&«L&M

E.J. (Joe) Shoen
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PART I

Item 1. Business:

A. AMERCO and Consolidated Subsidiaries, SAC Holding Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries
and SAC Holding Corporation II and Consolidated Subsidiaries

AMERCO, a Nevada corporation (“AMERCO”), is the holding company for U-Haul International,
Inc. (“U-Haul”), Amerco Real Estate Company (“Real Estate”), Republic Western Insurance Company
(“RepWest”) and Oxford Life Insurance Company (“Oxford”). Throughout this Form 10-K, unless the
context otherwise requires, the term “Company” refers to AMERCO and all of its legal subsidiaries.
AMERCO’s executive offices are located at 1325 Airmotive Way, Suite 100, Reno, Nevada 89502-3239, and
the telephone number is (775) 688-6300. As used in this Form 10-K, all references to a fiscal year refer to
AMERCO’s fiscal year ended March 31 of that year. RepWest and Oxford are consolidated on the basis of
calendar years ended December 31. Accordingly, all references to the years 2002, 2001 and 2000 for RepWest
and Oxford correspond to AMERCO’s fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The Company has four
industry segments represented by Moving and Storage Operations (U-Haul), Real Estate, Property and
Casualty Insurance (RepWest) and Life Insurance (Oxford). See Note 22 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements in Item 8§ for financial information regarding the industry segments and geographic
areas. :

SAC Holding Corporation and SAC Hoiding Corporation 11, Nevada corporations (collectively, “SAC
Holdings™), are the holding companies for several individual corporations that own self-storage properties
managed by AMERCO subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business. The Company has made significant
loans to SAC Holdings and is entitled to participate in SAC Holdings’ excess cash flow (after senior debt
service). Mark V. Shoen, a significant shareholder of AMERCO and executive officer of U-Haul, owns
substantially all of the equity interest of SAC Holdings. The Company does not have an equity ownership
interest in SAC Holdings, except for minority investments made by RepWest and Oxford in a SAC Holdings-
controlled limited partnership, which holds Canadian self-storage properties. SAC Holdings is not a legal
subsidiary of AMERCO. The Company is not liable for the debts of SAC Holdings and there are no default
provisions in the Company’s indebtedness that cross-default to SAC Holdings’ obligations nor are there
provisions in SAC Holdings indebtedness that cross-default to the Company’s obligations. U-Haul currently
manages the properties owned by SAC Holdings under management agreements and receives a management
fee. SAC Holdings operates in one business segment -— moving and storage operations. For financial reporting
purposes, SAC Holdings is treated as a special purpose entity, with no independent equity at risk, and
therefore the Company includes the amounts of SAC Holdings in the consolidated financial statements.

Available Information

Our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and
amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13 (a) or 15 (d) of the Securities
Exchange Act are available free of charge on our website at www.uhaul.com as soon as reasonably practicable
after electronically filing such reports with the SEC. Information contained on our website is not part of this
report.

Recent Developments
Chapter 11 Filing

On June 20, 2003 (the “Petition Date”), AMERCO filed a voluntary petition for relief under Chapter 11
of the United States Bankruptcy Code (the “Bankruptcy Code”) in the United States Bankruptcy Court,
District of Nevada (the “Bankruptcy Court”) (Case No. 0352103). Amerco Real Estate Company filed a
voluntary petition for relief under Chapter 11 on August 13, 2003. AMERCO’s other subsidiaries were not
included in either of the filings. AMERCOQO and Real Estate will continue to manage their properties and
operate their businesses as “debtor-in-possession” under the jurisdiction of the Bankruptcy Court and in
accordance with the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code. The Bankruptcy Court approved the joint




administration of the Chapter 11 proceedings. Hereafter, references to AMERCO’s Chapter 11 also include
Amerco Real Estate Company as applicable. In general, as debtor-in-possession, AMERCO is authorized
under Chapter 11 to continue to operate as an ongoing business, but may not engage in transactions outside
the ordinary course of business without the prior approval of the Bankruptcy Court. Specific information
pertaining to the bankruptcy filing may be obtained from our website www.amerco.com. The information on
this website is not considered part of this report.

The Chapter 11 filing was undertaken to facilitate a restructuring of AMERCO’s debt in response to
liquidity issues, which developed during the second half of 2002. In February, 2002, the Company’s prior
independent auditor advised the Company that its financial statements would have to be consolidated for
reporting purposes with those of SAC Holdings. This consolidation, and the resulting lack of clarity regarding
AMERCO’s operating results and financial condition, contributed substantially and directly to a series of
significant developments adversely impacting the Company’s access to capital. The consolidation of SAC
Holdings resulted in a material decrease in the Company’s reported net earnings and net worth and a
corresponding increase in its consolidated leverage ratios. Consolidating SAC Holdings also required a costly
and time-consuming restatement of prior period results that led to the untimely filing of quarterly and annual
reports with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

As the situation was occurringg, AMERCO was attempting to negotiate the replacement of its
$400 million credit facility with JP Morgan Chase. On June 28, 2002, AMERCO entered into a new credit
facility with JP Morgan Chase, which reduced AMERCO’s line of credit to $205 million. The terms of the
new JP Morgan Chase facility required that AMERCO raise $150 million through a capital markets
transaction prior to October 15, 2002. Additionally, AMERCO had payments for principal and related SWAP
arrangements under AMERCO’s Series 1997-C Bond Backed Asset Trust (“BBAT”) maturing October 15,
2002. In response to these requirements, AMERCO undertook a $275 million bond offering. The bond
offering was ultimately unsuccessful, exemplifying AMERCO’s significantly reduced access to the capital
markets to meet its financial needs due to, among other things, the confusion and adverse perception resulting
from the SAC Holdings consolidation. On October 15, 2002, AMERCO defaulted on the repayment of the
BBATs, which led to cross-defaults and an acceleration of substantially all of the other outstanding
instruments in the Company’s debt structure.

Since that time, AMERCO has continuously negotiated with its creditor groups to attempt to reach a
consensual restructuring arrangement that would provide for the repayment of all creditors and the
maintenance of AMERCO’s existing equity. However, while substantial progress has been made in
negotiations with certain key creditor constituencies, the complexity of AMERCOQ’s capital structure and the
diversity of interests of the creditor groups has made an equitable and consensual restructuring, outside of
formal reorganization proceedings, exceedingly difficult. Accordingly, AMERCO filed its Chapter 11
proceeding to provide the structure and framework to finalize and implement a restructuring of all of its debt.

We have secured from Wells Fargo Foothill a $300 million debtor-in-possession financing facility (the
“DIP Facility”), and a commitment for a $650 million bankruptcy emergence facility. These financing
arrangements provide the basic foundation upon which AMERCO pians to build its reorganization plan. On
August 13, 2003, Real Estate was filed into Chapter 11 proceedings in order to facilitate granting security to
the lending group in the real estate assets. Real Estate administers all of the Company’s real property and
owns approximately 90% of the Company’s real estate assets.

The exit or emergence financing facility will be used to fund cash payments to AMERCQO’s creditors,
with the balance of the creditor claims being paid through the issuance of new, restructured debt securities at
market interest rates. Notwithstanding AMERCO’s default on the BBATs in October 2002, and the resulting
cross-defaults under AMERCO’s other debt facilities, until the Petition Date AMERCO has remained
current in interest payments on all of its debt obligations, in many cases at default interest rates.

In order to exit Chapter 11 successfully, AMERCO will need to propose, and obtain confirmation by the
Bankruptcy Court of, a plan of reorganization that satisfies the requirements of the Bankruptcy Code. A plan
of reorganization would resolve, among other things, AMERCO’s pre-petition obligations and set forth the
revised capital structure. The timing of filing a plan of reorganization by AMERCO will depend on the timing
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and outcome of numerous other ongoing matters in the Chapter 11 case. Although AMERCO expects to file a
“full-value” plan of reorganization that provides creditors with a combination of cash and new debt securities
equal to the full amount of their allowed claims as well as AMERCO’s emergence from bankruptcy as a going
concern, there can be no assurance at this time that a plan of recrganization will be confirmed by the
Bankruptcy Court or that any such plan will be implemented successfully.

Under Section 362 of the Bankruptcy Code, the filing of a bankruptcy petition automatically stays most
actions against a debtor, including most actions to collect pre-petition indebtedness or to exercise control over
the property of the debtor’s estate. Absent an order of the Bankruptcy Court, substantially all pre-petition
liabilities are subject to settlement under the plan of reorganization.

Under Section 365 of the Bankruptcy Code, AMERCO may assume, assume and assign, or reject certain
executory contracts and unexpired leases, subject to the approval of the Bankruptcy Court and certain other
conditions. In general, rejection of an unexpired lease or executory contract is treated as a pre-petition breach
of the lease or contract in question. Subject to certain exceptions, this rejection relieves AMERCO of
performing its future obligations under that lease or contract but entitles the lessor or contract counterparty to
a pre-petition general unsecured claim for damages caused by the deemed breach.

Counterparties to these rejected contracts or leases may file proofs of claim against AMERCO’s estate
for such damages. Generally, the assumption of an executory contract or unexpired lease requires a debtor to
cure most existing defaults under such executory contract or unexpired lease.

The United States Trustee for the District of Nevada (the “U.S. Trustee”) has appointed an official
committee of unsecured creditors (the “Creditors’ Committee”) and an Equity Committee. The Creditors’
Committee and Equity Committee and their respective legal representatives have a right to be heard on
certain matters that come before the Bankruptcy Court. There can be no assurance that the Creditors’
Committee and Equity Committee will support AMERCQO’s positions or AMERCO’s ultimate plan of
reorganization, once proposed, and disagreements between AMERCO and the Creditors’ Committee and
Equity Committee could protract the Chapter 11 case, could negatively impact AMERCO’s ability to operate
during the Chapter 11 case, and could prevent AMERCO’s emergence from Chapter 11.

At this time, it is not possible to predict accurately the effect of the Chapter 11 reorganization process on
the Company’s business or when AMERCO may emerge from Chapter 11. The Company’s future results
depend on the timely and successful confirmation and implementation of a plan of reorganization. The rights
and claims of various creditors and security holders will be determined by the plan as well. Although
AMERCO expects to file and consummate a “full value” plan of reorganization that provides creditors with a
combination of cash and new debt securities equal to the full amount of their allowed claims and also
preserves the value of AMERCO’s common and preferred stock, no assurance can be given as to what values,
if any, will be ascribed in the bankruptcy proceedings to each of these constituencies. Accordingly, the
Company urges that appropriate caution be exercised with respect to existing and future investments in any of
such securities and claims. The Company’s financial settlements included in this Form 10-K do not reflect the
effects of the bankruptey filing. Also, the auditor’s opinion contains a going concern opinion that raises
substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. See Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements in Item 8.

Financial Statement Re-audit and Resulting Restatement of 2002 and 2001 Financial Statements

BDO Seidman, LLP (“BDO”) has completed the re-audit of the financial statements of AMERCO and
its subsidiaries and SAC Holdings and its subsidiaries for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2002 and 2001. In
connection with this re-audit, it was determined that there was a need for the Company to record adjustments
relating to insurance reserves for prior periods at AMERCO and its subsidiary, RepWest; to adjust for
recognizing losses of Private Mini pursuant to the equity method; as well as other significant adjustments.

These adjustments have resulted in the restatement of the Company’s financial statements for the fiscal years
ended March 31, 2002 and 2001.




2002 2001
As Previously As Previously
Reported Restated Reported Restated
_ (In thousands)
Revenues ... ... e 2,058,506 2,193,579 1,882,447 2,029,480
Net earnings (108S) . ... .ovurireineet i, 2,721 (47,440) 1,012 (42,110)

This report contains restated consolidated financial statements for the years ended March 31, 2002 and
2001, and for the quarters ended in the periods ended March 31, 2002 and December 31, 2002.

The major components for the restatement were related to 1) insurance and 2) the equity loss recognition
of Private Mini by AMERCO. For 2002 the insurance related after tax adjustment was $45 million and for
2001 it was $38 million. The Private Mini related adjustment for 2002 was $7 million and for 2001 it was
$5.7 million.

As a result of the restatement, total assets as of March 31, 2002 decreased from $3,773,455 to $3,732,317
and total stockholders’ equity as of March 31, 2002 decreased from $499,106 to $381,524.

For more information about the reinstatements, see Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

SEC Investigation

The Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) has issued a formal order of investigation to
determine whether the Company has violated the Federal securities laws. On January 7, 2003, the Company
received the first of four subpoenas issued by the SEC. SAC Holdings, the Company’s current and former
auditors, and others have also received one or more subpoenas relating to this matter. The Company is
cooperating fully with the SEC and is facilitating the expeditious review of its financial statements and any
other issues that may arise. The Company has produced a large volume of documents and other materials in
response to the subpoenas, and the Company is continuing to assemble and produce additional documents and
materials for the SEC. Although the Company has fully cooperated with the SEC in this matter and intends
to continue to fully cooperate, the SEC may determine that the Company has violated Federal securities laws.
We cannot predict when this investigation will be completed or its outcome. If the SEC makes a
determination that we have violated Federal securities laws, we may face sanctions, including, but not limited
to, significant monetary penalties and injunctive relief.

Department of Labor Investigation

The United States Department of Labor (“DOL”) is presently investigating whether there were
violations of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA”) involving the AMERCO
Employee Savings, Profit Sharing, and Employee Stock Ownership Plan (the “Plan”). The DOL has
interviewed a number of Company representatives as well as the Plan fiduciaries and has issued a subpoena to
the Company and a subpoena to SAC Holdings. At the present time, the Company is unable to determine
whether the DOL will assert any claims against the Company, SAC Holdings, or the Plan fiduciaries. The
DOL has asked AMERCO and its current directors as well as the Plan Trustees to sign an agreement tolling
the statute of limitations until December 31, 2003 with respect to any claims arising out of certain transactions
between AMERCO or any affiliate of AMERCO and SAC Holdings or any of its affiliates and such persons
have done so. The DOL recently asked such parties to extend the tolling agreement. The DOL has not advised
the Company that it believes that any violations of ERISA have in fact occurred. Instead, the DOL is simply
investigating potential violations. The Company intends to take any corrective action that may be needed in
light of the DOL’s ultimate findings. Although the Company has fully cooperated with the DOL in this matter
and intends to continue to fully cooperate, the DOL may determine that the Company has violated ERISA. In
that event, the Company may face sanctions, including, but not limited to, significant monetary penalties and
injunctive relief.




Nasdaq Listing Status

On June 24, 2003, the Company received a letter from Nasdaq indicating that, in light of AMERCO’s
recent Chapter 11 filing, a Nasdaq Listing Qualifications Panel (the “Panel”) would consider such filing and
associated concerns in rendering a determination regarding AMERCO’s continued listing status. Nasdaq has
requested, and AMERCO has provided, information regarding AMERCQO’s Chapter 11 filing and the
anticipated effect of the reorganization process on the shareholders of AMERCO. On August 13, 2003,
AMERCO received a letter from Nasdaq indicating that the Panel has determined to continue the listing of
AMERCO’s common stock on Nasdaq provided that: (1) on or before August 22, 2003, AMERCO files this
report and its Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2003 with the SEC and Nasdaq (Nasdaq has been
advised that this deadline was not met and further discussions with Nasdaq are anticipated); (2) on or before
deadlines determined by the Panel, AMERCO submits to Nasdag a copy of the Company’s plan of
reorganization as filed with the bankruptcy court, a copy of any amendments to the plan of reorganization as
submitted to the bankruptey court; documentation evidencing that AMERCO has commenced the solicitation
of votes regarding the plan of reorganization, as well as documentation evidencing that the plan of
reorganization has been confirmed by the bankruptcy court; and (3) on or before January 9, 2004, AMERCO
submits documentation to Nasdaq evidencing its emergence from bankruptcy. In addition to the foregoing,
AMERCO must comply with all other requirements for continued listing on Nasdaq. Although AMERCO
intends to seek a modification of the deadlines to file its Form 10-K and Form 10-Q as discussed above and to
take all actions available to maintain its Nasdagq listing, there can be no assurance that AMERCO will be able
to do so. In addition, as a result of the Chapter 11 filing and the late filing of this report, AMERCO’s trading
symbol was changed by Nasdaq to “UHAEQ”.

New York Stock Exchange Listing Status

The New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”) has completed a review of the continued listing of the
Series A 8'>% preferred stock of AMERCO following the Company’s filing for protection under Chapter 11.
According to NYSE, this assessment has shown that the Company is currently in compliance with all of the
NYSE’s quantitative continued listing standards. The NYSE will continue to closely monitor events at the
Company in connection with assessing the appropriateness of continued listing of the Company’s preferred
stock. The NYSE has indicated that it will give consideration to immediate suspension of the Company’s
preferred stock if authoritative advice is received that the Company’s securities, including the common stock,
are without value, or if the Company subsequently falls below any of the NYSE’s quantitative continued
listing standards. In addition, the NYSE noted that it may, at any time, suspend a security if it believes that
continued dealings in the security on the NYSE are not advisable.

AMERCO Chief Financial Officer

On April 14, 2003, Gary B. Horton, Treasurer of AMERCO, announced his retirement from the
Company and its subsidiaries effective August 1, 2003. On April 21, 2003, Andrew A. Stevens joined
AMERCO as its Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Stevens left on August 7, 2003 to pursue other opportunities.
The search for a new Chief Financial Officer is in progress. Mr. Horton has agreed to postpone his retirement
to facilitate the transition to the new Chief Financial Officer.

Arizona Department of Insurance Supervision of Republic Western

On May 20, 2003, RepWest consented to an Order for Supervision issued by the Arizona Department of
Insurance (“DOI”). The DOI determined that RepWest’s level of risk based capital (“RBC”) allowed for
regulatory control. Pursuant to this order and Arizona law, during the period of supervision, RepWest may not
engage in any of the following activities without the prior approval of the DOL:

a. dispose of, convey or encumber any of its assets or its business in force;
b. withdraw any of its bank accounts;

c. lend any of its funds;




d. - invest any of its funds;
e. = transfer any of its property;
f. . incur any debt, obligation-or liability including the issuance of all new and renewal business;

merge or consolidate with another company;

0=

h. “enter into any new reinsurance contract or treaty; or
i. enter into any affiliate transactions

In order to abate the DOI’s order, RepWest must establish that it possesses surplus in compliance with
Arizona law and as the Arizona Director of Insurance may require based on type, volume or nature of its
business pursuant to Arizona law and establish that it has eliminated the specific credit risk associated with
the exposures to AMERCO and its affiliates.

If RepWest fails to satisfy the requirements to abate DOD’s concerns, the DOI may take further action,
including, but not limited to, commencing a conservatorship.

In April 2003, RepWest announced that in connection with the Company’s overall restructuring efforts, it
is redirecting its operating focus. In particular, RepWest is exiting non-U-Haul related lines of business. This
exit may result in near term losses as these lines are eliminated.

Moving and Storage Operations

Moving and self-storage operations consist of the rental of equipment such as trucks and trailers, the sale
of moving and storage supplies such as boxes and the rental of self-storage spaces to both moving and storage
customers. Operations are conducted using the registered tradename U-Haul® throughout the United States
and Canada.

Real Estate Operations

Real Estate owns approximately 90% of the Company’s real estate assets, including U-Haul Center and
Storage locations. Various U-Haul and Insurance companies own the remainder of the real estate assets. Real
Estate is responsible for overseeing property acquisitions, dispositions and managing environmental risks of the
properties.

Property and Casualty Insurance

RepWest originates and reinsures property and casualty-type insurance products for various market
participants, including independent third parties, U-Haul’s customers, independent dealers and the Company.
In April 2003, RepWest announced that in connection with AMERCQO’s overall restructuring efforts, in order
to reduce costs and to build upon its core strengths, RepWest is exiting non-U-Haul related lines of business.
This exit may result in near term losses as these lines are eliminated.

Life Insurance

Oxford originates and reinsures annuities, credit life and disability, single premium whole life, group life
and disability coverage, and Medicare supplement insurance. Oxford also administers the self-insured
employee health and dental plans for AMERCO.

On November 13, 2000, Oxford acquired all of the issued and outstanding shares of Christian Fidelity
Life Insurance Company (“CFLIC”) in an exchange of cash for stock. CFLIC is a Texas-based insurance
company specializing in providing supplemental health insurance and is licensed in 31 states. The acquisition
was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting and, accordingly, CFLIC’s results of operations
have been included in the consolidated financial statements since the date of acquisition. Oxford funded the
acquisition from available cash and short-term funds.
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B. History

U-Haul was founded in 1945 under the name “U-Haul Trailer Rental Company”. From 1945 to 1974,
U-Haul rented trailers and, starting in 1959, trucks on a one-way and In-Town® basis exclusively through
independent dealers. Since 1974, U-Haul has developed a network of Company managed rental centers (U-
Haul Centers) through which U-Haul also rents its trucks and trailers and provides related products and
services (e.g., the sale and installation of hitches, as well as the sale of boxes and other moving and storage
supplies). At March 31, 2003, U-Haul’s distribution network included 1,350 Company operated centers and
14,274 independent dealers.

C. Moving and Storage Operations
Business Strategies

The U-Haul business strategy remains focused on do-it-yourself moving and self-storage customers.
U-Haul believes that customer access, in terms of truck or trailer availability and proximity of rental locations,
is critical to its success. Under the U-Haul name, our strategy is to offer, in an integrated manner over an
extensive and geographically diverse network of 15,624 Company operated Centers and independent dealers, a
wide range of products and services to do-it-yourself moving and self-storage customers.

Moving Operations

U-Haul has a variety of product offerings. Rental trucks are designed with do-it-yourself customers in
mind. U-Haul trailers are suited to the low profile of many newly manufactured automobiles. As of March 31,
2003, the U-Haul rental equipment fleet consisted of approximately 92,000 trucks, 73,000 trailers and 19,000
tow dollies. Additionally, U-Haul provides support items such as furniture pads, utility dollies and handtrucks.

Approximately 90% of U-Haul’s gross rental revenue is generated from do-it-yourself residential movers.
Moving rentals include:

(i) In-Town® rentals, where the equipment is refurned to the originating U-Haul location and
(i) One-way rentals, where the equipment is returned to a U-Haul location in another city.

U-Haul’s truck and trailer rental business tends to be seasonal, with proportionally more transactions and
revenues generated in the spring and summer months than during the balance of the year.

U-Haul sells a wide selection of moving supplies that include boxes, tape and packaging materials.
U-Haul Centers also sell and install hitches and towing systems, and sell propane.

U-Haul offers protection packages such as:

(i) Safemove® — which currently provides moving customers with a damage waiver, cargo protec-
tion and medical and life coverage;

(ii) Safestor® — which currently provides self-storage rental customers with various types of
protection for their goods in storage; and

(iii) Safetow® — which currently provides towing customers with a damage waiver, cargo protec-
tion and medical and life coverage.

Independent dealers receive U-Haul equipment on a consignment basis and are paid a commission on
gross revenues generated from their rentals. U-Haul maintains contracts with its independent dealers that may
typically be terminated upon 30 days written notice by either party.

Historically U-Haul has designed and manufactured its truck van boxes, trailers and various other
support rental equipment items. Truck chassis are manufactured by both foreign and domestic truck
manufacturers. These chassis receive certain post-delivery modifications and are joined with van boxes at
strategically located Company-owned manufacturing and assembly facilities in the United States. From time
to time, U-Haul buys its truck bodies from a third party provider of such items.
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U-Haul services and maintains its trucks and trailers through an extensive preventive-maintenance
program, generally performed at Company-owned facilities located at or near U-Haul Centers. Major repairs
are performed either by the chassis manufacturers’ dealers or by Company-owned repair shops.

Competition

A highly competitive industry exists within the moving truck and trailer rental market. There are two
distinct users of rental trucks: commercial users and do-it-yourself users. U-Haul focuses on the do-it-yourself
residential user. Within this group, U-Haul believes that the principal competitive factors are convenience of
rental locations, availability of quality rental equipment and price. U-Haul’s major competitors in the rental
market are Budget Car and Truck Rental Company and Penske Truck Leasing.

Self-storage Business

U-Haul entered the self-storage business in 1974 and has increased its presence in the industry through
the acquisition and conversion of existing facilities and new construction. In addition, U-Haul has entered into
management agreements to manage self-storage properties owned by others, including SAC Holdings.
U-Haul has also entered into a strategic and financial partnership with Private Mini Storage Realty, L.P., a
Texas-based operator of self-storage properties.

Through 1,023 owned, managed or equity participating self-storage locations in the United States and
Canada, U-Haul offers for rent more than 32.5 million square feet of self-storage at March 31, 2003. This is an
increase of 1.4 million square feet over the prior year. U-Haul’s self-storage facility locations range in sizes up
to 152,600 square feet of storage space, with individual storage units in sizes from 15 to 400 square feet.

The primary market for storage rooms is the storage of household goods. With the addition of 18,833
storage rooms during fiscal year 2003, the average occupancy rate of same store facilities operating over one
year was 82.9%, with modest seasonal variations.

Competition

The primary competition for a U-Haul self-storage location is other self storage facilities within a
geographic area offering a comparable level of convenience to the customer.

Employees

As of March 31, 2003, U-Haul’s non-seasonal work force consisted of 16,145 full and part-time
employees.

D. Real Estate Operations
Real Estate Operations

Real Estate owns approximately 90% of the Company’s real estate assets, including U-Haul Center and
Storage locations. Various U-Haul and Insurance companies own the remainder of the real estate assets. Real
Estate is responsible for overseeing property acquisitions, dispositions and managing environmental risks of the
properties.

Environmental Matters

Compliance with environmental requirements of federal, state and local governments significantly affects
Real Estate’s business operations. Among other things, these requirements regulate the discharge of materials
into the water, air and land and govern the use and disposal of hazardous substances. Real Estate is aware of
issues regarding the presence of hazardous substances on some of its properties. Real Estate regularly makes
capital and operating expenditures to stay in compliance with environmental laws and has put in place a
remedial plan at each site where it believes such a plan is necessary. Since 1988, Real Estate has managed a
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testing and removal program for underground storage tanks. Under this program, we have spent $43.7 million
through March 31, 2003. See also Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

E. Insurance Operations

Business Strategies

RepWest originates and reinsures property and casualty type insurance products for various market
participants, including independent third parties, U-Haul’s customers, independent dealers and the Company.
In April 2003, RepWest announced that in connection with AMERCO’s overall restructuring efforts, and in
order to reduce costs and to build upon its core strengths, RepWest has ceased writing and is exiting non-
U-Haul related lines of business.

Oxford’s business strategy is long-term capital growth through direct writing and reinsuring of annuity,
credit life and disability and Medicare supplement products. In the past Oxford has pursued a growth strategy
of increased direct writing via acquisitions of insurance companies, expanded distribution channels and
product development. The acquisitions of North American Insurance Company and Safe Mate Life Insurance
Company in 1997 and Christian Fidelity Life Insurance Company in 2000 represent a significant movement
toward this long-term goal. Oxford has significantly expanded product offerings, distribution channels and
administrative capabilities through these acquisitions.

Investments

RepWest and Oxford investments must comply with the insurance laws of the state of domicile. These
laws prescribe the type, quality and concentration of investments that may be made. Moreover, in order to be
considered an acceptable reinsurer by cedents and intermediaries, a reinsurer must offer financial security. The
quality and liquidity of invested assets are important considerations in determining such security.

The investment strategies of RepWest and Oxford emphasize protection of principal through the
purchase of investment grade fixed-income securities. Approximately 88.0% of RepWest’s and 88.6% of
Oxford’s fixed-income securities consist of investment grade securities (NAIC-2 or greater). The maturity
distributions are designed to provide sufficient liquidity to meet future cash needs.

Reinsurance

RepWest and Oxford assume and cede insurance from and to other insurers and members of various
reinsurance pools and associations. Reinsurance arrangements are utilized to provide greater diversification of
risk and to minimize exposure to large risks. However, the original insurer retains primary liability to the
policyholder should the assuming insurer not be able to meet its obligations under the reinsurance agreements.

Regulation

RepWest and Oxford are subject to regulation by state insurance regulatory agencies. The regulation
extends to such matters as licensing companies and agents, restricting the types, quality or quantity of
investments, regulating capital and surplus and actuarial reserve maintenance, setting solvency standards,
filing of annual and other reports on financial condition, and regulating trade practices. State laws also regulate
transactions and dividends between an insurance company and its parent or affiliates, and generally require
prior approval or notification for any change in control of the insurance subsidiary.

The insurance and reinsurance regulatory framework has been subjected to increased scrutiny by the
National Association of Insurance Commissioners (“NAIC”), federal and state legislatures and insurance
regulators. These regulators are considering increased regulations, with an emphasis on insurance company
investment and solvency issues. It is not possible to predict the future impact of changing state and federal
regulations on the operations of RepWest and Oxford.

In 1998, the NAIC adopted the Codification of Statutory Accounting Principles guidance, which
replaced the prior Accounting Practices and Procedures manual as the NAIC’s primary guidance for statutory
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accounting as of January 1, 2001. The codification provides guidance for areas where statutory accounting has
been silent and changes current statutory accounting practices in some areas. The DOI has adopted the
Codification guidance, effective January 1, 2001. Oxford and RepWest have implemented the new Codifica-
tion effective January 1, 2001.

In order to enhance the regulation of insurer solvency, the NAIC has adopted a formula and model law to
implement risk-based capital (“RBC”) requirements for insurance companies designed to assess minimum
capital requirements and to raise the level of protection that statutory surplus provides for policyholder
obligations. The RBC formula measures areas of risk facing insurers. Pursuant to the model law, insurers
having less statutory surplus than that required by the RBC calculation will be subject to varying degrees of
regulatory action, depending on the level of capital inadequacy.

The RBC model law provides for four levels of regulatory action. The extent of regulatory intervention
and action increases as the level of surplus to RBC decreases. The first level, the Company Action Level (as
defined by the NAIC), requires an insurer to submit a plan of corrective actions to the regulator if surplus falls
below 200% of the RBC amount. The Regulatory Action Level requires an insurer to submit a plan containing
corrective actions and requires the relevant insurance commissioner to perform an examination or other
analysis and issue a corrective order if surplus falls below 150% of the RBC amount. The Authorized Control
Level gives the relevant insurance commissioner the option either to take the aforementioned actions or to
rehabilitate or liquidate the insurer if surplus falls below 100% of the RBC amount. The fourth action level is
the Mandatory Control Level that requires the relevant insurance commissioner to rehabilitate or liquidate the
insurer if surplus falls below 70% of the RBC amount.

Oxford is in compliance with the NAIC minimum RBC requirements. On May 20, 2003, the DOI
determined that RepWest’s level of RBC allowed for regulatory control and accordingly placed RepWest
under supervision. See “Recent Developments” above.

Competition

The highly competitive insurance industry includes a large number of property and casualty insurance
companies and life insurance companies. In addition, the marketplace now includes financial service firms
offering both insurance and financial products. Stockholders own some insurance companies and policyholders
own others. Many competitors have been in business for a longer period of time or possess substantially greater
financial resources and broader product portfolios than RepWest and Oxford. RepWest and Oxford compete
in the insurance business based upon price, product design and services rendered to producers and
policyholders.

Employees

RepWest’s non-seasonal work force consists of 343 full and part-time employees.

Oxford’s non-seasonal work force consists of 148 full and part-time employees.

Life Insurance

Oxford originates and reinsures annuities, credit life and disability, single premium whole life, group life
and disability coverage, and Medicare supplement insurance. Oxford also administers the self-insured group
health and dental plans for the Company. Reinsurance arrangements are entered into with unaffiliated
reinsurers.

Property and Casualty

RepWest's historical business activities consisted of three basic areas: U-Haul, direct and assumed
reinsurance. U-Haul underwritings include coverage for U-Haul customers, independent dealers, fleet owners
and employees of the Company. RepWest's direct underwriting was done through Company-employed
underwriters and selected general agents. The products provided include liability coverage for rental vehicles,
coverage for commercial multiple peril, commercial auto, mobile homes and excess workers’ compensation.
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RepWest has determined that these lines will be eliminated. RepWest’s assumed reinsurance underwriting
was done via broker markets and RepWest has exited this line. In an effort to decrease risk, RepWest has
entered into various catastrophe cover policies to limit its exposure.

The liability for reported and unreported losses is based on both RepWest’s historical and industry
averages. Unpaid loss adjustment expenses are based on historical ratios of loss adjustment expenses paid to
losses paid. The liability for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses is based on estimates of the amount
necessary to settle all claims as of the statement date. Both reported and unreported losses are included in the
liability. RepWest updates the liability estimate as additional facts regarding claim costs become available.
These estimates are subject to uncertainty and variation due to numerous factors. In estimating reserves, no
attempt is made to isolate inflation from the combined effect of other factors including inflation. Unpaid losses
and loss adjustment expense are not discounted.

Activity in the liability for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses is summarized as follows:

2002 2001 2000
(In thousands)

Balance at January 1 ... ... . ... ... $448987 382,651 334,857

Less reinsurance recoverable ........ ... .. ... . .. 128,044 80,868 58,403
Net balance at January 1........ ... .. ... .. . v ... 320,943 301,783 276,454
Incurred related to: _ A

CUITENt YEAT ...ttt i e e 112,284 232984 162,265

Prior YEars . ...ttt e 16,396 23,042 41,285
Total incurred .. ... . . 128,680 256,026 203,550
Paid related to:

CUITERL YEAT . ottt et et e e et 66,728 106,395 61,196

Prior Years .. ...t e 130,070 130,471 117,025
Total paid. . ... 196,798 236,866 178,221
Net balance at December 31....... ... ... ... .. ... .. .... 252,825 320,943 301,783

Plus reinsurance recoverable . .......... .. .. . .. . . ... 146,622 128,044 80,868
Balance at December 31 .. ... . ... . . . ... $399,447 448,987 382,651

As aresult of changes in estimates of insured events in prior years, the provision for unpaid losses and loss
adjustment expenses (net of reinsurance recoveries of $90.1 million) increased by $16.4 million in 2002.

The following table illustrates the change in unpaid loss and loss adjustment expenses. First line —
reserves as originally reported at the end of the stated year. Second section, reading down, — cumulative
amounts paid as of the end of successive years with respect to that reserve, Third section, reading down, —
revised estimates of the original recorded reserve as of the end of successive years. Last section — compares
the latest revised estimated reserve amount to the reserve amount as originally established. This last section is
cumulative and should not be summed.
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Unpaid Loss and Loss Adjustment Expenses

December 31
1992 1993 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002
(In thousands)

Unpaid Loss and Loss
Adjustment Expenses.. $238,762 314,482 329,741 341,981 332,674 384,816 344,748 334,858 382,651 448987 399,447

Paid (Cumulative}

as of:
One year later. .. ... 83,923 70,382 86,796 89,041 89,336 103,752 82,936 117,025 130,471 130,070
Two years later ..... 123,310 115,467 139,247 150,001 161,613 174,867 164,318 186,193 203,605
Three years'later.... 153,030 146,640 173,787 195,855 208,168 216,966 218,819 232,883
Four years later. .. .. 173,841 166,068 198,434 226,815 232,726 246,819 255,134
Five years later ... .. 181,677 181,174 219425 243855 250,312 269,425
Six years lafer .. .. .. 191,938 194,652 231,447 254,204 263,645
Seven years later .... 200,281 203,535 237,118 264,120
Eight years later . . ... 207,719 207,834 242,450
Nine years later . . ... 211,075 211,493
Ten years later ..... 213,852
Reserve Reestimated as of:
One year later ........ 251,450 321,058 338,033 353,508 354,776 357,733 339,602 377,096 433,222 454,510
Two years later ....... 254,532 323,368 340,732 369,852 342,164 361,306 371,431 432,714 454926
Three years later. ... .. 253,844 309,936 349,459 328,445 346,578 365,598 429,160 437,712
Four years later....... 231,536 317,687 302,808 331,897 349,810 398,899 413,476
Five years later ....... 239,888 267,005 300,180 339,665 376,142 398,184
Six years later ;....... 263,843 262,517 307,306 347,664 369,320
Seven years later. ... .. 259,798 267,948 332,762 344,451
Eight years later .. .... 265,285 303,457 311,682
Nine years later ...... 265,538 270,300
Ten vears later ....... 267,029
Cumulative Redundancy
(Deficiency) ......... $(28,267) 44,182 18,059  (2,470) (36,646) (13,368) (68,728) (102,854 (72,275) (5,523)
Retro Premium
Recoverable .......... 2,209 4,239 8,231 11,294 13905 18,350 25,569 29,852 39,731 41,206

Reestimated Reserve:
Amount (Cumulative) ... $(26,058) 48,421 26,290 8,824 (22,741) 4982 (43,159) (73,002) (32,545) 35,683

Item 2. Properties

AMERCO’s subsidiaries own property, plant and equipment that are utilized in the manufacture, repair
and rental of U-Haul equipment and that provide office space for the Company. Such facilities exist
throughout the United States and Canada. U-Haul also manages storage facilities owned by others. In
addition, the Company owns certain real estate not currently used in its operations. U-Haul operates 1,350
U-Haul Centers (including Company-owned storage locations), and operates 11 manufacturing and assembly
facilities. U-Haul also operates 105 fixed site repair facilities located at or near a U-Haul Center.

SAC Holdings own property, plant and equipment that are utilized in the rental of self-storage rooms and
U-Haul equipment. Such facilities exist throughout the United States and Canada. Such facilities also secure
various promissory notes held by unrelated third parties. There is no debt held by the Company that is secured
by SAC Holdings’ real estate. U-Haul manages the storage facilities under management agreements whereby
the management fees are consistent with management fees received by U-Haul for other properties owned by
unrelated parties and managed by U-Haul.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

In the normal course of business, the Company is a defendant in a number of suits and claims. The
Company is also a party to several administrative proceedings arising from state and local provisions that
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regulate the removal and/or cleanup of underground fuel storage tanks. It is the opinion of management that
none of such suits, claims or proceedings involving the Company, individually or in the aggregate, are expected
to result in a material loss. See “Item [. Business — Environmental Matters”.

In the normal course of business, SAC Holdings is a defendant in a number of suits and claims. It is the
opinion of management that none of the suits, claims or proceedings involving SAC Holdings, individually or
in the aggregate, are expected to result in a material loss.

As previously discussed, on June 20, 2003, AMERCO filed a voluntary petition for relief under
Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code. As debtor-in-possession, AMERCO is authorized under Chapter 11 to
continue to operate as an ongoing business, but may not engage in transactions outside the ordinary course of
business without the prior approval of the Bankruptcy Court. As of the Petition Date, all pending litigation
against AMERCO is stayed, and absent further order of the Bankruptcy Court, no party, subject to certain
exceptions, may take any action, again subject to certain exceptions, to recover on pre-petition claims against
AMERCO. The automatic stay, however, does not apply to AMERCO’s subsidiaries, other than Amerco
Real Estate Company, which filed for protection under Chapter 11, on August 13, 2003.

On July 20, 2000, Charles Kocher (“Kocher”) filed suit in Wetzel County, West Virginia, Civil Action
No. 00-C-51-K, entitled Charles Kocher v. Oxford Life Insurance Co. (“Oxford”) seeking compensatory and
punitive damages for breach of contract, bad faith and unfair claims settlement practices arising from an
alleged failure of Oxford to properly and timely pay a claim under a disability and dismemberment policy. On
March 22, 2002, the jury returned a verdict of $5 million in compensatory damages and $34 million in punitive
damages. On November 5, 2002, the trial court entered an Order (*“Order”) affirming the $39 million jury
verdict and denying Oxford’s motion for New Trial Or, in The Alternative, Remittitur. Oxford has perfected
its appeal to the West Virginia Supreme Court. Oral argument on the appeal petition is set for September 9,
2003. Management does not believe that the Order is sustainable and expects the Order to be overturned by
the West Virginia Supreme Court, in part because the jury award has no reasonable nexus to the actual harm
suffered by Kocher. '

On September 24, 2002, Paul F. Shoen filed a derivative action in the Second Judicial District Court of
the State of Nevada, Washoe County, captioned Paul F. Shoen vs. SAC Holding Corporation et al,
CV02-05602, seeking damages and equitable relief on behalf of AMERCO from SAC Holdings and certain
current and former members of the AMERCO Board of Directors, including Edward J. Shoen, Mark V.
Shoen and James P. Shoen as defendants. AMERCO is named a nominal defendant for purposes of the
derivative action. The complaint alleges breach of fiduciary duty, self-dealing, usurpation of corporate
opportunities, wrongful interference with prospective economic advantage and unjust enrichment and seeks
the unwinding of sales of self-storage properties by subsidiaries of AMERCO to SAC Holdings over the last
several years. The complaint seeks a declaration that such transfers are void as well as unspecified damages.
On October 28, 2002, AMERCO, the Shoen directors, the non-Shoen directors and SAC Holdings filed
Motions to Dismiss the complaint. In addition, on October 28, 2002, Ron Belec filed a derivative action in the
Second Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada, Washoe County, captioned Ron Belec vs. William E.
Carty, et al, CV 02-06331 and on January 16, 2003, M.S. Management Company, Inc. filed 2 derivative action
in the Second Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada, Washoe County, captioned M.S. Management
Company, Inc. vs. William E. Carty, et. al, CV 03-00386. Two additional derivative suits were also filed
against these parties. These additional suits are substantially similar to the Paul F. Shoen derivative action.
The five suits assert virtually identical claims. In fact, three of the five plaintiffs are parties who are working
closely together and chose to file the same claims multiple times. The court consolidated all five complaints
before dismissing them on May 8, 2003. Plaintiffs have filed a notice of appeal. These lawsuits falsely alleged
that the AMERCO Board lacked independence. In reaching its decision to dismiss these claims, the court
determined that the AMERCO Board of Directors had the requisite level of independence required in order to
have these claims resolved by the Board.

The United States Department of Labor (“DOL™) is presently investigating whether there were
violations of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA”) involving the AMERCO
Employee Savings, Profit Sharing and Employee Stock Ownership Plan (the “Plan”). The DOL has
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interviewed a number of Company representatives as well as the Plan fiduciaries and has issued a subpoena to
the Company and a subpoena to SAC Holdings. At the present time the Company is unable to determine
whether the DOL will assert any claims against the Company, SAC Holdings, or the Plan fiduciaries. The
DOL has asked the Company and its current directors as well as the Plan Trustees to sign an agreement
tolling the statute of limitations with respect to any claims arising out of certain transactions between the
Company or any affiliate of the Company and SAC Holdings, or any of its affiliates and such parties have done
so. The DOL recently asked such parties to extend the tolling agreement. The DOL has not advised the
Company that it believes that any violations of ERISA have in fact occurred. Instead, the DOL is simply
investigating potential violations. The Company intends to vigorously defend its position. The Company also
intends to take any corrective action that may be needed in light of the DOL’s ultimate findings.

The Company has received notice of a formal, non-public investigation by the Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC”). On January 7, 2003, the Company received the first of the four subpoenas issued by
the SEC to the Company. SAC Holdings, the Company’s current and former auditors, and others have also
received one or more subpoenas relating to this matter. The SEC has advised the Company that this is a fact-
finding investigation and that it has not reached any conclusions related to this matter. The Company has been
cooperating fully with the SEC and is facilitating the expeditious review of its financial statements and any
other issues that may arise. The Company does not believe that the SEC investigation will have a material
adverse impact on its financial condition or results of operations. The SEC began its investigation by issuing a
subpoena to PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC”) two months before requesting information from the Company.
The Company is cooperating fully with the SEC’s investigation.

A subsidiary of U-Haul, INW Company (“INW”), owns one property located within two different state
hazardous substance sites in the State of Washington. The sites are referred to as the “Yakima Valley Spray
Site” and the “Yakima Railroad Area.” INW has been named as a “potentially liable party’” under state law
with respect to this property as it relates to both sites. As a result of the cleanup costs of approximately
$5.0 million required by the State of Washington, INW filed for reorganization under the federal bankruptcy
laws in May of 2001. A successful mediation with other liable parties has occurred and future liability to INW
will be in the range of $750,000 to $1.25 million.

AMERCO is a defendant in four putative class action lawsuits. Article Four Trust v. AMERCO, et al.,
District of Nevada, United States District Court, Case No. CV-N-03-0050-DWH-VPC. Article Four Trust, a
purported AMERCO shareholder, commenced this action on January 28, 2003 on behalf of all persons and
entities who purchased or acquired AMERCO securities between February 12, 1998 and September 26, 2002.
The Article Four Trust action alleges one claim for violation of Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act
and Rule 10b-5 thereunder. Mates v. AMERCO, et al., United States District Court, District of Nevada, Case
No. CV-N-03-0107. Maxine Mates, an AMERCO shareholder, commenced this putative class action on
behalf of all persons and entities who purchased or acquired AMERCO securities between February 12, 1998
and September 26, 2002. The Mates action asserts claims under section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5, and section
20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act. Klug v. AMERCO, et al., United States District Court of Nevada, Case
No. CV-5-03-0380. Edward Klug, an AMERCO shareholder, commenced this putative class action on behalf
of all persons and entities who purchased or acquired AMERCO securities between February 12, 1998 and
September 26, 2002. The K/ug action asserts claims under section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 and section 20(a) of
the ‘Securities Exchange Act. IG Holdings v. AMERCO, et al, United States District Court, District of
Nevada, Case No. CV-N-03-0199. 1G Holdings, an AMERCO bondholder, commenced this putative class
action on behalf of all persons and entities who purchased, acquired, or traded AMERCQO bonds between
February 12, 1998 and September 26, 2002, alleging claims under section 11 and section 12 of the Securities
Act of 1933 and section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5, and section 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act. Each of
these four securities class actions allege that AMERCO engaged in transactions with SAC entities that falsely
improved AMERCO’s financial statements, and that AMERCO failed to disclose the transactions properly.
The actions are at a very early stage. The Klug action has not been served. In the other three actions,
AMERCO does not currently have a deadline by which it must respond to the complaints. Management has
stated that it intends to defend these cases vigorously. We have filed a notice of AMERCQ’s bankruptcy
petition and the automatic stay in each of the Courts where these cases are pending.
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Reference is made to Note 16 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 for a discussion
of the final payments made in connection with stockholder litigation and California overtime litigation.
Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

No matter was submitted to a vote of the security holders of AMERCO or U-Haul during the fourth
quarter of the fiscal year covered by this report, through the solicitation of proxies or otherwise.

PART I

Item S. Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters
As of July 10, 2003, there were approximately 3,000 holders of record of AMERCO’s common stock.

AMERCO’s common stock has been traded on NASDAQ since November 1994 under the symbol
“UHAL”. As a result of AMERCO’s Chapter 11 filing and the late filing of this report, the trading symbol
was changed by Nasdaq to “UHAEQ”. The following table sets forth the high and low sales prices of the
common stock of AMERCO trading on Nasdaq for the periods indicated.

For the Years Ended

March 31,
2003 2002
High Low High Low
Firstquarter ... ... . 18.50 1390 1998 16.64
Second quarter . ... 14.99 6.19 2020 17.80
Third quarter . ....... . e 10.40 1.36  18.80 16.75
Fourth quarter . ....... ... . .. . 6.00 2777 18.04  14.27

AMERCO has not declared any cash dividends to common stockholders for the two most recent fiscal
years.

AMERCO does not have a formal dividend policy. AMERCO’s Board of Directors periodically considers
the advisability of declaring and paying dividends in light of existing circumstances. AMERCO does not
intend to pay dividends in the foreseeable future. See Note 21 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

in Item 8 for a discussion of certain statutory restrictions on the ability of the insurance subsidiaries to pay
dividends to AMERCO.

See Note 17 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 for a discussion of AMERCO’s
non-cash dividends. See Note 7 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 for a discussion of
changes to common shares outstanding.

The common stock of U-Haul is wholly owned by AMERCO. As a result, no active trading market exists
for the purchase and sale of such common stock. U-Haul has not declared cash dividends to AMERCO
during the two most recent fiscal years.

Due to the Chapter 11 filing, AMERCO does not expect to make any dividend payments on the Series A
preferred stock for the duration of such proceedings. No assurance can be given as to when or whether the
payment of cumulative preferred stock dividends will resume.

The rights and claims of AMERCO’s various creditors and security holders will be determined by the
plan of reorganization to be filed by AMERCO. Although AMERCO expects to file and consummate a “full
value” plan of reorganization that provides creditors with a combination of cash and new debt securities equal
to the full amount of their allowed claims and also preserves the value of AMERCO’s common and preferred
stock, no assurance can be given as to what values, if any, will be ascribed in the bankruptcy proceedings to
each of these constituencies. Accordingly, the Company urges that appropriate caution be exercised with
respect to existing and future investments in any of such securities.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data as Restated AMERCO and Consolidated Subsidiaries and SAC
Holdings and Consolidated Subsidiaries

For the Years Ended March 31,

Restated Restated Restated Restated
2003 2002(3) 2001(3) 2000(3) 1999(3)

{In thousands except share and per share data)

Summary of Operations:

Rental revenue ................... $ 1,560,005 1,512,250 1,436,832 1,334,923 1,204,380
Netsales .. ........coviivian... 222,889 222,816 212,243 201,355 220,994
Premiums ... .................... 307,925 411,170 328,108 262,057 226,847
Net investment and interest income 41,568 47,343 52,297 61,021 64,964
Total revenues ................... 2,132,387 2,193,579 2,029,480 1,859,356 1,717,185
Operating expenses ............... 1,134,460 1,146,305 1,076,307 951,196 892,355
Commission expenses ............. 136,827 140,442 132,865 134,135 130,160
Costofsales..................... 115,115 . 122,694 126,506 115,390 112,300
Benefits and losses . ............... 281,868 423,709 331,079 244,579 208,281
Amortization of deferred policy

acquisition costs ................ 37,819 40,674 36,232 34,987 31,721
Lease expense. ................... 179,642 174,664 175,460 130,951 118,742
Depreciation, net(1) .............. 137,446 102,957 103,807 96,090 77,429
Total costs and expenses . .......... 2,023,177 2,151,445 1,982,256 1,707,328 1,570,988
Earnings from operations .......... 109,210 42,134 47,224 152,028 146,198
Interest expense . ................. 148,131 109,465 111,878 97,187 85,611
Pretax earnings (loss) ............. (38,921) (67,331) (64,654) 54,841 60,587
Income tax benefit (expense)....... 13,935 19,891 22,544 (19,362) (22,745)
Net earnings (loss) ............... $ (24,986) (47,440) (42,110) 35,479 37,842
Less: preferred stock dividends. .. ... 12,963 12,963 12,963 13,641 17,414
Earnings (loss) available to common

shareholders ................... $ (37,949) (60,403) {55,073) 21,838 20,428
Net earnings (loss) per common

share (diluted)(2) .............. $ (1.83) (2.87) (2.56) .99 .93
Weighted average common shares

outstanding ‘basic and (diluted) ... 20,743,072 21,022,712 21,486,370 21,934,930 21,937,686
Cash dividends declared and accrued

Preferred stock . ................ $ 12,963 12,963 12,963 13,641 17,414

Balance Sheet Data:
Property, plant and equipment, net .. $ 1,946,317 1,936,076 1,882,010 1,704,483 1,532,239

Totalassets . ........cooivnunnnn.. 3,805,666 3,732,317 3,599,658 3,280,884 3,127,739
AMERCO’s notes and loans payable 954,856 1,045,801 1,156,849 1,137,840 1,114,748
SAC Holdings’ notes and loans

payable ............. ... ... ... 589,019 561,887 376,146 230,776 115,609

Stockholders’ equity. .............. 327,448 381,524 446,354 504,749 543,739

(1) Reflects the change in salvage value and estimated useful lives during the fiscal year ended March 31,
2002. The net effect of these changes was to reduce net loss for the fiscal year 2002 by $3.1 million or
$0.15 per share.

(2) Earnings and net earnings per common share were computed after giving effect to the dividends on the
Company’s Series B floating rate stock for all years presented.

(3) Gives effect to the restatements identified in Notes 1 and 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements in Item 8.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Dara, U-Haul International, Inc. — (Continued)

For the Years Ended March 31,
2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
(In thousands)

Summary of Operations:

Rental revenue ....................... $1,433,442 1,425,685 1,364,504 1,304,709 1,216,814
Netsales............ .. . i ot 174,065 198,312 194,270 191,083 183,910
Net investment and interest income .. ... 29,358 22,686 24,346 19,474 12916
Total revenues ....................... 1,636,865 1,646,683 1,583,120 1,515,266 1,413,640
Operating eXpenses . .................. 992,214 1,041,354 1,021,576 961,795 918,508
Commission eXpenses ................. 164,508 153,465 143,588 143,916 137,044
Costofsales......................... 93,735 110,449 116,601 112,874 107,690
Benefits and losses(1) ................. 37,560 47,036 40,521 — —
Lease eXpense........covevevnnenn... 165,020 171,656 167,290 132,395 118,428
Depreciation, net(2) .................. 112,815 92,351 87,539 78,740 61,002
Total costs and expenses . .............. 1,565,852 1,616,311 1,577,115 1,429,720 1,342,672
Earnings from operations .............. 71,013 30,372 6,005 85,546 70,968
Interest expense . ..................... 9,991 11,675 17,094 496 437
Pretax earnings (loss) ................. 61,022 18,697 (11,089) 85,050 70,531
Income tax benefit (expense)........... (21,211) (6,117) 4,921 (31,704) (27,167)
Net earnings (loss) ................... $ 39811 12,580 (6,168) 53,346 43,364
Balance Sheet Data:

Property, plant and equipment, net ...... § 736,499 750,779 731,074 757,029 684,165
Total assets .......... ... .. vty 1,208,791 1,099,195 935,254 970,968 892,838
Notes and loans payable ............... 31,693 14,793 - — —
Stockholders’ equity................:.. 499,380 458,639 449,586 455,714 402,368

(1) Reflects non cash adjustments primarily related to insurance

(2) Reflects the change in salvage value and estimated useful lives during the fiscal year ended March 31,
2002. The net effect of these changes was to increase net earnings for the fiscal year 2002 by $3.1 million.

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the Company’s consolidated financial
statements and the related notes. The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
a going concern basis, which contemplates the continuity of operations, realization of assets and the
satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. However, as a result of AMERCO’s Chapter 11
filing, such realization of assets and satisfaction of liabilities, without substantial adjustments, are subject to
uncertainty. Further, a plan of reorganization could materially change the amounts and classifications in the
financial statements. In addition, as discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, AMERCO is
in default under the terms of most of its financing arrangements. The consolidated financial statements do not
include any adjustments that might be required if AMERCO is unable to continue as a going concern.

Cautionary Statements Regarding Forward-looking Statements

This report contains forward-looking statements as that term is defined in Section 27A of the Securities
Act and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act. All statements, other than statements of historical fact,
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included in this report are forward-looking statements, including, but not limited to projections of revenues,
income or loss, estimates of capital expenditures, plans and intentions regarding the recapitalization of the
balance sheet and the payment of dividends arrearages, plans for future operations, products or services and
financing needs or plans, or perceptions of AMERCO’s legal positions and anticipated outcomes of pending
litigation against us, liquidity, expected outcomes of the Chapter 11 proceeding as well as assumptions relating
to the foregoing. The words “believe”, “expect”, “anticipate”, “estimate”, “project”, “may”, “will”, “intends”,
“plans” and similar expressions identify forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date the
statement was made. Forward-looking statements are inherently subject to risks and uncertainties, some of
which cannot be predicted or quantified. Factors that could significantly affect results include, without
limitation, the risk factors enumerated at the end of this section, as well as the following: the Company’s
ability to operate pursuant to the terms of its DIP facility; the Company’s ability to obtain court approval with
respect to motions in the Chapter 11 proceeding prosecuted by it from time to time; the Company’s ability to
develop, prosecute, confirm and consummate a plan of reorganization with respect to the Chapter 11 case;
risks associated with third parties seeking and obtaining court approval to terminate or shorten the exclusivity
period for the' Company to propose and confirm a plan of reorganization, for the appointment of a Chapter 11
trustee or to convert the case to a Chapter 7 case; the Company’s ability to obtain and maintain normal terms
with vendors and service providers; the Company’s ability to maintain contracts that are critical to its
operations; the potential adverse impact of the Chapter 11 case on the Company’s liquidity or results of
operations; the costs and availability of financing; the Company’s ability to execute its business plan; the
Company’s ability to attract, motivate and retain key employees; general economic conditions; weather
conditions; fluctuations in our costs to maintain and update our fleet and facilities; our ability to refinance our
debt; our ability to successfully recapitalize our balance sheet and cure existing defaults of our debt
agreements; our ability to continue as a going concern; changes in government regulations, particularly
environmental regulations; our credit ratings; the availability of credit; changes in demand for our products;
changes in the general domestic economy; degree and nature of our competition; the resolution of pending
litigation against the company; changes in accounting standards and other factors described in this report or
the other documents we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission. The above factors, the following
disclosures, as well as other statements in this report and in the Notes to AMERCO’s Consolidated Financial
Statements, could contribute to or cause such differences, or could cause AMERCQ’s stock price to fluctuate
dramatically. Consequently, the forward-looking statements should not be regarded as representations or
warranties by the Company that such matters will be realized. The Company disclaims any intent or obligation
to update or revise any of the forward-looking statements, whether in response to new information, unforeseen
events, changed circumstances or otherwise.

General

Information on fiscal year, industry segments and the Company and SAC Holdings is incorporated by
reference to “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data — Notes 1, 21, and 22 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements”. The notes discuss the principles of consolidation, summarized consoli-
dated financial information and industry segment and geographic area data. In consolidation, all intersegment
premiums are eliminated.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations are based upon the
consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States. The preparation of these financial statements requires the use of
estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and
related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. On an ongoing basis, estimates are reevaluated, including
those related to areas that require a significant level of judgment or are otherwise subject to an inherent degree
of uncertainty. These areas include allowances for doubtful accounts, depreciation of revenue earning vehicles
and buildings, self-insured liabilities, impairments of assets, insurance reserves, premiums and acquisition cost
amortization, income taxes and commitments and contingencies. The estimates are based on historical
experience, observance of trends in particular areas, information and valuations available from outside sources
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and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances and which form
the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual amounts may differ from these estimates under different assumptions and
conditions. Such differences may be material.

Accounting policies are considered critical when they are significant and involve difficult, subjective or
complex judgments or estimates. The accounting policies that we deem most critical to us, and involve the
most difficult, subjective or complex judgments include the following:

Principles of consolidation — The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of AMERCO
and its wholly owned subsidiaries and SAC Holdings and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All material
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. SAC Holdings has been
classified as a special purpose entity that meets the criteria for consolidation and therefore the accounts of
SAC Holdings are included in the consolidated financial statements. AMERCO has concluded that
SAC Holdings qualifies as a Variable Interest Entity, as defined by FIN 46, and will continue to be included in
the consolidation. AMERCO does not have an equity ownership interest in SAC Holdings or any of SAC
Holdings’ subsidiaries, except for investments made by RepWest and Oxford in a SAC Holdings-controlled
limited partnership, which holds Canadian self-storage properties. SAC Holdings are not legal subsidiaries of
AMERCO. AMERCO is not liable for the debts of SAC Holdings and there are no default provisions in
AMERCO indebtedness that cross-default to SAC Holdings’ obligations. SAC Holdings has concluded that a
conglomerate of entities, known as Private Mini Storage Realty L.P. (“Private Mini”), qualifies as a Variable
Interest Entity and will be included in the consolidation beginning July 1, 2003. As of March 31, 2003 and for
the period then ended, Private Mini is accounted for on the equity method of accounting.

Revenue earning vehicles and buildings — Depreciation is recognized in amounts expected to result in
the recovery of estimated residual values upon disposal (i.e. no gains or losses). In determining the
depreciation rate, historical disposal experience and holding periods, and trends in the market for vehicles are
reviewed. Due to longer holding periods on trucks and the resulting increased possibility of changes in the
economic environment and market conditions, these estimates are subject to a greater degree of risk.

Long-lived assets and intangible assets -— The carrying value is reviewed whenever events or circum-
stances indicate the carrying values may not be recoverable through projected undiscounted future cash flows.
The events could include significant underperformance relative to expected, historical or projected future
operating results, significant changes in the manner of using the assets, overall business strategy, significant
negative industry or economic trends and an unexpected non-compliance with significant debt agreements.

Investments — For investments accounted for under SFAS 115, in determining if and when a decline in
market value below amortized cost is other than temporary, quoted market prices, dealer quotes or discounted
cash flows are reviewed. Other-than-temporary declines in value are recognized in the current period operating
results to the extent of the decline.

Insurance Revenue and Expense Recognition — Premiums are recognized as revenue and earned over
the terms of the respective policies. Benefits and expenses are matched with recognized premiums to result in
revenue and expense recognition over the life of the contracts. This match is accomplished by recording a
provision for future policy benefits and unpaid claims and claim adjustment expenses and by amortizing
deferred policy acquisition costs. Charges related to services to be performed are deferred until earned. The
amounts received in excess of premiums and fees are included in other policyholder funds in the consolidated
balance sheets.

Unearned premiums represent the portion of premiums written which relate to the unexpired term of
policies. Liabilities for health and disability and other policy claims and benefits payable represent estimates of
payments to be made on insurance claims for reported losses and estimates of losses incurred but not yet
reported. These estimates are based on past claims experience and current claim trends as well as social and
economic conditions such as changes in legal theories and inflation. Due to the nature of underlying risks and
the high degree of uncertainty associated with the determination of the liability for future policy benefits and
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claims, the amounts to be ultimately paid to settle liabilities cannot be precisely determined and may vary
significantly from the estimated liability.

Acquisition costs related to insurance contracts have been deferred to accomplish matching against future
premium revenue. The costs are charged to current earnings to the extent it is determined that future
premiums are not adequate to cover amounts deferred. '

U-Haul Insurance Expense — Expense is recognized annually based on reported claims and an estimate
of future claims. A reserve is booked for unpaid losses. U-Haul’s self-insured retention is paid out over time as
claims are settled, relieving the reserve for unpaid losses.

Disclosures about Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

Payments due by Period (as of March 31, 2003)
Prior to 04701704  04/01/06 April 1, 2008

Financial Obligations Total 03/31/04 03/31/06 03/31/08 and Thereafter
(In thousands)

AMERCO’s notes and loans .... $ 954,836 934,856 — — —
AMERCO’s operating leases . ... 552,165 552,165 — — —
SAC Holdings’ notes and loans .. 983,190 79,971 120,067 19,241 763,911
Elimination of SAC Holdings’

obligations to AMERCO .. ... (394,171) —  {23,618) — (370,553)
Total Contractual Obligations ... $2,096,040 1,586,992 96,449 19,241 393,358

On October 15, 2002 AMERCO defaulted on its BBATs and related obligations. This default triggered
cross-default provisions in AMERCOQ’s other debt agreements. As a result, approximately $1,178.1 million of
the Company’s contractual obligations and commercial commitments listed below became immediately due
and payable.  As of March 31, 2003, SAC Holdings has interest bearing debt to outside parties of
$589.0 million, is not in default of any related covenants and is current on all of its payments.

(In millions)

Bank of Montreal synthetic lease. ... ......... . . i, $ 149.0
Citibank synthetic lease ... ... . i i e 1oL.7
3 yr Credit ABreement . ... ... 205.0
Royal Bank of Canada lease. ....... ..ot 5.7
Amerco Real Estate Notes . . ... . it i e e 100.0
03 NS .ttt i ittt et e e e 175.0
00 N OIS oottt 200.0
Medium Term NOES ... ...t e e e 109.5
BB AT o 100.0
Bank of America Obligation (BBAT) .......... ..o, 11.3
Citicorp Obligation (BBAT) ... ... e 15.3
Bank of America Swap .. ... . e 2.1
JP MoOrgan SWap . . ..o e 3.5

$1,178.1

In February 1997, AMERCO, through its insurance subsidiaries, invested in the equity of Private Mini, a
Texas based self-storage operator. During 1997, Private Mini secured a line of credit in the amount of
$225 million with a financial institution, which was subsequently reduced in accordance with its terms to
$125 million in December 2001. Under the terms of this credit facility AMERCO entered into a support party
agreement with Private Mini and the financial institution whereby upon certain defaults or noncompliance
with debt covenants by Private Mini, AMERCO could be required to assume responsibility in fulfilling all
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payment obligations and certain covenant obligations related to this credit facility. Private Mini defaulted on
the credit facility due to AMERCO’s default under the support party agreement, which support party
agreement default was triggered by virtue of cross-defaults to certain other AMERCO obligations. Addition-
ally, Private Mini defaulted under the credit facility by virtue of non-payment of the outstanding balance at
maturity. In December 2002, the financing institution exercised its option to require AMERCO to purchase
all commitments under the credit facility. In March 2003 AMERCO and the financial institution entered into
a standstill agreement with respect to this obligation, which standstill agreement expired by its terms on
April 30, 2003. Since April 30, 2003, the financial institution has not re-issued any default notices to
AMERCO with respect to this obligation or otherwise required AMERCO to purchase all commitments
under the credit facility. AMERCO has not purchased any commitments under the credit facility and, as of
March 31, 2003, AMERCO has recorded a liability for the $55 million remaining balance under the credit
facility with a corresponding increase to its receivable from Private Mini.

In February 2003, an entity affiliated with Private Mini closed on a $255 million financing and
$70 million of these proceeds were used to pay down the $125 million line of credit described above. The
aggregate amount of support provided by AMERCO remains unchanged at $125 million ($55 million referred
to in the previous paragraph to the lenders under the Amended and Restated loan agreement with the 1997
lenders and $70 million under the new $255 million financing). Under the terms of the support party capital
agreement for the $255 million financing, following certain events of default, AMERCO could be required to
assume responsibility for $70 million of the obligations under this financing. AMERCO has recorded a
liability for the $70 million obligation with a corresponding increase to its receivable from Private Mini.

AMERCO uses certain equipment and occupies certain facilities under operating lease commitments
with terms expiring through 2079. In the event of a shortfall in proceeds from the sale of the underlying assets,
AMERCO has guaranteed approximately $192.0 million of residual values at March 31, 2003, for these assets
at the end of the respective lease terms.

Results of Operations
U-HAUL Moving and Storage Operations

Rental revenue was $1,433.4 million, $1,425.7 million and $1,364.5 million in fiscal years 2003, 2002 and
2001, respectively. Rental revenues increased from 2003 compared to fiscal 2002, due to price and productivity
gains. The increase from fiscal year 2001 to fiscal year 2002 is due to an increase in one-way transactions with
an improved average dollar per transaction on one-way rentals as well as growth in transactions in trailer
rentals and support rental items. Storage revenue decreased all of the years due to the sale of properties to
SAC Holdings.

Net sales revenues were $174.1 million, $198.3 million and $194.3 million in fiscal years 2003, 2002 and
2001, respectively. Revenue declines in the sale of hitches, moving support items (i.e. boxes, etc.) and propane
for 2003 from 2002 was largely due to the sale of centers to SAC.

Interest income, before consolidating entries, was $29.4 million, $22.7 million and $24.3 million in fiscal
years 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The increase during fiscal year 2003 can be attributed to an increase
in the average investment balance of SAC notes. The decrease in fiscal year 2002 is mainly related to a
decrease in average investment balance in SAC notes.

Operating expenses, before intercompany eliminations, were $992.2 million, $1,041.4 million and
$1,021.6 million in fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The decrease in operating expenses for fiscal
year 2003-was due to the incorporation of cost reduction programs and the sale of centers to SAC. The
increase in fiscal year 2002 is due to increased personnel costs and higher repair expense. Also, the addition of
storage rooms will initially cause an increase in operating expenses without corresponding increases in earnings
until the properties reach a stabilized level of occupancy.

Commission expense was $164.5 million, $153.5 million and $143.6 million for fiscal years 2003, 2002
and 2001 respectively. The increase in commissions paid was due to the overall increase in rental revenues
generated by independent dealers (including SAC).
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Cost of sales was $93.7 million, $110.4 million and $116.6 million in fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001,
respectively. The decrease in fiscal year 2003 was due to lower sales volume, better sourcing and the sales of
certain locations to SAC during the last quarter of fiscal year 2002. The decrease in fiscal year 2002 is due to
lower sales volume and lower costs of propane and other materials.

Benefits .and losses were $37.6 million, $47.0 million and $40.5 million for fiscal years 2003, 2002 and
2001 respectively. This expense represents an adjustment in the reserve for insurance claims on U-Haul’s
financial statements. This was partially due to U-Haul’s “Self-Insurance Retention Level” increasing to 95%
for 2001 and 2002 and 100% in 2003. The Self-Insurance Retention is currently $2.0 million per event. This is
a non-cash expense until claims are paid.

Lease expense before intercompany elimination was $165.0 million, $171.7 million and $167.3 million in
fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The decrease in lease expense for fiscal year 2003 was due to a
decline in rental trucks under lease. The increase in fiscal year 2002 is due to an increase in the value of
properties leased that was partially offset by a decrease in rental equipment lease expense.

Depreciation expense, net was $112.8 million, $92.4 million and $87.5 million in fiscal years 2003, 2002
and 2001, respectively. The increase in depreciation expense, net, for fiscal year 2003 was caused by an
increase in the number of trucks owned. The increase in fiscal years 2002 reflects an overall increase in
depreciation expense on the rental truck fleet offset in fiscal year 2002 by gains on the sale of surplus assets. A
change in estimated salvage value and increase in our estimate of the useful lives of certain of our trucks
further reduced depreciation expense for fiscal year 2002. An internal analysis of sales of trucks was completed
for the fiscal vears ending March 31, 1996 through March 31, 2001. The study compared the truck model,
size, age and average residual value of units sold for each fiscal year indicated. The analysis revealed that
average residual values (as computed) when compared to sales prices were not reflective of the values that the
Company was'receiving upon disposition. Based on the analysis, the estimated residual values were decreased
to approximately 25% of historic cost. In addition, this analysis revealed that our estimates of useful lives were
not reflective of the economic lives of our trucks, which ultimately were being utilized by the Company for
longer periods of time. Thus the useful lives of certain of our trucks were increased by approximately 3 years.
The net effect of these changes was to decrease net losses for the fiscal year 2002 by $3.1 million or $0.15 per
share.

Earnings from operations, before intercompany eliminations, were $71.0 million, $30.4 million and
$6.0 million infiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The increase in earnings from operations in fiscal
year 2003 was due to a reduction in all expense categories except depreciation. Tighter cost controls and the
reduction in expenses due to the sale to SAC were the largest contributors. The increase in fiscal year 2002 is
due to the increase in rental revenues offset by increases in operating expenses.

Interest expense before intercompany eliminations was $10.0 million, $11.7 million and $17.1 million in
fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The decrease in fiscal years 2003 and 2002 can be attributed to
lower average debt balance and interest rate reductions.

Pretax earnings (loss) before intercompany eliminations were $61.0 million, $18.7 million and
$(11.1) million for the fiscal years 2003, 2002, and 2001, respectively.

SAC Moving and Storage Opevations
Rental revenue was $168.0 million, $112.7 million and $92.5 million in fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001,
respectively. Increased facility capacity through the acquisition of new locations and increased storage rates
accounted for the increase. The occupancy of existing storage locations has remained stable.

Net sales revenues were $48.8 million, $24.4 million and $17.9 million in fiscal years 2003, 2002 and
2001, respectively. Revenue growth was due to the addition of new locations.

Operating expenses, before intercompany eliminations, were $105.3 million, $68.2 million and $49.2 mil-
lion in fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Personnel expenses, liability insurance, property taxes
and utility expenses all increased proportionately in relation to the increased revenues from the acquisition of
new locations.
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Cost of sales was $21.4 million, $12.2 million and $9.9 million in fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001,
respectively. Higher sales volume related to moving support items contributed to the increases in both fiscal
years 2003 and 2002 along with the addition of new locations.

Depreciation expense, net was $21.4 million, $15.1 million and $12.4 million in fiscal years 2003, 2002
and 2001, respectively. The increase is attributed to the acquisition of new locations.

Earnings from operations were $68.8 million, $41.7 million and $38.9 million in fiscal years 2003, 2002
and 2001, respectively. The increase is due to the addition of locations.

Interest expense before intercompany elimination was $81.2 million, $61.1 million and $53.5 million in
fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The average debt level outstanding continued to increase due to
the acquisition of storage properties in fiscal year 2002 compared to fiscal year 2001.

Pretax losses before intercompany eliminations were $12.4 million, $19.4 million, and $14.6 million for
the fiscal years 2003, 2002, and 2001, respectively.

Real Estate Operations

Rental revenue, before intercompany eliminations, were $59.2 million, $68.2 million and $72.0 million in
fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Intercompany rental revenue was $56.2 million. $64.3 million
and $71.1 million in fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The decrease in fiscal years 2003 and 2002
is related to the sale of properties to SAC Holdings.

Net investment and interest income was $10.7 million, $8.3 million and $11.0 million in fiscal years 2003,
2002 and 2001, respectively. The increase in fiscal 2003 is related to increased investments in mortgage notes.
The decline in 2002 was due to a reduction in mortgage notes.

Operating (income) expenses, before intercompany eliminations, were $(5.5) million, $(4.4) million and
$0.5 million in fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Lease expense before intercompany eliminations, for real estate operations was $14.2 million, $11.2 mil-
lion and $11.6 million for the fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The increase in fiscal year 2003
was due to more properties under lease and the default lease rates on three multi-property leases. The lease
expense in fiscal year 2002 was virtually unchanged over the fiscal year 2001.

Depreciation expense, net, was $5.2 million, $(2.0) million and $5.3 million in fiscal years 2003, 2002 and
2001, respectively. The increase in depreciation expense in 2003 was due to no gains from the disposition of
surplus real estate. The decrease in fiscal years 2002 reflects an increase in gains from the disposition of
property, plant and equipment.

Earnings from operations, before intercompany eliminations, were $56.0 million, $71.9 million and
$65.7 million in fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The decline in earnings from operations in fiscal
year 2003 was due to a reduction in rental revenues and an increase in lease expense. The increase in fiscal
year 2002 is mainly related to lower operating costs and expenses, and gains recorded on sales of surplus
properties.

Interest expense was $23.7 million, $34.3 million and $44.3 million for fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001,
respectively. Declining intercompany loan balances and declining rates led to the overall decline in interest
expense for fiscal years 2003 and 2002.

Pretax earnings before intercompany eliminations were $32.4 million, $37.6 million and $21.5 million for
the fiscal years ended March 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001, respectively.
Property and Casualty

Premium revenues, before intercompany eliminations, were $152.6 million, $262.0 million and
$226.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. General agency premiums
were $66.0 million, $107.4 million and $64.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000,
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respectively. The decrease in 2002 from 2001 is due to the run-off of RepWest’s Non-Standard Auto business
which was cancelled in 2001, as well as increased quota share reinsurance on the trucking program. The
increase in 2001 from 2000 was due to trucking, commercial lines business, and the non-standard auto
program, which was cancelled in 2001. Assumed treaty reinsurance premiums were $34.9 million, $73.0 mil-
lion and $83.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The decrease in
2002 from 2001 is due to the non-renewal and cancellation of the assumed treaty business. Rental industry
revenues were $32.6 million, $47.5 million and $51.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and
2000, respectively. The decrease in 2002 from 2001 was due to a change in policy structure on U-Haul
business effective April 1, 2002. Under the new policy U-Haul is now responsible for losses from $0 —
$2,000,000 per occurrence. The increase from 2000 was the result of an increase in premiums of a
retrospectively rated policy on the U-Haul industry liability policy.

Net investment income was $22.3 million, $20.7 million and $25.5 million for the years ended
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The increase in 2002 from 2001 is due to increased earnings
on real estate offset by a decrease in income on fixed maturities due to lower average invested assets. The
decrease in 2001 from 2000 is due to lower invested asset balances, lower interest rates, as well as the write
down of $4.1 million of fixed maturity investments during 2001.

Operating expenses, before intercompany eliminations, were $37.0 million, $77.2 million and $56.5 mil-
lion for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The decrease in 2002 from 2001 is
due to decreased commission expense on decreased premium writings. The increase in 2001 from 2000 is due
to a change in estimate on an aggregate stop loss treaty in which RepWest had originally recorded the treaty as
if it would be commuted. Estimates in 2001 have changed and the treaty was not commuted. The original
amount was a reduction to commissions of $17.7 million of which RepWest had to recognize as additional
commission expense in 2001. Commission expenses were $13.9 million, $51.2 million and $33.1 million for the
years ended December 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Lease expenses were $1.1 million, $1.7 million and
$2.1 million for the years ended December 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. All other underwriting expenses
were $22.0 million, $24.3 million and $21.3 million for the years ended December 2002, 2001 and 2000,
respectively.

Benefits and losses incurred were $128.7 million, $255.8 million and $211.3 million for the years ended
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The decrease in 2002 from 2001 is due to decreased earned
premiums in all segments of RepWest’s business. The increase in 2001 to 2000 was due to increased earned
premium in three general agency programs and reserve strengthening in the assumed reinsurance treaty
segment.

Amortization of deferred acquisition costs was $17.3 million, $22.1 million and $16.6 million for the years
ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The decrease in 2002 from 2001 is due to RepWest’s
decreased premium writings. The increase in 2001 from 2000 is due to the amortization of higher commissions
deferred in the 2000 year.

Pretax losses from operations were $8.0 million, $72.4 million and $32.9 million for the years ended
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The decrease in losses in 2002 from 2001 is due to RepWest
exiting multiple unprofitable lines of business as well as reduced expenses. The increase in losses in 2001 from
2000 was due to the increase in earned premium from unprofitable lines, increased commissions due to the
commutation write-off, reserve strengthening, and development in older years on the assumed treaty
reinsurance business.

Life Insurance

Premium revenues, before intercompany eliminations, were $161.4 million, $159.4 million and
$112.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Oxford increased
Medicare supplement premiums through direct writings and the acquisition of Christian Fidelity Life
Insurance Company (“CFLIC”); these actions increased premiums by $6.3 million from 2001 and
$54.5 million from 2000. Premiums from Oxford’s life insurance lines increased $2.5 million from 2001 and
$3.7 million from 2000. Credit life and disability premiums decreased $2.9 million from 2001 and $6.6 million
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from 2000 due to account cancellations in specific states and decreased penetration. Annuitizations decreased
by $0.7 million from 2001 and $2.6 million from 2000. Other health insurance premiums decreased
$3.2 million from 2001 and decreased $0.2 million from 2000 due to termination of major medical programs.

Net investment income before intercompany eliminations was $13.9 million, $23.2 million, and
$19.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000. The change in 2002 from 2001 is due to
lower interest rates, larger short-term balances and write-downs for other than temporary declines in the
investment portfolio. The increase between 2001 and 2000 is primarily due to write-downs for other than
temporary declines in the investment portfolio in 2000.

Operating expenses were $40.5 million, $37.5 million and $29.4 million for the years ended December 31,
2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Commissions have increased $1.0 million from 2001 and $4.9 million from
2000, primarily due to the increases in Medicare supplement premiums. General and administrative expenses
net of fees collected increased $2.1 million from 2001 and $6.3 million from 2000. The acquisition of CFLIC
resulted in $3.3 million of the increase from 2000.

Benefits incurred were $115.6 million, $120.9 million and $79.2 million for the years ended December 31,
2002, 2001 and 2000. Medicare supplement benefits decreased $1.8 million from 2001 primarily due to
decreased exposure and improved experience, and increased $36.8 million from 2000 due to the acquisition of
CFLIC. Credit insurance benefits decreased $1.7 million from 2001 and $1.2 million from 2000 due to
decreased exposure. Benefits from other health lines decreased $4.1 million from 2001 and $.5 million from
2000 due to the termination of major medical programs. Annuity and life benefits increased $2.3 million from
2001 and $1.3 million from 2000 due to increases in life insurance exposure.

Amortization of deferred acquisition costs (DAC) and the value of business acquired (VOBA) was
$20.5 million, $18.6 million and $19.6 million for 2002, 2001 and 2000. These costs are amortized for life and
health policies as the premium is earned over the term of the policy; and for deferred annuities, amortized in
relation to interest spreads. Amortization increased $1.9 million and $0.9 million from 2001 and 2000 due to
the annuity and credit segments.

Pretax earnings (losses) before intercompany eliminations were $(1.4) million, $5.6 million and
$3.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The decrease from 2001 is
primarily due to other than temporary declines in the investment portfolio and poor experience in the credit
insurance lines. The increase from 2000 is due to realized gains in the investment portfolio.

Consolidated Group Earnings

As a result of the foregoing, pretax losses were $38.9 million, $67.3 million and $64.7 million in fiscal
years 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. After providing for income taxes, losses were $25.0 million,
$47.4 million and $42.1 million in fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001 respectively. On a combined basis SAC
Holdings and RepWest accounted for $14.1 million, $62.7 million and $32.4 million of the total losses for
fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001 respectively.

Going Concern

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming the Company will
continue as a going concern, which contemplates the continuity of the Company’s operations and realization of
its assets and payments of its liabilities in the ordinary course of business. As more fully described in Note 1 to
the consolidated financial statements, on June 20, 2003, AMERCO, the parent corporation, filed a voluntary
petition for reorganization under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code. Amerco Real Estate
Company filed a voluntary petition for relief under Chapter 11 on August 13, 2003. The uncertainties inherent
in the bankruptcy process raise substantial doubt about AMERCO’s ability to continue as a going concern.
AMERCO is currently operating its business as a debtor-in-possession under the jurisdiction of the
bankruptcy court, and continuation of the Company as a going concern is contingent upon, among other
things, the confirmation of a plan of reorganization, the Company’s ability to comply with all debt covenants
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under the existing debtor-in-possession financing arrangement, and obtaining financing sources to meet its
future obligations. If a reorganization plan is not approved, it is possible some assets of the Company may be
liquidated. Management’s plans in regards to these matters are also described in Note 1. The consolidated
financial statements do not include any adjustments to reflect future effects on the recoverability and
classification: of assets or the amount and classification of liabilities that might result from the outcome of
these uncertainties.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The matters described in “Liquidity and Capital Resources” to the extent that they relate to future events
or expectations, may be significantly affected by the Chapter 11 case. That proceeding will involve, or may
result in, various restrictions on the Company’s activities, limitations on financing, the need to obtain
Bankruptcy Court approval for various matters and uncertainty as to relationships with vendors, suppliers,
customers and others with whom the Company may conduct or seek to conduct business.

Generally, under the Bankruptcy Code, most of a debtor’s liabilities must be satisfied in full in order to
preserve the value of the debtor’s preferred and common stock. The rights and claims of the Company’s
various creditors and security holders will be determined by the plan of reorganization to be filed by
AMERCO. Although AMERCO expects to file and consummate a “full value” plan of reorganization that
provides creditors with a combination of cash and new debt securities equal to the full amount of their allowed
claims and also preserves the value of AMERCQO’s common and preferred stock, no assurance can be given as
to what values, if any, will be ascribed in the bankruptcy proceedings to each of these constituencies.

The Company’s total of cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments was $66.8 million at
March 31, 2003, compared to $41.4 million at March 31, 2002.

To meet the needs of its customers, U-Haul must maintain a large inventory of fixed asset rental items. In
fiscal year 2003, capital expenditures were $182.4 million, as compared to $248.7 million and $411.9 million in
fiscal years 2002 and 2001, respectively. These expenditures primarily reflect the renewal of the rental truck
fleet. The capital required to fund these expenditures was obtained through internally generated funds from
operations and lease financings.

During each of the fiscal years ending March 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, U-Haul estimates gross capital
expenditures will average approximately $150 million to maintain the rental fleet at current levels. This level of
capital expenditures, combined with a potential level of debt amortization of approximately $100 million, are
expected to create average annual funding needs of approximately $250 million. Management estimates that
U-Haul will fund these requirements entirely with internally generated funds and proceeds from the sale of
trucks and surplus assets. The level of capital expenditures will be dependent upon the amount of internally
generated funds and proceeds from the sale of assets.

DIP Facility

Reference is made to Note 1 (Going Concern Basis) to the Consolidated Financial Statements regarding
the DIP facility. The DIP Facility consists of a $300 million credit facility with an interest rate option of
LIBOR plus 3.5% or the prime rate plus 1.0%. The DIP Facility will mature on the earlier of (i) 12 months
following the Bankruptcy Court’s order approving the facility; (ii) ten days following the date of entry of an
order confirming AMERCO’s plan of reorganization; and (iii) the conversion of the Chapter 11 case to a case
under Chapter 7. In order to facilitate a drawing on the DIP Facility, Real Estate filed for Chapter 11. This
filing was needed to facilitate granting security to the lending group in the real estate assets owned by Real
Estate. The DIP Facility was approved on an interim basis by the Bankruptcy Court on August 14, 2003.

The terms of the DIP Facility include covenants that require AMERCO to maintain agreed upon
minimum levels of EBITDA, EBITDAR and fixed charge coverage ratios. The DIP Facility also contains a
limitation on capital expenditures. All such financial covenants will be tested quarterly. Other customary
covenants (both positive and negative) are included in the DIP Facility.
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Credit Agreements

Reference is made to Note 1 (Going Concern Basis) to the Consolidated Financial Statements regarding
defaults of our credit and financing arrangements.

AMERCO’s operations were previously funded by various credit and financing arrangements, including
unsecured long-term borrowings, unsecured medium-term notes and revolving lines of credit with domestic
and foreign banks. To finance its fleet of trucks and trailers, U-Haul routinely enters into sale and leaseback
transactions. As of March 31, 2003, AMERCO had $954.9 million in total notes and loans outstanding.

Certain of AMERCO’s credit agreements contained restrictive financial and other covenants, including,
among others, covenants with respect to incurring additional indebtedness, making third party guarantees,
entering into contingent obligations, maintaining certain financial ratios and placing certain additional liens on
its properties and assets and restricting the issuance of certain types of preferred stock AMERCO’s various
credit and financing arrangements are affected by its credit ratings. When AMERCO experienced the credit
downgrade, certain interest rates that were being charged were increased.

On October 15, 2002, AMERCO failed to make a $100 million principal payment due to the
Series 1997-C Bond Backed Asset Trust. On that date, AMERCO also failed to pay a $26.5 million obligation
to Citibank and Bank of America in connection with the BBATs. As a result of the foregoing, AMERCOQO is in
default with respect to its other credit arrangements that contain cross-default provisions, including its
Revolver in the amount of $205 million. In addition to the cross-default under the Revolver, AMERCO is also
in default under that agreement as a result of its failure to obtain incremental net cash proceeds and/or
availability from additional financings in the aggregate amount of at least $150 million prior to October 15,
2002. In addition, Amerco Real Estate Company has defaulted on a $100 million loan by failing to grant
mortgages required by the loan agreement in a timely manner. The obligations of AMERCO currently in
default (either directly or as a result of a cross-default) are approximately $1,178.1 million.

Support Agreements

In February 1997, AMERCO, through its insurance subsidiaries, invested in the equity of Private Mini.
During 1997, Private Mini secured a line of credit in the amount of $225 million with a financial institution,
which was subsequently reduced in accordance with its terms to $125 million in December 2001. Under the
terms of this credit facility AMERCO entered into a support party agreement with Private Mini and the
financial institution whereby upon certain defaults or noncompliance with debt covenants by Private Mini,
AMERCO could be required to assume responsibility in fulfilling all payment obligations and certain covenant
obligations related to this credit facility. Private Mini defaulted on the credit facility due to AMERCO’s
default under the support party agreement, which support party agreement default was triggered by virtue of
cross-defaults to certain other AMERCO obligations. Additionally, Private Mini defaulted under the credit
facility by virtue of non-payment of the outstanding balance at maturity. In December 2002, the financing
institution exercised its option to require AMERCO to purchase all commitments under the credit facility. In
March 2003 AMERCO and thé financial institution entered into a standstill agreement with respect to this
obligation, which standstill agreement expired by its terms on April 30, 2003. Since April 30, 2003, the
financial institution has not re-issued any default notices to AMERCOQO with respect to this obligation or
otherwise required AMERCO to purchase all commitments under the credit facility. AMERCO has not
purchased any commitments under the credit facility and, as of March 31, 2003, AMERCO has recorded a
liability for the $55 million remaining balance under the credit facility with a corresponding increase to its
receivable from Private Mini. : '

In February 2003, an entity affiliated with Private Mini closed on a $255 million financing and
$70 million of these proceeds were used to pay down the $125 million line of credit described above. The
aggregate amount of support provided by AMERCO remains unchanged at $125 million ($55 million to the
lenders under the Amended and Restated loan agreement with the 1997 lenders and $70 million under the
new $255 million financing). Under the terms of the support party agreement for the $255 million financing,
following certain events of default, AMERCO would assume responsibility for $70 million of the obligations
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under this financing. AMERCO has recorded a liability for the $70 million obligation with a corresponding
increase to its receivable from Private Mini.

SAC Holdings

SAC Holdings intends to meet its current debt obligations through cash flows generated from its
operating activities. SAC Holdings intends to continue to purchase storage properties during the next year
using financing arrangements.

Reference is made to Note 5 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

U-HAUL Moving and Storage Operations

At March 31, 2003, U-HAUL Moving and Storage notes and loans payable due in less than one year
total $31.7 million and its accounts payable and accrued expenses total $283.6 million. U-HAUL Moving and
Storage financial assets (cash, receivables, inventories, and short term investments) at March 31, 2003 were
$117.6 million. These assets, if converted to cash, are available to meet the financial obligations of AMERCO.

SAC Moving and Storage Operations

At March 31, 2003, SAC Holdings notes and loans payable due in less than one year total $80.0 million
and its accounts payable and accrued expenses total $48.0 million. SAC Holdings financial assets (cash,
receivables, inventories, and short term investments) at March 31, 2003 were $8.7 million. Because
AMERCO does not have any equity ownership in SAC Holdings (other than investments made by RepWest
and Oxford in a SAC Holdings-controlled limited partnership which holds Canadian self-storage properties),
these assets are not available to meet the obligations of AMERCO.

Real Estate Operations

At March 31, 2003, Real Estate had $100.0 million of notes and loans payable due in less than one year
and its accounts payable and accrued expenses total $7.7 million. Real Estate financial assets (cash,
receivables, inventories, and short term investments) at March 31, 2003 were $18.9 million. These assets, if
converted to cash, are available to meet the obligations of AMERCO to the extent such cash exceeds current
obligations of Real Estate.

Property and Casualty

At December 31, 2002, Property and Casualty had no notes and loans due in less than one year and its
accounts payable and accrued expenses were $20.2 million. Property and Casualty financial assets (cash,
receivables, inventories, and short term investments) at December 31, 2002 were $361.4 million. Because of
state insurance regulations that restrict the amount of dividends that can be paid to stockholders of insurance
companies, these assets are generally not available to meet the obligations of AMERCO. Reference is made to
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Insurance
Operations.”

Life Insurance

At December 31, 2002, Life Insurance had no notes and loans payable due in less than one year and its
accounts payable and accrued expenses total $10.7 million. Life Insurance financial assets (cash, receivables,
inventories, and short term investments) at December 31, 2002 were $870.2 million. Because of state
insurance regulations that restrict the amount of dividends that can be paid to stockholders of insurance
companies, these assets are generally not available to meet the obligations of AMERCO. Reference is made to
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Insurance
Operations.”
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Consolidated group

At March 31, 2003, total outstanding notes and mortgages payable for AMERCO and consolidated
subsidiaries was $954.9 million compared to $1,045.8 million at March 31, 2002.

At March 31, 2003, total outstanding notes and mortgages payable for SAC Holdings and consolidated
subsidiaries, before intercompany eliminations were $983.2 million as compared to $961.5 million at
March 31, 2002, including amounts due to AMERCO of $394.2 million and $399.6 million at March 31, 2003
and 2002. SAC Holdings’ creditors have no recourse to AMERCO. AMERCO is not liable for the debts of
SAC Holdings. Further, there are no cross default provisions on indebtedness between AMERCO and SAC
Holdings.

Due to the defaults and various cross defaults, the consolidated group have notes, loans and lease
obligations due and payable of $1.2 billion. The group also had accounts payable and accrued expenses of
$411.9 million. Liquid assets for the group totaled $511.2 million. AMERCO is in the process of refinancing
and restructuring its debt to meet its liquidity needs.

Cash Provided by Operating Activities
U-HAUL Moving and Storage Operations

Cash provided by operating activities was $83.5 million, $96.2 million and $106.9 million in fiscal years
2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The decrease in 2003 was due to a decline in intercompany payables that
was partially offset by an increase in depreciation of rental equipment. The decrease in fiscal year 2002 from
2001 is due to an increase in earnings and offset by an increase in other investments.

SAC Moving and Storage Operations

Cash provided (used) by operating activities was $13.5 million, ($1.3) million and $15.1 miilion in fiscal
years 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

~ At March 31, 2003, total outstanding notes and mortgages payable before intercompany eliminations of
$394.2 million were $983.2 million compared to $961.5 million at March 31, 2002.

Real Estate Operations

Cash provided (used) by operating activities was $(87.1) million, $(144.1) million and $68.7 million in
fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The decrease in fiscal years 2003 and 2002 was due to a
decrease in the intercompany payable with AMERCO.

Property And Casualty

Cash provided (used) by operating activities was $(75.1) million, $(61.5) million and $15.2 million for
the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The change in 2002 from 2001 is due to
increased receivables. The change in 2001 from 2000 change is due to decreased unearned premiums,
increased receivables, and an increase in federal income tax recoverable.

RepWest’s cash and cash equivalents and short-term investment portfolio were $35.1 million, $18.3 mil-
lion and $17.0 million at December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. This balance reflects funds in
transition from maturity proceeds to long-term investments. This level of liquid assets, combined with
anticipated operating cash flow, is adequate to meet periodic needs. Capital and operating budgets allow
RepWest to schedule cash needs in accordance with investment and underwriting proceeds.

During fiscal 2002, RepWest realized a write-down of investments due to other than temporary declines
approximating $1.8 million.
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Life Insurance

Oxford’s primary sources of cash are premiums, receipts from interest-sensitive products and investment
income. The primary uses of cash are operating costs and benefit payments to policyholders. Matching the
investment portfolio to the cash flow demands of the types of insurance being written is an important
consideration. Benefit and claim statistics are continually monitored to provide projections of future cash
requirements.

Cash provided (used) by operating activities was ${18.0) million, $(5.2) million and $3.5 million for the
years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The decrease in cash flows from operating
activities in 2001 and 2000 relates to federal income taxes paid, general and administrative expenses and paid
loss experience. Cash flows provided by financing activities were $67.3 million, $58.1 million and $13.7 million
for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Cash flows from deferred annuity sales
increase investment contract deposits, which ar¢ a component of financing activities. The increase in
investment contract deposits over 2001 and 2000 is due to growth in new deposits offset by withdrawals and
terminations of existing deposits.

In addition to cash flows from operating and financing activities, a substantial amount of liquid funds is
available through Oxford’s short-term portfolio. At December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, short-term invest-
ments amounted to $80.4 million, $53.5 million and $44.9 million, respectively. Management believes that the
overall sources of liquidity will continue to meet foreseeable cash needs.

During fiscal 2002, Oxford realized a write-down of investments due to other than temporary declines
approximating:$2.3 million. During fiscal 2003, Oxford realized a write-down of investments due to other than
temporary declines of approximately $7.9 million.

Consolidated Group

Cash provided (used) by operating activities were $74.5 million, ($19.6) million and $172.6 million for
fiscal year 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Stockholders’ [Equity
U-Haul’s Moving and Storage Operations

U-Haul’s stockholders’ equity was $499.4 million, $458.6 million and $449.6 miltion as of March 31,
2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Earnings or losses from operating activities was the cause for the change in
each of the years.

SAC Moving and Storage Operations

SAC Holdings’ stockholders’ deficit was $45.1 million, $37.7 million and $23.5 million as of March 31,
2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively

AMERCO’S Real Estate Operations

Real Esta_fe stockholders’ equity was $215.0 million, $196.4 million and $88.4 million as of March 31,
2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The increase in fiscal year 2003 and 2002 is due to increased earnings and
the sale of storage properties during fiscal year 2002.

Property and Casualty

RepWest’s stockholder’s equity was $199.1 million, $205.3 million and $186.7 million at December 31,
2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The decrease in 2002 from 2001 is due to the operating losses in 2002. The
increase in 2001 from'2000 was due to a $60.2 million capital contribution from the RepWest’s parent
AMERCO, offset by operating losses in 2001. RepWest does not use debt or equity issues to increase capital
and therefore has no exposure to capital market conditions. RepWest did not pay dividends to its parent during
2002, 2001 or 2000.
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Applicable laws and regulations of the State of Arizona require RepWest and Oxford to maintain
minimum capital and surplus determined in accordance with statutory accounting practices. The amount of
dividends that can be paid to shareholders by insurance companies domiciled in the State of Arizona is
limited. Any dividend in excess of the limit requires prior regulatory approval. At December 31, 2002,
RepWest has $6.5 million of statutory surplus available for distribution. However, as discussed in Item 1,
subsequent to December 31, 2002, RepWest consented to an Order of Supervision which, among other things,
prohibits any dividend payments to AMERCO without prior approval of the DOI.

Life Insurance

Oxford’s stockholder’s equity was $111.1 million, $117.7 million and $90.9 million as of December 31,
2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The decrease from 2001 to 2002 is from investment losses, the increase
from 2000 to 2001 is a result of earnings, changes in market value of the available for sale investment portfolio
and a $15.4 million contribution from AMERCO. Oxford did not pay dividends in 2002, 2001 or 2000. At
December 31, 2002, Oxford cannot distribute any of its statutory surplus as dividends without regulatory
approval.

Consolidated group

The Consolidated group’s stockholder equity was $333.0 million, $381.5 million and $446.4 million as of
the end of fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Quarterly Results

The quarterly results shown below are derived from unaudited financial statements for the eight quarters
beginning April 1, 2001 and ending March 31, 2003. The Company has restated the quarterly information to
reflect the adjustments identified with the reaudit and current year audit of the consolidated financial
statements. The Company believes that all necessary adjustments have been included in the amounts stated
below to present fairly, and in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. U-Haul moving and
storage operations are seasonal and proportionally more of the Company’s revenues and net earnings from its
U-Haul moving and storage operations are generated in the first and second quarters of each fiscal year (April
through September). The operating results for the periods presented are not necessarily indicative of results
for any future period.

Quarter Ended

Dec 31, Sep 30, Jun 30,
Mar 31, 2002 2002 2002
2003 Restated Restated Restated
(In thousands, except for share and per share data)
Total revenues . ....... ... ... . . .. $ 448,997 467,223 636,874 579,294
Earnings/ (loss) from operations ............... (10,534) (6,722) 62,869 63,597
Net earnings (loss) ...... ..o, (25,110) (45,783) 22,128 23,779
Weighted average common shares outstanding
basic and diluted ............ ... ... ... . ..., 20,837,164 20,762,722 20,779,543 20,592,858
Earnings (loss) from operations per common
share(1) ... (0.51) (0.32) 3.02 3.09
Earnings (loss) per common Share basic and
diluted ........ ... .. (1.36) (2.37) 0.91 1.00
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Quarter Ended

Mar 31, Dec 31, Sep 30, . Jun 30,
2002 2001 2001 2001
Restated Restated Restated Restated
{In thousands, except for share and per share data)
Total revenues ............c.ouiirinnin.. $ 461,881 480,630 655,150 595,917
Earnings from operations ..................... (19,879) (31,657) 61,510 32,161
Net earnings (10S8) .......ccvvviiiinnenn.. (39,410) (36,061) 20,757 (7,274)
Weighted average common shares outstanding
basic and diluted .......... .. .. ... ... 21,022,712 20,892,342 21,106,343 21,280,361
Earnings (loss) from operations per common
share(1) ... ..o (0.95) (1.52) 2.91 1.52
Earnings (loss) per common share basic and
diluted . ....... .. (2.05) (1.88) .83 0.19

(1) Net earnings (loss) per common share amounts were computed after giving effect to the dividends on
AMERCO’s Preferred Stock.

Risk Factors
AMERCO has filed for protection under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code.

On June 20, 2003, AMERCO filed a voluntary petition for relief under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy
Code. AMERCOQ’s subsidiaries were not included in the initial filing. However, on August 13, 2003, Amerco
Real Estate Company filed for protection under Chapter 11. AMERCO will continue to manage its properties
and operate its businesses as ‘“debtor-in-possession in” under the jurisdiction of the Bankruptcy Court and in
accordance with the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code. In order to exit Chapter 11 successfully,
AMERCO will need to propose, and obtain confirmation by the Bankruptcy Court of, a plan of reorganization
that satisfies the requirements of the Bankruptcy Code. Although AMERCO expects to file a “full-value”
plan of reorganization that provides creditors with a combination of cash and new debt securities equal to the
full amount of their allowed claims as well as AMERCO’s emergence from bankruptcy as a going concern,
there can be no assurance at this time that a plan of reorganization will be confirmed by the Bankruptcy Court
or that any such plan will be implemented successfully.

The U.S. Trustee has appointed a Creditors’ Committee and an Equity Committee. The Creditors’
Committee, Equity Committee and their respective legal representatives have a right to be heard on certain
matters that come before the Bankruptcy Court. There can be no assurance that the Creditors’ Committee
and Equity Committee will support AMERCO’s positions or AMERCOQ’s ultimate plan of reorganization,
once proposed, and disagreements between AMERCO and the Creditors’ Commiittee and Equity Committee
could protract .the Chapter 11 case, could negatively impact AMERCO’s ability to operate during the
Chapter 11 case, and could prevent AMERCO’s emergence from Chapter 11.

At this time, it is not possible to predict accurately the effect of the Chapter 11 reorganization process on
the Company’s. business or when AMERCO may emerge from Chapter 11. The Company’s future results
depend on the timely and successful confirmation and implementation of a plan of reorganization. The rights
and claims of various creditors and security holders will be determined by the plan as well. Although
AMERCO expects to file and consummate a “full value” plan of reorganization that provides creditors with a
combination of cash and new debt securities equal to the full amount of their allowed claims and also
preserves the value of AMERCO’s common and preferred stock, no assurance can be given as to what values,
if any, will be ascribed in the bankruptcy proceedings to each of these constituencies. Accordingly, the
Company urges: that appropriate caution be exercised with respect to existing and future investments in any of
such securities and claims.
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We operate in a highly competitive industry.

The truck rental industry is highly competitive and includes a number of significant national and
hundreds of regional and local competitors. Competition is generally based on price, product quality,
convenience, availability, brand name recognition and service. In our truck rental business, we face
competition from Budget Car and Truck Rental Company and Penske Truck Leasing. Some of our
competitors may have greater financial resources than we have. We cannot assure you that we will not be
forced to reduce our rental prices or delay price increases.

We compete with national and regional self-storage operators as well as local operators. Competition in
the market areas in which we operate is significant and affects the occupancy levels, rental rates and operating
expenses of our facilities. Competition might cause us to experience a decrease in occupancy levels, limit our
ability to increase rental rates and compel us to offer discounted rental rates which could have a material
adverse effect on our operating results.

Entry into the self-storage business through acquisition of existing facilities is possible for persons or
institutions with the required initial capital. Development of new self-storage facilities is more difficult,
however, due to zoning, environmental and other regulatory requirements. The self-storage industry has in the
past experienced overbuilding in response to perceived increases in demand. We cannot assure you that we will
be able to successfully compete in existing markets or expand into new markets.

Control of AMERCO remains in the hands of a small contingent.

As of June 30, 2003, Edward J. Shoen, Chairman of the Board of Directors and President of AMERCO,
James P. Shoen, a director of AMERCO, and Mark V. Shoen, an executive officer of AMERCO, collectively
own 8,893,078 shares (approximately 43.1%) of the outstanding common shares of AMERCO. Accordingly,
Edward J. Shoen, Mark V. Shoen and James P. Shoen will be in a position to continue to influence the
election of the members of the Board of Directors and approval of significant transactions. In addition,
2,402,456 shares (approximately 11.7%) of the outstanding common shares of AMERCO, including shares
allocated to employees and unallocated shares, are held by our Employee Savings and Employee Stock
Ownership Trust.

Our operations subject us to numerous environmental regulations and the possibility that environmental
liability in the future could adversely affect our operations.

Compliance with environmental requirements of federal, State and local governments significantly affects
our business. Among other things, these requirements regulate the discharge of materials into the water, air
and land and govern the use and disposal of hazardous substances. Under environmental laws, we can be held
strictly liable for hazardous substances that are found on real property we have owned or operated. We are
aware of issues regarding hazardous substances on some of our real estate and we have put in place a remedial
plan at each site where we believe such a plan is necessary. We regularly make capital and operating
expenditures to stay in compliance with environmental laws. In particular, we have managed a testing and
removal program since 1988 for our underground storage tanks. Under this program, we spent $43.7 million
between April 1988 and March 31, 2003. Despite these compliance efforts, risk of environmental liability is
part of the nature of our business.

While we do not expect the future cost of compliance with environmental laws or future environmental
liabilities, including compliance and remediation costs, to have a material adverse effect on our business,
environmental laws and regulations are complex, change frequently and could become more stringent in the
future. We cannot assure you that future compliance with these regulations or future environmental liabilities
will not have a material adverse effect on our business.

Our business is seasonal.

Our business is seasonal and our results of operations and cash flows fluctuate significantly from quarter
to quarter. Historically, revenues have been stronger in the first and second fiscal quarters due to the overait
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increase in moving activity during the spring and summer months. The fourth fiscal quarter is generally
weakest, when there is a greater potential for adverse weather conditions.

We obtain our rental trucks from a limited number of manufacturers.

In the last ten years, we purchased all of our rental trucks from Ford and General Motors. Although we
believe that we have alternative sources of supply for our rental trucks, termination of one or more of our
relationships with any of these suppliers could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition or results of operations.

Our property and casualty insurance business has suffeved extensive losses.

Our property and casualty insurance business, RepWest, has experienced significant net losses totaling
approximately $77.0 million for the three calendar years ended December 31, 2002. These losses are primarily
attributable to business lines that were unprofitable as underwritten. To restore profitability in RepWest, we
are exiting all non-U-Haul related lines and the exit may result in near term losses as these lines are
eliminated. Although we believe the changes will have a positive impact on the financial position of RepWest,
we cannot assure you that we will be successful in returning RepWest to sustained profitability. Our inability
to sustain profitability could have a material adverse effect on our earnings and financial position.

Our insurance businesses have recently suffered downgrades in their ratings from national insurance
company rating agencies.

A.M. Best has recently downgraded RepWest and Oxford. These downgrades have affected their standing
in the insurance industry and caused their premiums to decrease. Ratings have become an increasingly
important factor in establishing the competitive position of insurance companies. A.M. Best ratings reflect its
opinion of an insurance company’s financial strength, operating performance, strategic position and ability to
meet its obligations to policyholders. The A.M. Best ratings are C for RepWest and C+ for Oxford.

Notes receivable from SAC Holdings are a significant portion of AMERCO’S total assets.

At March 31, 2003, we held $394.2 million of mortgage loans and notes due from SAC Holdings.
Although these assets have been eliminated in the consolidated financial statements, we have significant
economic exposure to SAC Holdings. SAC Holdings is highly leveraged with total outstanding indebtedness
and other obligations of $982.2 million at March 31, 2003. We hold various senior and junior unsecured notes
of SAC Holdings. The senior unsecured notes of SAC Holdings that we hold rank equal in right of payment
with the notes of certain senior mortgage holders, but junior to the extent of the collateral securing the
applicable mortgages and junior to the extent of the cash flow waterfalls that favor the senior mortgage
holders. If SAC Holdings are unable to meet their obligations to their senior lenders, it could trigger a default
on their obligations to us. In such an event of default, we could suffer a significant loss to the extent the value
of the underlying collateral on our loans to SAC Hoeldings is inadequate to repay SAC Holdings’ senior lenders
and us. We cannot assure you that SAC Holdings will not default on their loans to their senior lenders or that
the value of SAC Holdings’ assets upon liquidation would be sufficient to repay us in full.

AMERCO is a holding company and is dependent on its subsidiaries for cash flow.

As a holding company with no business operations, AMERCO’s material assets consist only of the stock
of its subsidiaries. AMERCO will have to rely upon dividends and other payments from its subsidiaries to
generate the funds necessary to pay its obligations, AMERCO’s subsidiaries, however, are legally distinct from
AMERCO and have no obligation, contingent or otherwise, to make funds available to AMERCO. The ability
of AMERCQ’s subsidiaries to make dividend and other payments to AMERCO is subject to, among other
things, the availability of funds, the terms of the indebtedness of AMERCO’s subsidiaries and applicable state
laws and insurance regulations.
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We face risks velated to an SEC investigation and securities litigation.

The SEC has issued a formal order of investigation to determine whether we have violated the Federal
securities laws. Although we have fully cooperated with the SEC in this matter and intend to continue to fully
cooperate, the SEC may determine that we have violated Federal securities laws. We cannot predict when this
investigation will be completed or its outcome. If the SEC makes a determination that we have violated
Federal securities laws, we may face sanctions, including, but not limited to, significant monetary penalties and
injunctive relief.

In addition, the Company has been named a defendant in a number of class action and related lawsuits.
The findings and outcome of the SEC investigation may affect the class-action lawsuits that are pending. We
are generally obliged, to the extent permitted by law, to indemnify our directors and officers who are named
defendants in some of these lawsuits. We are unable to estimate what our liability in these matters may be,
and we may be required to pay judgments or settlements and incur expenses in aggregate amounts that could
have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations.

We face visks rvelated to a Department of Labor Investigation.

The DOL is presently investigating whether there were violations of ERISA involving the AMERCO
Employee Savings, Profit Sharing, and Employee Stock Ownership Plan (the “Plan”). Although the
Company has fully cooperated with the DOL in this matter and intends to continue to fully cooperate, the
DOL may determine that the Company has violated ERISA. In that event, the Company may face sanctions,
including, but not limited to, significant monetary penalties and injunctive relief.

Our common stock may be delisted from the NASDAQ Stock Market.

On June 24, 2003, we received a letter from NASDAQ indicating that, in light of AMERCO’s recent
Chapter 11 filing, a NASDAQ Listing Qualifications Panel (the “Panel”’) would consider such filing and
associated concerns in rendering a determination regarding AMERCO’s listing status. NASDAQ has
requested, and we have provided, information regarding the Chapter 11 filing and the anticipated effect of the
filing on the shareholders of AMERCO. On August 13, 2003, AMERCO received a letter from Nasdaq
indicating that the Panel has determined to continue the listing of AMERCO’s common stock on Nasdaq
provided that: (1) on or before August 22, 2003, AMERCO files this report and its Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended June 30, 2003 with the SEC and Nasdaq (Nasdaq has been advised that this deadline was not met and
further discussions with Nasdaq are anticipated); (2) on or before deadlines determined by the Panel,
AMERCO submits to Nasdaqg a copy of the Company’s plan of reorganization as filed with the bankruptcy
court, a copy of any amendments to the plan of reorganization as submitted to the bankruptcy court;
documentation evidencing that AMERCO has commenced the solicitation of votes regarding the plan of
reorganization, as well as documentation evidencing that the plan of reorganization has been confirmed by the
bankruptcy court; and (3) on or before January 9, 2004, AMERCO submits documentation to Nasdaq
evidencing its emergence from bankruptcy. In addition to the foregoing, AMERCO must comply with all
other requirements for continued listing on Nasdaq. Although we intend to seek a modification of the
deadlines to file its Form 10-K and Form 10-Q as discussed above and to take all actions available to maintain
its Nasdagq listing, there can be no assurance that AMERCO will be able to do so.

Our preferred stock may be delisted from the New York Stock Exchange.

The New York Stock Exchange has completed a review of the continued listing of the Series A 8'-2%
preferred stock of AMERCO following its filing for protection under Chapter 11. According to NYSE, this
assessment has shown that the Company is currently in compliance with all of the NYSE’s quantitative
continued listing standards. The NYSE will continue to closely monitor events at the Company in connection
with assessing the appropriateness of continued listing of the Company’s preferred stock. The NYSE has
indicated that it will give consideration to immediate suspension of the Company’s preferred stock if
authoritative advice is received that the Company’s securities, including the common stock, are without value,
or if the Company subsequently falls below any of the NYSE’s quantitative continued listing standards. In
addition, the NYSE noted that it may, at any time, suspend a security if it believes that continued dealings in
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the security on the NYSE are not advisable. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that the Company’s
preferred stock will continue to be listed on NYSE.

RepWest has consented to an Order of Supervision issued by the Arizona Department of Insurance.

On May 20, 2003, RepWest consented to an Order of Supervision issued by the DOI. Pursuant to this
Order and Arizona law, during the period of supervision, RepWest may not engage in certain activities without
the prior approval of the DOL.

The requirements to abate the order are for RepWest to eliminate the specific credit risk associated with
the exposures to AMERCO and its affiliates and establish that it possesses surplus sufficient with Arizona law
and as the Arizona Director of Insurance may require based on type, volume or nature of its business pursuant
to Arizona law.

In addition, if RepWest fails to satisfy the requirements to abate DOI’s concerns, the DOI may take
further action, including, but not limited to, commencing a conservatorship.

IRS Examination

In connection with the resolution of litigation with certain members of the Shoen family and their
corporations, AMERCO has deducted for income tax purposes approximately $372.0 million of the payments
made to plaintiffs in a lawsuit. While AMERCO believes that such income tax deductions are appropriate,
there can be no assurance that such deductions ultimately will be allowed in full. The IRS has proposed
adjustments to the Company’s 1997 and 1996 tax returns. Nearly all of the adjustments are attributable to
denials of deductions claimed for certain payments made in connection with this litigation. We believe these
income tax deductions are appropriate and are vigorously contesting the IRS adjustments. No additional taxes
have been provided in the accompanying financial statements, as management believes that none will result.

New Accounting Pronouncements

SFAS No. 143, Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations, requires recognition of the fair value of
liabilities associated with the retirement of long-lived assets when a legal obligation to incur such costs arises
as a result of the acquisition, construction, development and/or the normal operation of a long-lived asset.
Upon recognition of the liability, a corresponding asset is recorded at present value and accreted over the life
of the asset and depreciated over the remaining life of the long-lived asset. SFAS 143 defines a legal obligation
as one that a party is required to settle as a result of an existing or enacted law, statute, ordinance, or written or
oral contract or by legal construction of a contract under the doctrine of promissory estoppel. SFAS 143 is
effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2002, The implementation of this accounting standard is not
expected to have a material impact on the financial statements.

In October 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-
Lived Assets. SFAS 144 requires that long-lived assets be measured at the lower of carrying amount or fair
value less cost to sell, whether reported in continuing operations or in discontinued operations. Therefore,
discontinued operations will no longer be measured at net realizable value or include amounts for operating
losses that have not yet occurred. SFAS 144 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2001 and, generally, are to be applied prospectively. We have adopted this
statement effective April 1, 2002 and it did not affect our consolidated financial position or results of
operations.

In April 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 145, Rescission of No. 4, (Reporting Gains and Losses from
Extinguishment of Debt), No. 44 (Accounting for Intangible Assets of Motor Carriers), No. 64, (Extinguish-
ments of Debt Made to Satisfy Sinking-Fund Requirements), Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13
(Accounting for Leases) and Technical Corrections. This statement eliminates the current requirement that
gains and losses on debt extinguishment must be classified as extraordinary items in the income statement.
Instead, such gains and losses will be classified as extraordinary items only if they are deemed to be unusual
and infrequent, in accordance with the current GAAP criteria for extraordinary classification. In addition,
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SFAS 145 eliminates an inconsistency in lease accounting by requiring that modification of capital leases that
result in reclassification as operating leases be accounted for consistent with sale-leaseback accounting rules.
The statement also contains other nonsubstantive corrections to authoritative accounting literature. The
changes related to debt extinguishment were effective for fiscal years beginning after May 15, 2002, and the
changes related to lease accounting were effective for transactions occurring after May 15, 2002. Pre-tax
earnings were reduced by $3.3 million and $547 thousand for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2001 and 2000,
respectively. The reclassification did not reduce net earnings for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2001 and
2000 as the extraordinary loss on early extinguishment of debt was reported net of taxes.

In June 2002, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 146, (SFAS 146)
Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities, which addresses accounting for restructuring
and similar costs. SFAS 146 supersedes previous accounting guidance, principally Emerging Issues Task
Force (EITF) Issue No. 94-3. SFAS 146 requires that the liability for costs assocjated with an exit or disposal
activity be recognized when the liability is incurred. Under EITF No. 94-3, a liability for an exit cost was
recognized at the date of a company’s commitment to an exit plan. SFAS 146 also establishes that the liability
should initially be measured and recorded at fair value. Accordingly, SFAS 146 may affect the timing of
recognizing future restructuring costs as well as the amount recognized. The provisions of this Statement are
effective for exit or disposal activities that are initiated after December 31, 2002. The adoption of SFAS 146
will not have any immediate effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and will be applied
prospectively.

In November 2002, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 45, Guarantor’s Accounting for
Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others, an
interpretation of FASB Statements No. 5, 57, and 107 and rescission of FASB Interpretation No. 34,
Disclosure of Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others (“FIN 45”). FIN 45 clarifies the requirements
for a guarantor’s accounting for and disclosure of certain guarantees issued and outstanding. It also requires a
guarantor to recognize, at the inception of a guarantee, a liability for the fair value of the obligation undertaken
in issuing the guarantee. The Company entered into a support party agreement for $70.0 million of
indebtedness of an affiliate. Under the terms of FIN 45, the Company recognized a liability in the amount of
$70.0 million, which is management’s estimate of the liabilities associated with the guarantee.

In December 2002, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 148, “Account-
ing for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure” (“FAS 148”), which amends Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (“FAS 123%).
FAS 148 provides alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value based method of
accounting for stock-based employee compensation. In addition, FAS 148 amends the disclosure requirement
of FAS 123 to require more prominent and more frequent disclosures in financial statements of the effects of
stock-based compensation. The transition guidance and annual disclosure provisions of FAS 148 are effective
for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2002. The interim disclosure provisions are effective for financial
reports containing condensed financial statements for interim periods beginning after December 15, 2002. The
Company does not have any stock based compensation plans and the adoption of FAS 148 is not expected to
have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet or results of operations.

In April 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 149, “Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities.” This Statement amends and clarifies the accounting for derivative
instruments, including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts and for hedging activities
under SFAS No. 133. In particular, SFAS No. 149 (1) clarifies under what circumstances a contract with an
initial net investment meets the characteristic of a derivative as discussed in SFAS No. 133, (2) clarifies when
a derivative contains a financing component, (3) amends the definition of an underlying derivative to conform
it to the language used in FASB Interpretation No. 45, Guarantor Accounting and Disclosure Requirements
for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others, and (4) amends certain other
existing pronouncements.. SFAS No. 149 is generally effective for contracts entered into or modified after
June 30, 2003. The Company does not believe the adoption of SFAS No. 149 will have a material impact on
the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
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In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with
Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity.” This Statement establishes standards for classifying and
measuring as: liabilities certain financial instruments that embody obligations of the issuer and have
characteristics of both liabilities and equity. SFAS No. 150 is effective at the beginning of the first interim
period beginning after June 15, 2003; including all financial instruments created or modified after May 31,
2003. SFAS No. 150 currently has no impact on the Company. -

In January 2003, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest
Entities, an interpretation of Accounting Research Bulletins (“ARB”) No. 51, Consolidated Financial
Statements (“FIN 46”). FIN 46 applies immediately to variable interest entities created after January 31,
2003, and in the first interim period beginning after June 15, 2003 for variable interest entities created prior to
January 31, 2003. The interpretation explains how to identify variable interest entities and how an enterprise
assesses its interests in a variable interest entity to decide whether to consolidate that entity. The interpretation
requires variable interest entities to be consolidated by their primary beneficiaries if the entities do not
effectively disperse risks among parties involved. Variable interest entities that effectively disperse risks will
not be consolidated unless a single party holds an interest or combination of interests that effectively
recombines risks that were previously dispersed. The Company has determined that Private Mini is a Variable
Interest Entity and will need to be consolidated beginning in July 2003. The impact of this on the consolidated
financial statements is to increase assets by approximately $320.0 million and increase debt by approximately
$308.0 million. AMERCO also determined that SAC qualifies as a Variable Interest Entity and will continue
to be consolidated.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Interest Rate Risk

In the normal course of business, AMERCO is exposed to fluctuations in interest rates. AMERCO
manages such exposure through the use of a variety of derivative financial instruments when deemed prudent.
AMERCO does not enter into leveraged financial transactions or use derivative financial instruments for
trading purposes. The exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to debt obligations.
AMERCQO’s objective is to mitigate the impact of changes in interest rates on its variable rate debt.
Historically, AMERCO has used interest rate swap agreements to provide for matching the gain or loss
recognition on the hedging instrument with the recognition of the changes in the cash flows associated with the
hedged asset or liability attributable to the hedged risk or the earnings effect of the hedged forecasted
transaction. At March 31, 2003, no interest rate swap contracts existed. At March 31, 2002, the Company had
interest rate swap contracts to pay variable rates of interest at the 3-month US LIBOR and receive fixed rates
of interest (average rate of 8.6%) on $45 million notional amount of indebtedness. This resulted in
approximately '$238 million of the Company’s underlying debt being subject to variable interest rates. See
Note 6 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8. A fluctuation in the interest rates of 100
basis points would change AMERCO’s interest expense by approximately $2.5 million.

SAC Holdings debt is primarily fixed rate. Fluctuations in interest rates for new operations could have an
impact on operations. SAC Holdings does not enter into leveraged financial transactions or use derivative
financial instruments for trading purposes.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

The Company’s earnings are affected by fluctuations in the value of foreign currency exchange rates.
Approximately 2.0% of the Company’s revenue is generated in Canada. The result of a 10% change in the
value of the U.S. dollar relative to the Canadian dollar would not be material. The Company does not typically
hedge any foreign currency risk since the exposure is not considered material.

SAC Holdings earnings are affected by fluctuations in the value of foreign currency exchange rates.
Approximately 6.4% of SAC Holdings revenue is generated in Canada. SAC Holdings does not typically
hedge any foreign currency risk since the exposure is not considered material.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The Report of Independent Accountants and Consolidated Financial Statements of AMERCO and SAC
Holdings, including the notes to such statements and the related schedules, are set forth on pages 54 through
106 and are thereby incorporated herein.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

On July 17, 2002, the Company dismissed PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (“PwC”) as the Company’s
independent auditors. On August 8, 2002, the Company engaged BDO as the Company’s independent
auditing firm.

On July 23, 2002, the Company disclosed the following:

That the reports of PwC on the financial statements of the Company for the fiscal years ended
March 31, 2002 and 2001 did not contain an adverse opinion or a disclaimer of opinion, and were not
qualified or modified as to uncertainty, audit scope or accounting principles.

That the decision to dismiss PwC was recommended by the Company’s audit committee and
authorized by the Board of Directors of the Company.

That for the Company’s fiscal years ended March 31, 2002 and 2001 and through July 17, 2002, there
were no disagreements with PwC on any matter of accounting principles or practices, financial
statement disclosure or auditing scope or procedure, which disagreements, if not resolved to the
satisfaction of PwC would have caused it to make reference to the subject matter of the disagreements
in its report.

That for the Company’s fiscal years ended March 31, 2002 and 2001 and through July {7, 2002, there
had occurred none of the “reportable events” listed in Item 304(a) (1) (v) (A-D) of Regulation S-K.

That PwC indicated to the Company that material weaknesses exist in certain aspects of the
Company’s internal controls that were noted during PwC’s audits of the Company’s financial
statements for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2001 and 2002.

That PwC recommended examination and augmentation, as appropriate, of certain aspects of the
Company’s internal control procedures, including the following: (1) Responsibility for each general
ledger account should be assigned to an appropriate person, reconciliations (particularly with respect to
intercompany accounts with SAC Holdings, inventory, and fixed assets) should be performed on a
monthly basis, and the financial reporting manager should ensure that all accounts with variances at
month-end are investigated and corrected within an appropriate timeframe; (2) The internal control
structure and monitoring process of management should be strengthened to help detect misstated
account balances on a timely basis. Corrections of items should be made on a timely basis, as well, to
ensure proper quarterly and annual reporting; (3) Access to the general ledger should be limited to a
few select individuals, with the appropriate level of authority, who do not possess incompatible job
responsibilities. Further, journal entries should be reviewed and approved to ensure that each
adjustment is supported by appropriate documentation and that each entry has been reflected on the
subsidiary ledger, if applicable; (4) Controls relating to inventory costing, including LIFO reserve
calculations, manufacturing and overhead costs, and retention of records should be improved; and
(5) Position vacancies should be filled in a timely manner with competent personnel. Documentation
of job responsibilities, processes, etc. should be prepared to ensure efficient and accurate knowledge
transfer. In addition, cross training of employees and functions should occur to strengthen the control
environment and to minimize disruptions in the event of employee turnover.

That the Audit Committee had discussed these matters with PwC and the Company had begun
addressing these matters.

That the Company had authorized PwC to respond fully to any inquiries concerning these matters from
the auditor selected to replace PwC.
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o That the Company had received a letter from PwC stating that PwC agreed with the statements
reported above.

Subsequently, the Report of Independent Accountants on the financial statements of the Company for
the year ended March 31, 2002 issued by PwC on January 6, 2003 included a going concern explanatory
paragraph. Such explanatory paragraph expressed substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern due, in part, to AMERCO’s default (either directly or indirectly as a result of cross-
default) of approximately $1,175.4 million in current obligations.

On May 7, 2003 PwC notified the Company that the report referred to in the preceding paragraph, that is
dual dated September 23, 2002, except notes 1, 21, and 22, which are dated January 6, 2003, should no longer
be associated with the financial statements (a) of AMERCO and its subsidiaries, SAC Holding Corporation
and its subsidiaries, and SAC Holding Corporation I1 and its subsidiaries at March 31, 2002, and the results of
their operations and their cash flows for the year then ended and (b) of AMERCO and its subsidiaries and
SAC Holding Corporation and its subsidiaries at March 31, 2001, and the results of their operations and their
cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended March 31, 2001.

PART 11

Item 10. Divectors and Executive Officers of the Registrants

The Registrant’s Directors and Executive Officers are:

Name Age* Office

Edward J. Shoen ................... 54 Chairman of the Board, President, and Director
William E. Carty ................... 76 Director

John M. Dodds .................... 66 Director

Charles J. Bayer ................... 63 Director

John P. Brogan .................... 59 Director

James J. Grogan ................... 49 Director

M. Frank Lyons .................... 67 Director

James P. Shoen ............ ... ... ... 43 Director

Gary B.Horton .................... 59 Treasurer of AMERCO and Asst. Treasurer of U-Haul
Gary V. Klinefelter ................. 55 Secretary & General Counsel of AMERCO and U-Haul
Rocky D. Wardrip .................. 45 Assistant Treasurer of AMERCO

Mark V. Shoen .................... 52 President of U-Haul Phoenix Operations

John C. Taylor ..................... 45 Director and Executive V.P. of U-Haul

Ronald C. Frank ................... 62 Executive V.P. of U-Haul Field Operations

Mark A. Haydukovich .............. 46 President of Oxford Life Insurance Company

Carlos Vizcarra .................... 56 President of Amerco Real Estate Company

Richard M. Amoroso ............... 44 President of Republic Western Insurance Company

* Ages are as of June 30, 2003

Class I (Term Expires at 2003 Meeting)

JOHN P. BROGAN has served as a Director of AMERCO since August 1998 and has served as the
Chairman of Muench-Kreuzer Candle Company since 1980. He has been involved with various companies
including a seven year association with Alamo Rent-A-Car that ended in 1986. He is a member of the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and served as Chairman of the Board of Trustees, College
of the Holy Cross, from 1988 to 1996.
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JAMES J. GROGAN has served as a Director of AMERCO since August 1998 and is the CEO of
Loreto Bay Company. He was President of G.W. Holdings, a diversified investment company, from 2001 to
2002. Throughout 1999 and 2000, he served as President and CEQO of Sterling Financial Corporation, a
Toronto Stock Exchange company focused on real estate investments. He was the Senior Executive Vice
President of UDC Homes, a homebuilder, from 1996 to 1998. He serves on the Board of Directors of several
charitable organizations.

Class II (Term Expires at 2004 Meeting)

EDWARD J. SHOEN has served as a Director and Chairman of the Board of AMERCO since 1986, as
President since 1987, as a Director of U-Haul since 1990, and as the President of U-Haul since 1991.
Mr. Shoen has been associated with the Company since 1971.

M. FRANK LYONS was elected to the Board of AMERCO on February 6, 2002 to fill the vacancy
created by the resignation of Richard J. Herrera. Mr., Lyons served in various positions with the Company
from 1959 until 1991, including 23 years as the president of Warrington Manufacturing. From 1991 until his
retirement in 2000 he was president of Evergreen Realty, Inc.

Class III (Term Expires at 2005 Meeting)

JOHN M. DODDS has served as a Director of AMERCO since 1987 and Director of U-Haul since
1990. Mr. Dodds has been associated with the Company since 1963. He served in regional field operations
until 1986 and served in national field operations until 1994. Mr. Dodds retired from the Company in 1994.

JAMES P. SHOEN has served as a director of AMERCO since 1986 and was Vice President of
AMERCO from 1989 to November 2000. Mr. Shoen has been associated with the Company since 1976. He
served from 1990 to November 2000 as Executive Vice President of U-Haul.

Class IV (Term Expires at 2006 Meeting)

WILLIAM E. CARTY has sé:rved as a Director of AMERCO since 1987 and as a Director of U-Haul
since 1986. He has been associated with the Company since 1946. He has served in various executive positions
in all areas of the Company. Mr. Carty retired from the Company in 1987.

CHARLES J. BAYER has served as a Director of AMERCO since 1990 and has been associated with
the Company since 1967. He has served in various executive positions and served as President of Amerco Real
Estate Company until his retirement in October 2000,

Other Executive Officers

GARY B. HORTON has served as Treasurer of AMERCO since 1982 and Assistant Treasurer of
U-Haul since 1990. He has been associated with the Company since 1969.

GARY V. KLINEFELTER, Secretary of AMERCO since 1988 and Secretary of U-Haul since 1990, is
licensed as an attorney in Arizona and has served as General Counsel of AMERCO and U-Haul since June
1988. He has been associated with the Company since 1978.

ROCKY D. WARDRIP, Assistant Treasurer of AMERCO since 1990, has been associated with the
Company since 1978 in various capacities within accounting and treasury operations.

MARK V. SHOEN has served as a Director of AMERCO from 1990 until February 1997. He has served
as a Director of U-Haul from 1990 until November 1997 and as President, Phoenix Operations, from 1994 to
present.

JOHN C. TAYLOR, Director of U-Haul since 1990, has been associated with the Company since 1981.
He is presently an Executive Vice President of U-Haul. '

RONALD C. FRANK has been associated with the Company since 1959. He is presently Executive Vice
President of U-Haul Field Operations.
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MARK A HAYDUKOVICH has served as President of Oxford since June 1997. From 1980 to 1997 he
served as Vice President of Oxford.

CARLOS VIZCARRA has served as President of Amerco Real Estate Company since September 2000.
He began his previous position as Vice President/Storage Product Group for U-Haul in 1988.

RICHARD M. AMOROSO has served as President of RepWest since August 2000. He was Assistant
General Counsel of U-Haul from 1993 until February 2000. He served as Assistant General Counsel of ON
Semiconductor Corporation from February to August 2000.

Edward J., Mark V., and James P. Shoen are brothers. William E. Carty is the uncle of Edward J. and
Mark V. Shoen. M. Frank Lyons was married to William E. Carty’s sister and the aunt of Edward J. and
Mark V. Shoen until her death in 1992. See Item 1. Business — Recent Developments for a discussion of
AMERCO’s Chapter 11 filing.

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 requires the Company’s directors and executive
officers, and persons who own more than 10% of a registered class of the Company’s equity securities, to file
reports of ownership of, and transactions in, the Company’s securities with the Securities and Exchange
Commission. -Such directors, executive officers and 10% stockholders are also required to furnish the
Company with copies of all Section 16(a) forms they file.

Based solely on a review of the copies of such forms received by it, the Company believes that during
fiscal 2003, all Section 16(a) filing requirements applicable to its directors, officers and 10% stockholders were
complied with.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The following Summary Compensation Table shows the annual compensation paid to (1) the Company’s
chief executive officer; and (2) the four most highly compensated executive officers of the Company, other
than the chief executive officer.

Summary Compensation Table

Annual Compensation

All Other

Salary Bonus Compensation
Name and Principal Position Year ($) (1) ($) ($)(2)
Edward J. Shoen ........ ... i 2003 503,708 — 334
Chairman of the Board and President of AMERCO 2002 503,708 — 1,311
and U-Haul 2001 503,708 —_ 2,311
Mark V. Shoen . ... e e 2003 617,308 — 334
President of U-Haul Phoenix Operations 2002 623,077 — 1,311
‘ 2001 623,077 —_ 2,311
Gary V. Klinefelter. . ......... ... . i 2003 251,738 55,000 334
Secretary and General Counsel of AMERCO and U-Haul 2002 222,547 67,000 1,311
2001 224,239 60,000 2,311
Gary B. HoOrton. .. ..o i 2003 242,308 40,000 334
Treasurer of AMERCO and Assistant Treasurer 2002 233,655 40,000 1,311
of U-Haul 2001 234,539 110,000 2,192
Ronald C. Frank. ....... .. 0 i 2003 237,995 15,704 334
Executive V.P. U-Haul Field Operations 2002 188,471 — 1,311
2001 183,471 — 2,311

(1) Includes annual fees paid to Directors of AMERCO and U-Haul.

(2) Represents the value of Common Stock allocated under the AMERCO Employee Savings, Profit
Sharing and Employee Stock Ownership Plan.
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The annual fee for all services as a director of AMERCO prior to June 4, 2003 was $26,400. Effective on
that date, the annual fee was increased to $50,000. This amount is paid in equal monthly installments. Audit
Committee members receive an additional $50,000 annual fee. Executive Finance Committee and Compensa-
tion Committee members each receive an additional $20,000 annual fee. Independent Governance Committee
members receive an annual fee of $50,000.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters

To the best of the Company’s knowledge, the following table lists, as of June 30, 2003 (1) the beneficial
ownership of AMERCO’s equity securities of each director and director nominee of AMERCO, of each
executive officer named in Item 11, and of all directors and executive officers of AMERCO as a group; (2) the
beneficial ownership of Common Stock of those persons who beneficially own more than five percent (5%) of
AMERCO’s Common Stock; and (3) the beneficial ownership of each director and director nominee of
AMERCO, of each executive officer named in Item 11, and of all directors and executive officers of the
Company as a group, of the percentage of net payments received by such persons during the 2003 fiscal year in
respect of fleet-owner contracts issued by U-Haul.

Shares of Common Percentage of Percentage of Net
Name and Address of Stock Beneficially Common Stock Fleet Owner
Beneficial Owner Owned Class Contract Payments
Edward J. Shoen(1) ... ... ... ... L. 3,487,645(2) 16.9 .001

Chairman of the Board,
President and Director
2727 N. Central Ave
Phoenix, AZ 85004

Mark V. Shoen(1) ........ ... .. ... . ... 3,355,471(2) 16.3 N/A
President, U-Haul
Phoenix Operations
2727 N. Central Ave
Phoenix, AZ 85004

James P. Shoen(1) ......... .. .. ... .. ... 2,049,962(2) 9.9 N/A
Director
1325 Airmotive Way
Reno, NV 89502

Sophia M. Shoen.............. ... ... o oiu... 1,388,668(2) 6.7 N/A
5104 N. 32nd Street
Phoenix, AZ 85018 .

Heartland Advisors, Inc. ......................... 1,143,500(3) 5.5 N/A
789 North Water Street
Milwaukee, W1 53202

Paul F. Shoen......... .. ... ... i it 1,110,442(2) 5.4 N/A
P.O. Box 524
Glenbrook, NV 89413

The ESOP Trust(2) ...t 2,402,456 11.7 N/A

2727 N. Central Ave
Phoenix, AZ 85004

John M. Dodds ....... ... ... ... ... .. 0 0 N/A
Director
2727 N. Central Ave
Phoenix, AZ 85004

William E. Carty(1) .......... . i, 0 0 N/A
Director
2727 N. Central Ave
Phoenix, AZ 85004
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‘ Shares of Common Percentage of Percentage of Net
Name and Address of Stock Beneficially Common Stock Fleet Owner
Beneficial Owner. Owned Class Contract Payments
Charles J. Bayer. ......... ..o i 2,186 *x .001

Director
2727 N. Central Ave
Phoenix, AZ 85004

John P. Brogan............ ... ... ... ... ... 6,000 *% N/A
Director and Director Nominee
2727 N. Central Ave
Phoenix, AZ 85004

James J. Grogan ......... ... .. ... ..o 100 * N/A
Director and Director Nominee
2727 N. Central Ave
Phoenix, AZ 85004

M. Frank Lyons . ......... ... i 300 *ok N/A
Director
2727 N. Central Ave
Phoenix, AZ 85004

Gary V. Klinefelter ............................. 3,513 ** N/A
Secretary and General Counsel
2727 N. Central Ave
Phoenix, AZ 85004

Ronald C. Frank ...... ... ... . it 2,592 *ok .002
Executive V.P. Field
Operations of U-Haul
2727 N. Central Ave
Phoenix, AZ 85004

John C. Taylor...... ... . i, 1,423 *k N/A
Executive Vice President of U-Haul
2727 N. Central Ave
Phoenix, AZ 85004

Officers and Directors as a group (17 persons) (1) ... 8,917,548 43.2 .004

** The percentage of the referenced class beneficially owned is less than one percent.

(1)

(2)

(3)

Edward J. Shoen, Mark V. Shoen, James P. Shoen, and William E. Carty beneficially own 16,300 shares
(0.26%), 16,700 shares (0.27%), 31,611 shares (0.51%), and 12,000 shares (0.19%) of AMERCO’s
Series A 8%2% Preferred Stock, respectively. The executive officers and directors as a group beneficially
own 77,611 shares (1.27%) of AMERCO’s Series A 8%2% Preferred Stock.

The complete name of the ESOP Trust is the ESOP Trust Fund for the AMERCO Employee Savings
and Employee Stock Ownership Trust. The ESOP Trustee, which consists of three individuals without a
past or present employment history or business relationship with the Company, is appointed by the
Company’s Board of Directors. Under the ESOP, each participant (or such participant’s beneficiary) in
the ESOP directs the ESOP Trustee with respect to the voting of all Common Stock allocated to the
participant’s account. All shares in the ESOP Trust not allocated to participants are voted by the ESOP
Trustee. As of June 30, 2003, of the 2,402,456 shares of Common Stock held by the ESOP Trust,
1,607,509 shares were allocated to participants and 794,947 shares remained unallocated. The number of
shares reported as beneficially owned by Edward J. Shoen, Mark V. Shoen, James P. Shoen, Paul F.
Shoen, and Sophia M. Shoen include Common Stock held directly by those individuals and 3,964, 3,690,
3,648, 779, and 196 shares of Common Stock, respectively, allocated by the ESOP Trust to those
individuals. Those shares are also included in the number of shares held by the ESOP Trust.

The ownership information set forth herein is based on material contained in a Schedule 13G, dated
February [3, 2003, filed with the SEC by William Nasgovitz and Heartland Advisors, Inc. According to
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the Schedule 13G, Heartland Advisors, Inc. has sole voting and sole dispositive power over 264,200 and
1,143,500 shares, respectively. According to the same Schedule 13G, Mr. Nasgovitz has sole voting and
sole dispositive power over 788,000 and O shares, respectively.

To the best of the Company’s knowledge, there are no arrangements giving any stockholder the right to
acquire the beneficial ownership of any shares owned by any other stockholder.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

AMERCO has related party transactions with certain major stockholders, directors and officers of the
consolidated group as disclosed in Notes 11 and 19 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements and below.
Management believes that the transactions described in the related notes and below were consummated on
terms equivalent to those that would prevail in arm’s-length transactions.

On December 23, 2002, Mark V. Shoen, President, U-Haul Phoenix Operations and a significant
stockholder of AMERCO, purchased a condominium in Phoenix, Arizona from Oxford Life Insurance
Company. The purchase price was $279,573, which was in excess of the appraised value.

During fiscal 2003, U-Haul purchased $2.1 million of printing from Form Builders, Inc. Mark V. Shoen,
his daughter and Edward J. Shoen’s sons are major stockholders of Form Builders, Inc. Edward J. Shoen is
Chairman of the Board of Directors and President of AMERCO and is a significant stockholder of
AMERCO. Mark V. Shoen is President, U-Haul Phoenix Operations and is a significant stockholder of
AMERCO. The Company ceased doing business with Form Builders, Inc. on April 18, 2003.

During fiscal 2003, Sam Shoen, a son of Edward J. Shoen, was employed by U-Haul as project group
supervisor. Mr. Shoen was paid an aggregate salary and bonus of $77,327 for his services during the fiscal year.

During fiscal 2003, a subsidiary of the Company held various senior and junior unsecured notes of SAC
Holdings. Substantially all of the equity interest of SAC Holdings is owned by Mark V. Shoen, a significant
shareholder and executive officer of AMERCO. The Company does not have an equity ownership interest in
SAC Holdings, except for minority investments made by RepWest and Oxford in a SAC Holdings-controlled
limited partnership which holds Canadian self-storage properties. The senior unsecured notes of SAC
Holdings that the Company holds rank equal in right of payment with the notes of certain senior mortgage
holders, but junior to the extent of the collateral securing the applicable mortgages and junior to the extent of
the cash flow waterfalls that favor the senior mortgage holders. The Company received cash interest payments
of $26.6 million from SAC Holdings during fiscal year 2003. The notes receivable balance outstanding at
March 31, 2003 was, in the aggregate, $394.2 million. The largest aggregate amount outstanding during the
fiscal year ended March 31, 2003 was $407.4 million. At March 31, 2003, SAC Holdings’ notes and loans
payable to third parties totaled $589.0 million. Interest on the senior and junior notes accrues at rates ranging
from 6.5% to 13%.

Interest accrues on the outstanding principal balance of senior notes of SAC Holdings that the Company
holds at a fixed rate and is paid on a monthly basis.

Interest accrues on the outstanding principal balance of junior notes of SAC Holdings that the Company
holds at a stated rate of basic interest. A fixed portion of that basic interest is paid on a monthly basis.
Additional interest is paid on the same payment date based on the difference between the amount of
remaining basic interest and an amount equal to a specified percentage of the net cash flow before interest
expense generated by the underlying property minus the sum of the principal and interest due on the senior
notes of SAC Holdings relating to that property and a multiple of the fixed portion of basic interest paid on
that monthly payment date.

The latter amount is referred to as the “cash flow-based calculation.”

To the extent that this cash flow-based calculation exceeds the amount of remaining basic interest,
contingent interest equal to that excess and the amount of remaining basic interest are paid on the same
monthly date as the fixed portion of basic interest. To the extent that the cash flow-based calculation is less
than the amount of remaining basic interest, the additional interest payable on the applicable monthly date is
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limited to the amount of that cash flow-based calculation. In such a case, the excess of the remaining basic
interest over the cash flow-based calculation is deferred and all amounts so deferred bear the stated rate of
basic interest until maturity of the junior note.

In addition, subject to certain contingencies, the junior notes provide that the holder of the note is entitled
to receive 90% of the appreciation realized upon, among other things, the sale of such property by SAC
Holdings. To date, no such properties have been sold by SAC Holdings.

The Company currently manages the self-storage properties owned by SAC Holdings pursuant to a
standard form of management agreement with each SAC Holdings subsidiary, under which the Company
receives a management fee equal to 6% of the gross receipts. The Company received management fees of
$12.3 million during fiscal year 2003. This management fee is consistent with the fees received for other
properties the Company manages for third parties.

RepWest and Oxford currently hold a 46% limited partnership interest in Securespace Limited
Partnership (“Securespace”), a Nevada limited partnership. A SAC Holdings subsidiary serves as the general
partner of Securespace and owns a 1% interest. Another SAC Holdings subsidiary owns the remaining
53% limited partnership interest in Securespace. Securespace was formed by SAC Holdings to be the owner of
various Canadian self-storage properties.

During fiscal year 2003, the Company leased space for marketing company offices, vehicle repair shops
and hitch installation centers in 35 locations owned by subsidiaries of SAC Holdings. Total lease payments
pursuant to such leases were $2.1 million during fiscal year 2003. The terms of the leases are similar to the
terms of leases for other properties owned by unrelated parties that are leased to the Company.

At March: 31, 2003, subsidiaries of SAC Holdings acted as U-Haul independent dealers. The financial
and other terms of the dealership contracts with subsidiaries of SAC Holdings are substantially identical to the
terms of those with the Company’s other independent dealers. During fiscal 2003, the Company paid
subsidiaries of SAC Holdings $27.7 million in commissions pursuant to such dealership contracts.

The transactions discussed above involving SAC Holdings have all been eliminated from the Company’s
consolidated financial statements. Although these transactions have been eliminated for financial statement
reporting purpeses, except for minority investments made by RepWest and Oxford in Securespace, the
Company has not had any equity ownership interest in SAC Holdings.

SAC Holdings were established in order to acquire self-storage properties which are being managed by
the Company pursuant to management agreements. The sale of self-storage properties by the Company to
SAC Holdings has in the past provided significant cash flows to the Company and the Company’s outstanding
loans to SAC Holdings entitle the Company to participate in SAC Holdings’ excess cash flows (after senior
debt service).

Management believes that its sales of self-storage properties to SAC Holdings over the past several years
provided a unique structure for the Company to earn rental revenues from the SAC Holdings self-storage
properties that the Company manages and participate in SAC Holdings’ excess cash flows as described above.

Although the Board of Directors of the appropriate subsidiary which was a party to each transaction with
SAC Holdings approved such transaction at the time it was completed, the Company did not seek approval by
AMERCO’s Board of Directors for such transactions. However, AMERCO’s Board of Directors, including
the independent members, was made aware of and received periodic updates regarding such transactions from
time to time. All future real estate transactions with SAC Holdings that involve the Company or any of its
subsidiaries will have the prior approval of AMERCO’s Board of Directors, even if it is not legally required,
including a majority of the independent members of AMERCO’s Board of Directors.
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In connection with transactions described above regarding parts, tools and printing services, the Internal
Audit Department of U-Haul periodically tests pricing against competitive third party bids for fairmess.

Management believes that the foregoing transactions were consummated on terms equivalent to those
that prevail in arm’s-length transactions.

Item 14. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure control procedures, which are designed to ensure that material information
related to AMERCO and its subsidiaries and SAC Holdings and their subsidiaries is disclosed in our public
filings on a regular basis. In response to recent legislation and proposed regulations, we reviewed our internal
control structure and our disclosure controls and procedures. Internal controls are procedures which are
designed with the objective of providing redsonable assurance that 1) records are maintained that in
reasonable detail accurately reflect the Company’s transactions and dispositions of its assets; 2) assets are
safeguarded against unauthorized or improper use; and 3) transactions are properly recorded and reported, all
to permit the preparation of our financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles. Disclosure controls are designed with the objective of ensuring that information is accumulated and
communicated to our management to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

The Company’s management does not expect that the internal controls and disclosure controls will
prevent all error or fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only
reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a
control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be
considered relative to the cost. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of
controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the
company have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-
making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Additionally,
controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by
management override of the control. The design of any system of controls is also based in part upon certain
assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed
in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Over time, controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may
occur and not be detected.

Within 90 days prior to filing this Form 10-K, members of the Company’s management, including the
Company’s principal executive officer and principal financial officer, evaluated the effectiveness of the design
and operation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures. Based upon that evaluation, management
has concluded that there were deficiencies in the design and operations of our internal controls that adversely
affected our ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data. The deficiencies were considered
to be material weaknesses under the standards established by the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. As a result of the conclusions discussed above, under the direction of the Audit Committee and
the Board of Directors, we have taken corrective action to strengthen our internal controls and procedures to
ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or submit under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized and accurately reported, within the time periods
specified in the SEC’s rules and forms.

Changes in Controls and Procedures

There were significant changes in the Company’s internal controls and other factors that could
significantly affect these internal controls after the date of our most recent evaluation. They include, but are
not limited to, the following:

a. We limited access to the general ledger (posting ability) to specifically identified individuals;
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b. We require documentation for all journal postings;

¢. We have hired a system administrator to document and map all accounting imports and exports
to the various subledgers maintained throughout the organization;

d. We have initiated a formal cross training program to ensure that any unforeseen loss of
personnel does not adversely affect the financial reporting and disclosure processes;

e. We have hired additional qualified accounting personnel; and

f. We are implementing control procedures to verify each inter company account is reconciled prior
to each month end closing process.

PART 1V, ITEM 16, EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Report:

Page No.
1. Financial Statements
Report of Independent Accountants ..........cvvvrniiirruniinnreeennnanns, 54
‘Consolidated Balance Sheets — March 31, 2003 and 2002 ..................... 56
‘Consolidated Statements of Operations — Years ended March 31, 2003, 2002 and
200 e e 57
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity — Years ended
March 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 .. ... ... .. 58
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (loss) — Years ended
March 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 .. ... ... e 59
'Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows — Years ended March 31, 2003, 2002 and
200 L e 60
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements ..........................c.un.. 61
2. Additional Information ............ . ... 107
‘Summary of Earnings of Independent Trailer Fleets ....................... ... 107
Notes to Summary of Earnings of Independent Trailer Fleets .................. 108
3. Financial Statement Schedules required to be filed by Item 8 and Paragraph (d) of
this Item 16 ... e
‘Condensed Financial Information of Registrant — Schedule I .................. 110
Supplemental Information (For Property-Casualty Insurance Underwriters) —
Schedule V o 114

All other schedules are omitted as the required information is not applicable or the information
is presented in the financial statements or related notes thereto.
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{b) No reports on Form 8-K were filed during the last quarter of the period covered by this report.

Exhibit No.

21
22
3.1
3.2
3.3
34
4.1
4.2
4.3
4.5
4.6
4.7

4.8
4.9
4.10
4.11
4.12
10.1*
10.1A*

10.2
10.3
10.5
10.6
10.7

10.8
10.9
10.10
10.10A

10.11
10.11A

10.12

10.13

10.14

Description

Order Confirming Plan(1) :

Second Amended and Restated Debtor’s Plan of Reorganization Proposed by Edward J. Shoen(1)
Restated Articles of Incorporation of AMERCO(2)

Restated By-Laws of AMERCO(3)

Restated Articles of Incorporation of U-Haul International, Inc.
Bylaws of U-Haul International, Inc.

Debt Securities Indenture dated May 1, 1996(1)

First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 6, 1996(4)

Rights Agreement, dated as of August 7, 1998(13)

Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of October 22, 1997(11)
Calculation Agency Agreement(11)

6.65% — AMERCO Series 1997 A Bond Backed Asset Trust Certificates (“BATs”) due Octo-
ber 15, 2000(11)

Indenture dated September 10, 1996(9)

First Supplemental Indenture dated September 10, 1996(9)

Senior Indenture dated April 1, 1999(14)

First Supplemental Indenture dated April 5, 1999(14)

Second Supplemental Indenture dated February 4, 2000(15)

AMERCO Employee Savings, Profit Sharing and Employee Stock Ownership Plan(5)

First Amendment to the AMERCO Employee Savings, Profit Sharing and Employee Stock
Ownership Plan(16)

U-Haul Dealership Contract(5)

Share Repurchase and Registration Rights Agreement with Paul F. Shoen(5)
ESOP Loan Credit Agreement(6)

ESOP Loan Agreement(6)

Trust Agreement for the AMERCO Employee Savings, Profit Sharing and Employee Stock
Ownership Plan(6)

Amended Indemnification Agreement(6)
Indemnification Trust Agreement(6)
Promissory Note between SAC Holding Corporation and a subsidiary of AMERCO(12)

Addendum to Promissory Note between SAC Holding Corporation and a subsidiary of
AMERCO(20)

Promissory Notes between Four SAC Self-Storage Corporation and a subsidiary of AMERCO( 12)

Amendment and Addendum to Promissory Note between Four SAC Self-Storage Corporation and
Nationwide Commercial Co. (20)

Management Agreement bétween Three SAC Self-Storage Corporation and a subsidiary of
AMERCO(12)

Management Agreement between Four SAC Self-Storage Corporation and a subsidiary of
AMERCO(12)

Agreement, dated October 17, 1995, among AMERCO, Edward J. Shoen, James P. Shoen,
Aubrey K. Johnson, John M. Dodds and William E. Carty(8)
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Exhibit No.

10.15

10.16

10.21

10.22

10.23 -

10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

10.28

10.29

10.30

10.31

10.32

10.33

10.34

10.35
10.36

10.37
10.38
10.39
10.40
10.41

10.42

10.43

Description
Directors’ Release, dated October 17, 1995, executed by Edward J. Shoen, James P. Shoen,
Aubrey K. Johnson, John M. Dodds and William E. Carty in favor of AMERCO(8)

AMERCO Release, dated October 17, 1995, executed by AMERCO in favor of Edward J. Shoen,
James P. Shoen, Aubrey K. Johnson, John M. Dodds and William E. Carty(8)

Management Agreement between Five SAC Self-Storage Corporation and a subsidiary of
AMERCO(10)

Management Agreement between Eight SAC Seif-Storage Corporation and a subsidiary of
AMERCO(10)
Management Agreement between Nine SAC Self-Storage Corporation and a subsidiary of
AMERCOQ(10)
Management Agreement between Ten SAC Self-Storage Corporation and a subsidiary of
AMERCO(10)
Management Agreement between Six-A SAC Self-Storage Corporation and a subsidiary of
AMERCO(16)
Management Agreement between Six-B SAC Self-Storage Corporation and a subsidiary of
AMERCO(16)
Management Agreement between Six-C SAC Self-Storage Corporation and a subsidiary of
AMERCO(16)

Management Agreement between Eleven SAC Self-Storage Corporation and a subsidiary of
AMERCO(16)

Management Agreement between Twelve SAC Self-Storage Corporation and a subsidiary of
AMERCO(18) :

Management Agreement between Thirteen SAC Self-Storage Corporation and a subsidiary of
AMERCO(18)

Management Agreement between Fourteen SAC Self-Storage Corporation and a subsidiary of
AMERCO(18)

Management Agreement between Fifteen SAC Self-Storage Corporation and a subsidiary of
AMERCO(19)

Management Agreement between Sixteen SAC Self-Storage Corporation and a subsidiary of
AMERCO(19)

Management Agreement between Seventeen SAC Self-Storage Corporation and a subsidiary of
AMERCO(17)

Management Agreement between Eighteen SAC Self-Storage Corporation and U-Haul(20)
Management Agreement between Nineteen SAC Self-Storage Limited Partnership and
U-Haul(20)

Management Agreement between Twenty SAC Self-Storage Corporation and U-Haul(20)
Management Agreement between Twenty-One SAC Self-Storage Corporation and U-Haul(20)
Management Agreement between Twenty-Two SAC Self-Storage Corporation and U-Haul (20)
Management Agreement between Twenty-Three SAC Self-Storage Corporation and U-Haul(20)
Management Agreement between Twenty-Four SAC Self Storage Limited Partnership and
U-Haul(20)

Management Agreement between Twenty-Five SAC Self-Storage Limited Partnership and
U-Haul(20)

Management Agreement between Twenty-Six SAC Self-Storage Limited Partnership and
U-Haul(20)
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10.44

10.45
10.46
10.46A

10.47
10.48
10.48A

10.49

10.50

10.50A

10.51
10.52
10.52A

10.53
10.53A

10.54
10.54A

10.55
10.55A

10.56
10.56A

10.57
10.57A

10.58
10.58A

10.59
10.60
10.61
10.62
10.63
10.64

Description

Management Agreement between Twenty-Seven SAC Self-Storage Limited Partnership and
U-Haul(20)

3-Year Credit Agreement with certain lenders named therein(20)
Promissory Note between Four SAC Self-Storage Corporation and U-Haul International, Inc.(20)

Amendment and Addendum to Promissory Note between Four SAC Self-Storage Corporation and
U-Haul International, Inc.(20)

Promissory Note between SAC Holding Corporation and Nationwide Commercial Co.(20)
Promissory Note between SAC Holdiﬁg Corporation and Nationwide Commercial Co.(20)

Amendment and Addendum to Promissory Note between SAC Holding Corporation and Nation-
wide Commercial Co.(20)

Promissory Note between Five SAC Self-Storage Corporation and Nationwide Commercial
Co.(20)

Promissory Note between Five SAC Self-Storage Corporation and Nationwide Commercial
Co.(20)

Amendment and Addendum to Promissory Note between Five SAC Self-Storage Corporation and
Nationwide Commercial Co.(20) .

Promissory Note between Five SAC Self-Storage Corporation and U-Haul International, Inc.(20)
Promissory Note between SAC Holding Corporation and Oxford Life Insurance Company(20)

Amendment and Addendum to Promissory Note between SAC Holding Corporation and Oxford
Life Insurance Company(20)

Promissory Note between SAC Holding Corporation and Nationwide Commercial Company (20)

Amendment and Addendum to Promissory Note between SAC Holding Corporation and Nation-
wide Commercial Co.(20)

Promissory Note between SAC Holding Corporation and U-Haul International, Inc.(20)

Amendment and Addendum to Promissory Note between SAC Holding Corporation and U-Haul
International, Inc.(20)

Promissory Note between SAC Holding Corporation and U-Haul International, Inc.(20)

Amendment and Addendum to Promissory Note between SAC Holding Corporation and U-Haul
International, Inc.(20)

Promissory Note between SAC Holding Corporation and U-Haul International, Inc.(20)

Amendment and Addendum to Promissory Note between SAC Holding Corporation and U-Haul
International, Inc.(20)

Promissory Note between SAC Holding Corporation and Nationwide Commercial Co.(20)

Amendment and Addendum to Promissory Note between SAC Holding Corporation and Nation-
wide Commercial Co.(20)

Promissory Note between SAC Holding Corporation and Nationwide Commercial Co.(20)

Amendment and Addendum to Promissory Note between SAC Holding Corporation and Nation-
wide Commercial Co.(20)

Promissory Note between SAC Holding Corporation and Nationwide Commercial Co.(20)
Junior Promissory Note between SAC Holding Corporation and Nationwide Commercial Co.(20)
Promissory Note between SAC Holding Corporation and U-Haul International, Inc.(20)
Promissory Note between SAC Holding Corporation and U-Haul International, Inc.(20)
Promissory Note between SAC Financial Corporation and U-Haul International, Inc.(20)

1997 AMERCO Support Party Agreement
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10.65
10.66

10.67
10.68
10.69

21

23.1
23.2
99.1

99.2
99.3

99.4

(1)

(2)

(3)

4

(5)

(6)

(8)

)

(10)

(11)

(12)

(13)

No. : Description

Private Mini Storage Realty, L.P. Non-Exoneration Agreement

2003 AMERCO Support Party Agreement for the benefit of GMAC Commercial Holding Capital
Corp.

Engagement Letter with Alvarez & Marsal, Inc. dated May 22, 2003

Wells Fargo Foothill, Inc. Commitment Letter dated June 19, 2003

State of Arizona Department of Insurance Notice of Determination, Order for Supervision and
Consent Thereto

Subsidiaries of AMERCO
Consent of Independent Certified Public Accountants
Report of Independent Certified Public Accountants

Certificate of Edward J. Shoen, Chairman of the Board and President of AMERCO pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certificate of Gary B. Horton, Treasurer of AMERCO pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

Certificate of Edward J. Shoen, Chairman of the Board and President of U-Haul International, Inc.
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certificate of Gary B. Horton, Assistant Treasurer of U-Haul International, Inc. pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Indicatés compensatory plan arrangement

Incorpo.rated by reference to AMERCO’s Registration Statement on Form S-3, Registration
no. 333-1195.

Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
December 31, 1992, file no. 1-11255.

Incorporated by reference to AMERCOQO’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 1996, file no. 1-11255.

Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Current Report on Form 8-K, dated May 6, 1996, file
no. 1-11255.

Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31,
1993, file no. 1-11255.

Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31,
1990, file no. 1-11255.

Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 1993, file no. 1-11255.

Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated September 6, 1996, file
no. 1-11255.

Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31,
1999, file no. 1-11255.

Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
December 31, 1997, file no. 1-11255.

Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31,
1997, file no. 1-11255.

Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s: Quarterly Report on Form [0-Q for the quarter ended
June 30, 1998, file no. 1-11255.
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(14)
(15)
(16)
(17)
(18)
(19)

(20)

Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated April 5, 1999, file
no. 1-11255.

Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 4, 2000, file
no. 1-11255.

Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31,
2000, file no. 1-11255.

Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31,
2001, file no. 1-11255.

Incorporated by reference to AMERCOQ’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2001, file no. 1-11255.

Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
December 31, 2000, file no. 1-11255.

Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2002. ’
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of AMERCO

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of AMERCO and its subsidiaries, SAC
Holding Corporation and its subsidiaries, and SAC Holding Corporation II and its subsidiaries (collectively,
the “Company”) as of March 31, 2003 and 2002, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
changes in stockholders’ equity, comprehensive income/ (loss), and cash flows for each of the three years in
the period ended March 31, 2003. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements
based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of AMERCO and its subsidiaries, SAC Holding Corporation and its
subsidiaries, and SAC Holding Corporation II and its subsidiaries as of March 31, 2003 and 2002 and the
results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2003,
in conformity:with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming the Company will
continue as a going concern, which contemplates the continuity of the Company’s operations and realization of
its assets and payments of its liabilities in the ordinary course of business. As more fully described in Note 1 to
the consolidated financial statements, on June 20, 2003, AMERCO, the parent corporation, filed a voluntary
petition for reorganization under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code. Amerco Real Estate
Company filed a voluntary petition for relief under Chapter 11 on August 13, 2003. The uncertainties inherent
in the bankruptcy process raise substantial doubt about AMERCO’s ability to continue as a going concern.
AMERCO is currently operating its business as a debtor-in-possession under the jurisdiction of the
bankruptcy court, and continuation of the Company as a going concern is contingent upon, among other
things, the confirmation of a plan of reorganization, the Company’s ability to comply with all debt covenants
under the existing debtor-in-possession financing arrangement, and obtaining financing sources to meet its
future obligations. If a reorganization plan is not approved, it is possible some assets of the Company may be
liquidated. Management’s plans in regards to these matters are also described in Note 1. The consolidated
financial statéments do not include any adjustments to reflect future effects on the recoverability and
classification of assets or the amount and classification of liabilities that might result from the outcome of
these uncertainties.

As discussed in Note 2 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements, the Company has restated
the consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2002, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
changes in stockholders’ equity, comprehensive income/ (loss), and cash flows for the years ended March 31,
2002 and 2001. .

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements
taken as a whole. The consolidating balance sheets, statements of operations schedules, statements of cash
flows schedules, and the summary of earnings of independent trailer fleets information included on pages 107
through 109 of this Form 10-K are presented for purposes of additional analysis of the consolidated financial
statements rather than to present the financial position, results of operations, and cash flows of the individual
companies or the earnings of the independent fleets. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the financial
position, results of operations, and cash flows of the individual companies, or on the earnings of the
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independent trailer fleets. However, such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements and, in our opinion, is fairly stated in all material respects in
relation to the consolidated financial statements taken as a whole.

/s/ BDO Seidman, LLP

Los Angeles, California
August 18, 2003
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AMERCO AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES AND
SAC HOLDING CORPORATION, SAC HOLDING II CORPORATION
AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

March 31,
Restated
2003 2002
(In thousands)
ASSETS
Cash and cash eqUIVAIENTS . ... .. .ttt i e $ 66834 § 41,446
Trade receivables, Met ... .. i 263,737 274,870
Notes and mortgage receivables, net ... ... .. i e 2,868 7,279
IVEnOrIES, TEE . vttt ettt e e e e e 53,270 65,776
Prepaid EXPEMSES ...\ttt ettt e e e e e e e 21,846 15,279
Investments, fixed MAtUIITIES . .. ..ttt e e e e 860,600 988,397
Investments, Other .. ... 389,252 240,912
Deferred policy acquisition COStS, MEt. ... ...t i e 105,100 97,918
Deferred INCOME LAXES . . . .. oottt et ettt ettt et e e et e e e e 32,242 6,045
[ 1 4T3 VLT3 - 63,600 58,319
1,859,349 1,796,241
Property, plant and equipment, at cost:
Land . e 157,987 160,895
Buildings and improvements . . . ... ...ttt e e 747,853 725,214
Furniture and equipment . . ... .o 291,383 288,711
Reental tTUCKS . o it e 1,140,294 1,071,604
Rental trailers.and other rental equipment .. ... . .t 149,707 162,768
SAC Holdings property plant and equipment . ........... ... it 757,292 727,630
’ 3,244,516 3,136,822
Less accumulated depreciation . ... .o...uuvrin i e (1,298,199)  (1,200,746)
Total property, plant and equipment ........ ... ... e 1,946,317 1,936,076
TOtal ASSEES « o oo ottt $ 3,805,666 3,732,317
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued eXpenses ... ... ... $ 387,017 233,874
AMERCO'S notes and loans payable . ........ ... ... . e 954,856 1,045,801
SAC Holdings’ notes and loans payable, non-recourse to AMERCO ....................... 589,019 561,887
Policy benefits.and losses, claims and loss expenses payable .............................. 836,632 819,583
Liabilities from Investment CONTACTS . . . ..ottt ettt ettt e et i 639,998 572,793
Other policyholders’ funds and liabilities. . ........ .. i e 30,309 73,597
Deferred INCOmeE . . .. ... i e 40,387 43,258
Total Habilities . . ... oot e e 3,478,218 3,350,793
Stockholders’ equity:
Serial preferred stock, with or without par value, 50,000,000 shares authorized —
Series A preferred stock, with no par value, 6,100,000 shares authorized; 6,100,000 shares
issued and outstanding as of March 31, 2003 and 2002 ............. ... ... ... ...
Series B preferred stock, with no par value, 100,000 shares authorized; none issued and
outstanding as of March 31,2003 and 2002. .......... . .. . . it — —
Serial common stock, with or without par value, 150,000,000 shares authorized —
Series A common stock of $0.25 par value, 10,000,000 shares authorized; 5,662,496 shares
issued as of March 31, 2003 and 2002, . ... .. . . 1,441 1,441
Common stock of $0.25 par value, 150,000,000 shares authorized; 35,664,367 and 35,919,281
issued as of March 31, 2003 and 2002, .. ... .. . 9,122 9,122
Additional paid-in capital .. ..., ... . e e e 238,983 239,492
Accumulated other comprehensive income/ (10s8) . ...t (55,765) (40,580)
Retained Cammings . ..o vtt e e e 568,222 606,171
Cost of common shares in treasury, net (20,969,663 and 20,850,763 shares as of March 31,
2003 and 2002, respectively) ... ... e (421,378) (419,970)
Unearned employee stock ownership plan shares . ........ ... . ... ... . ... . i i (13,177) (14,152)
Total stockholders’ equity ............ .. i 327,448 381,524
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity ........... ... i $ 3,805,666 $3,732,317

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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AMERCO AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES AND
SAC HOLDING CORPORATION, SAC HOLDING II CORPORATION
AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Revenues
Rentalrevenue . ... .. ... i e
Netsales .. ..o e
PremiUmS .« ottt e
Net investment and interest income ......................

Total revenues . .......... .

Costs and expenses
Operating eXPenSes ... .. ..vn vttt e e iaeennnn
CommisSion EXPENSES . .. ..vvevrrn ettt
Costofsales ... ... ...
Benefitsand losses .. ... ...
Amortization of deferred acquisition costs .................
Lease eXPenSe. . . oottt e
Depreciation, net ...... ...

Total costs and eXPEnSes . . .. ... ...orrnrernneannnenn,

Earnings from operations .......... ...,
Interest eXpense ...

Pretax earnings/ (10SS) . ...
Income tax benefit/ (expense) ...... ... . ...

Net earnings/ (10SS) .. oo vt
Less: Preferred stock dividends ........... ... .. ... .. ......

Net earnings/ (loss) available to common shareholders ........
Basic and diluted loss per common share: ...................

Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basicand diluted .......... .. ...

Years Ended March 31,

2003

Restated
2002

Restated
2001

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

$ 1,560,005 1,512,250 1,436,832
222,889 222,816 212,243
307,925 411,170 328,108
41,568 47,343 52,297
2,132,387 2,193,579 2,029,480
1,134,460 1,146,305 1,076,307
136,827 140,442 132,865
115,115 122,694 126,506
281,868 423,709 331,079
37,819 40,674 36,232
179,642 174,664 175,460
137,446 102,957 103,307
2,023,177 2,151,445 1,982,256
109,210 42,134 47,224
148,131 109,465 111,878
(38,921)  (67,331)  (64,654)
13,935 19,891 22,544

$  (24,986)  (47,440)  (42,110)
(12,963)  (12,963)  (12,963)

$  (37,949)  (60403)  (55073)

$  (1.83) (2.87) (2.56)

20,743,072 21,022,712 21,486,370

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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AMERCO AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES AND
SAC HOLDING CORPORATION, SAC HOLDING II CORPORATION
AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Years Ended March 31,

Restated Restated
2003 2002 2001

(In thousands)

Series A common stock of $0.25 par value:

10,000,000 shares authorized; 5,662,496 shares issued in 2003, 2002
and 2001

Beginning and end of year . ...... . ... o i i $ 1441 1,441 1,441

Common stock of $0.25 par value:
150,000,000 shares authorized; 35,664,367, 35,919,281, and
35,919,281 shares issued in 2003, 2002 and 2001

Beginning and end of year .. ...... ... ... oL it 9,122 9,122 9,122
Additional paid-in capital:
Beginning-of year ........ ... .. 239,492 239,403 239,307
Issuance of common shares under leveraged employee stock
ownershipplan. ....... ... . i (509) 89 96
Endof year ... .. .. 238,983 239,492 239,403
Accumulated other comprehensive income:

Beginning of year ....... ... . .. (40,580)  (45,197)  (44,879)
Foreign currency translation ............. ... ... ... ... ... 3,781 (25,031) (7,253)
Fair market value of cash flow hedge........................ (6,318) 8,942 (1,186)
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments ....................... (12,648) 20,706 8,121

Endof year . ... .. i (55,765)  (40,580)  (45,197)

Retained earnings:

Beginning of year ... ... i 606,171 666,574 721,647
Net earnings/ (108S) ... oot (24,986)  (47,440) (42,110)
Preferred stock dividends:

Series A ($2.13 per share for 2003, 2002 and 2001) ......... (12,963)  (12,963)  (12,963)

Endof year ... .. . 568,222 606,171 666,574

Less treasury. stock:

Beginning of year ....... ... ... (419,970) (409,816) (400,199)
NeEt INCIaSE. . oottt et (1,408)  (10,154) (9,617)

End of year .. ..ot {421,378) (419,970) (409,816)

Less Unearned employee stock ownership plan shares:

Beginning of year ....... ... ... (14,152)  (15,173)  (16,366)
Purchase of shares ....... ... .. ... ... . . .. (72) (46)
Shares allocated to participants. ................ciiiviian... 975 1,093 1,239

End of year .. ... (13,177) (14,152  (15,173)

Total stockholders’ equity .. ...t $ 327,448 381,524 446,354

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated. financial statements.
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AMERCO AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES AND
SAC HOLDING CORPORATION, SAC HOLDING II CORPORATION
AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ (LOSS)

Years Ended March 31,

Restated Restated
2003 2002 2001

(In thousands)

Comprehensive income/ (loss):

Net earnings/ (J0S8) ..ottt e $(24,986) (47,440) (42,110)
Other comprehensive income/ (loss) net of tax
Foreign currency translation ....................... P 3,781  (25,031)  (7,253)
Fair market value of cash flow hedges ................ ... ... ... (6,318) 8,942 (1,186)
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments, net . ..................... (12,648) 20,706 3,121
Total comprehensive income/(1oss) ...ttt $(40,171) (42,823) (42,428)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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AMERCO AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES AND
SAC HOLDING CORPORATION, SAC HOLDING II CORPORATION
AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended March 31,

Restated Restated
2003 2002 2001

(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net earnings/ (10SS) . ..ot e e $ (24,986) (47,440)  (42,110)
Depreciation and amortization. . ................. ... ..., 185,833 149,058 148,026
Provision for losses on accounts receivable .. .. .. B 3,903 5,682 4311
Net gain on sale of real and personal property .................. (10,515) (3,526)  (13,302)
Loss on sale of investments . .. ...... ... ..., 9,497 5,923 6,738
Changes in policy liabilities and accruals .. ..................... (78,314) (6,561) 62,673
Additions to deferred policy acquisition costs . .........oooiiann (42,663)  (39,252)  (42,333)
Net change in other operating assets and liabilities .............. 31,775 (83,515) 48,829

Net cash provided(used)by operating activities ................... 74,530 (19,631) 172,630

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of investments:

Property, plant and equipment ...... ... ... ... ... . oL (243,161) (381,433) (617,274)
Fixed maturities .......... ... . it (278,357) (257,559) (122,864)
Common StOCK . ... — (418) (31,773)
Preferred stock .. ... ..o e — (2,072) —
Other asset INVESIMENTt . .. .. ..ottt i (1,410) (2,259) (5,915)
Real estate . ... i i i i i i e s (21,759) 4,277 (26)
Mortgage L0ans ... ...ttt — (1,351)  (22,563)
Proceeds from sales of investments:
Property, plant and equipment ............. ... .. ... 0. 96,889 229,375 354,240
Fixed maturities ... ... ...t 364,114 233,716 152,761
Commonstock .................. B _ — 6,194
Preferred stock .. ..ot e e 2,885 4,400 372
Real estate . ........... U O 22,043 3,700 —_
Mortgage 1oans .......... .. 18,173 18,690 17,224
Changes in other investments ......... ... ... ... . .. 4,481 2,897 —
Net cash (used) by investing activities ....................... ... (36,102) (148,087) (269,624)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Net change in short-term borrowings . ................ ... .. ... 21,900 (9,277) 156,070
Proceeds from notes . . ... ... ... . 349,836 247,893 94,077
Debt 1SSUance CostS. . ..ot (3,010) (390) {694)

Leveraged Employee Stock Ownership Plan:

Purchase of shares ........ ... .. . i — (72) (46)
Paymentsonloan ............ ... .. .o, R 975 1,093 1,239
Principal payments on notes .......... .. i (442,112) (107,181) (143,594)
Treasury stock acquisitions, net........... . ..., (1,408)  (10,154) (9,617)
Preferred stock dividends paid. ........ ... . .. il (6,480)  (12,963)  (12,963)
Investment contract deposits .. ......vvinrv et 165,281 150,432 86,657
Investment contract withdrawals. ............................. (98,022)  (99,845)  (72,953)
Net cash provided (used) by financing activities .................. (13,040) 159,536 98,176
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents.................. 25,388 (8,182) 1,182
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year ................... 41,446 49,628 48,446
Cash and cash équivalents at end of year ........................ $ 66,834 41,446 49,628

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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AMERCO AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES AND
SAC HOLDING CORPORATION, SAC HOLDING II CORPORATION
AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Organization

AMERCO, a Nevada corporation (“AMERCQ?”), is the holding company for U-Haul International,
Inc. (“U-Haul”), which conducts moving and storage operations; Amerco Real Estate Company (“Real
Estate”), which conducts real estate operations; Republic Western Insurance Company (“RepWest™), which
conducts property and casualty insurance operations; and Oxford Life Insurance Company (“Oxford”), which
conducts life insurance operations. Unless the context otherwise requires, the term “Company” refers to
AMERCO and all of its legal subsidiaries. All references to a fiscal year refer to AMERCO’s fiscal year ended
March 31 of that year.

SAC Holding Corporation and SAC Holding II Corporation and their consolidated subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as SAC Holdings) are majority owned by Mark V. Shoen. Mark V. Shoen is the
beneficial owner of 16.3% of AMERCO’s common stock and is an executive officer of U-Haul.

Going Concern Basis

On June 20, 2003 (the “Petition Date”), AMERCO filed a voluntary petition for relief under Chapter 11
of the United States Bankruptcy Code (the “Bankruptcy Code™) in the United States Bankruptcy Court,
District of Nevada (the “Bankruptcy Court”) (Case No. 0352103). AMERCO will continue to manage its
properties and operate its businesses as “debtor-in-possession” under the jurisdiction of the Bankruptcy Court
and in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code. In general, as debtor-in-possession,
AMERCO is authorized under Chapter 11 to continue to operate as an ongoing business, but may not engage
in transactions outside the ordinary course of business without the prior approval of the Bankruptcy Court.
Specific information pertaining to the bankruptcy filing may be obtained from the website www.amerco.com.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming the Company will
continue as a going concern, which contemplates the continuity of the Company’s operations and realization of
its assets and payments of its liabilities in the ordinary course of business. The uncertainties inherent in the
bankruptcy process raise substantial doubt about AMERCO’s ability to continue as a going concern.
AMERCO is currently operating its business as a debtor-in-possession under the jurisdiction of the
bankruptcy court, and continuation of the Company as a going concern is contingent upon, among other
things, the confirmation of a plan of reorganization, the Company’s ability to comply with all debt covenants
under the existing debtor-in-possession financing arrangement, and obtaining financing sources to meet its
future obligations. If a reorganization plan is not approved, it is possible some assets of the Company may be
liquidated. The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments to reflect future effects on
the recoverability and classification of assets or the amount and classification of liabilities that might result
from the outcome of these uncertainties.

The Chapter 11 filing was undertaken to facilitate a restructuring of AMERCO’s debt in response to
liquidity issues which developed during the second half of 2002. In February 2002, the Company’s prior
independent auditor advised the Company that its financial statements would have to be consolidated for
reporting purposes with those of SAC Holdings. This consolidation, and the resulting lack of clarity regarding
AMERCO’s operating results and financial condition, contributed substantially and directly to a series of
significant developments adversely impacting the Company’s access to capital. The consoclidation of SAC
Holdings resulted in a material decrease in the Company’s reported net earnings and net worth and a
corresponding increase in its consolidated leverage ratios. Consolidating SAC Holdings also required a costly
and time-consuming restatement of prior period results that led to the untimely filing of quarterly and annual
reports with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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AMERCO AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES AND
SAC HOLDING CORPORATION, SAC HOLDING II CORPORATION
AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

As the situation was occurringg, AMERCO was attempting to negotiate the replacement of its
$400 million credit facility with JP Morgan Chase. On June 28, 2002, AMERCO entered into a new credit
facility with JP Morgan Chase, which reduced AMERCO’s line of credit to $205 million. The terms of the
new JP Morgan Chase facility required that AMERCO raise $150 million through a capital markets
transaction prior to October 15, 2002. Additionally AMERCO had payments for principal and related swap
arrangements under AMERCO’s Series 1997-C Bond Backed Asset Trust (“BBAT"”) maturing October 15,
2002. In response to these requirements, AMERCO undertook a $275 million bond offering. The bond
offering was ultimately unsuccessful, exemplifying AMERCO’s significantly reduced access to the capital
markets to meet its financial needs due to, among other things, the confusion and adverse perception resulting
from the SAC Holdings consolidation. On October 15, 2002, AMERCO defaulted on the repayment of the
BBATSs, which led to cross-defaults and an acceleration of substantially all of the other outstanding
instruments in the Company’s debt structure.

Since that time, AMERCO has continuously negotiated with its creditor groups to attempt to reach a
consensual restructuring arrangement that would provide for the repayment of all creditors and the
maintenance of AMERCO’s existing equity. However, while substantial progress has been made in
. negotiations with certain key creditor constituencies, the complexity of AMERCOQO’s capital structure and the
diversity of interests of the creditor groups has made an equitable and consensual restructuring, outside of
formal reorganization proceedings, exceedingly difficult. Accordingly, AMERCO filed its Chapter 11
proceeding to.provide the structure and framework to finalize and implement a restructuring of all of its debt.

We have: secured from Wells Fargo Foothill a $300 million debtor-in-possession financing facility (the
“DIP Facility”), and a commitment for a $650 million bankruptcy emergence facility. These financing
arrangements provide the basic foundation upon which AMERCO plans to build its reorganization plan. On
August 13, 2003, Amerco Real Estate Company (“Real Estate”) was filed into Chapter 11 proceedings in
order to facilitate granting security to the lending group in real estate assets. Real Estate administers all of the
Company’s real property and owns approximately 90 percent of the Company’s real estate assets.

The exit or emergence financing facility will be used to fund cash payments to AMERCO’s creditors,
with the balance of the creditor claims being paid through the issuance of new, restructured debt securities at
market interest rates. Notwithstanding AMERCO’s default on the BBATs in October 2002, and the resulting
cross-defaults under AMERCQ’s other debt facilities, until the Petition Date AMERCO has remained
current in interest payments on all of its debt obligations, in many cases at default interest rates.

In order to exit Chapter 11 successfully, AMERCO will need to propose, and obtain confirmation by the
Bankruptey Court of, a plan of reorganization that satisfies the requirements of the Bankruptcy Code. A plan
of reorganization would resolve, among other things, AMERCO’s pre-petition obligations and set forth the
revised capital structure. The timing of filing a plan of reorganization by AMERCO will depend on the timing
and outcome of numerous other ongoing matters in the Chapter 11 case. Although AMERCO expects to file a
“full-value” plan of reorganization that provides creditors with a combination of cash and new debt securities
equal to the full amount of their allowed claims as well as AMERCO’s emergence from bankruptcy as.a going
concern, there can be no assurance at this time that a plan of reorganization will be confirmed by the
Bankruptcy Court or that any such plan will be implemented successfully.

Under Section 362 of the Bankruptcy Code, the filing of a bankruptcy petition automatically stays most
actions against a debtor, including most actions to collect pre-petition indebtedness or to exercise control over
the property of the debtor’s estate. Absent an order of the Bankruptcy Court, substantially all pre-petition
liabilities are subject to settlement under the plan of reorganization.
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AMERCO AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES AND
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Under Section 365 of the Bankruptcy Code, AMERCO may assume, assume and assign, or reject certain
executory contracts and unexpired leases, subject to the approval of the Bankruptcy Court and certain other
conditions. In general, rejection of an unexpired lease or executory contract is treated as a pre-petition breach
of the lease or contract in question. Subject to certain exceptions, this rejection relieves AMERCO of
performing its future obligations under that lease or contract but entitles the lessor or contract counterparty to
a pre-petition general unsecured claim for damages caused by the deemed breach.

Counterparties to these rejected contracts or leases may file proofs of claim against AMERCO’s estate
for such damages. Generally, the assumption of an executory contract or unexpired lease requires a debtor to
cure most existing defaults under such executory contract or unexpired lease.

The United States Trustee for the District of Nevada (the “U.S. Trustee”) has appointed an official
committee of unsecured creditors {the “Creditors’ Committee”) and an Equity Committee. The Creditors’
Committee and Equity Committee and their respective legal representatives have a right to be heard on
certain matters that come before the Bankruptcy Court. There can be no assurance that the Creditors’
Committee and Equity Committee will support AMERCO’s positions or AMERCO’s ultimate plan of
reorganization, once proposed, and disagreements between AMERCO and the Creditors’ Committee and
Equity Committee could protract the Chapter 11 case, could negatively impact AMERCO’s ability to operate
during the Chapter 11 case, and could prevent AMERCO’s emergence from Chapter 11. At this time, it is not
possible to predict accurately the effect of the Chapter 11 reorganization process on the Company’s business or
when AMERCO may emerge from Chapter 11. The Company’s future results depend on the timely and
successful confirmation and implementation of a plan of reorganization. The rights and claims of various
creditors and security holders will be determined by the plan as well. Although AMERCO expects to file and
consummate a “full value” plan of reorganization that provides creditors with a combination of cash and new
debt securities equal to the full amount of their allowed claims and also preserves the value of AMERCO’s
common and preferred stock, no assurance can be given as to what values, if any, will be ascribed in the
bankruptcy proceedings to each of these constituencies. Accordingly, the Company urges that appropriate
caution be exercised with respect to existing and future investments in any of such securities and claims.

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to the 2002 and 2001 financial statements to conform to the
2003 presentation. '

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of AMERCO and its wholly-owned
subsidiaries and SAC Holdings and their subsidiaries. All material intercompany accounts and transactions
have been eliminated in consolidation. Except for minority investments made by RepWest and Oxford in a
SAC Holdings-controlled limited partnership, which holds Canadian self-storage properties, the Company has
not had any equity ownership interest in SAC Holdings.

RepWest, which consists of Republic Western Insurance Company and its wholly-owned subsidiary
North American Fire & Casualty Insurance Company (“NAFCIC”), and Oxford, which consists of Oxford
Life Insurance company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries North American Insurance Company (“NAI”)
and Christian Fidelity Life Insurance Company (“CFLIC”), have been consolidated on the basis of calendar
years ended December 31. Accordingly, all references to the years 2002, 2001 and 2000 correspond to
AMERCQO’s fiscal years 2003, 2002, and 2001, respectively.
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The operating results and financial position of AMERCO’s consolidated insurance operations are
determined as of December 31 of each year. There were no effects related to intervening events between
January 1 and. March 31 of 2003, 2002, or 2001 that would materially affect the consolidated financial position
or results of operations for the financial statements presented herein.

See Note 22 for additional information regarding the insurance subsidiaries and for financial information
regarding the industry segments.

Description of Operating Segment

U-Haul moving and self-storage operations consist of the rental of trucks and trailers, sales of moving
supplies, sales: of trailer hitches, sales of propane, and the rental of self-storage spaces to the do-it-yourself
mover. Operations are conducted under the registered tradename U-Haul® throughout the United States and
Canada.

SAC moving and self-storage operations consist of the rental of self-storage spaces, sales of moving
supplies, sales of trailer hitches, and sales of propane. In addition, SAC functions as an independent dealer and
earns commissions from the rental of U-Haul trucks and trailers. Operations are conducted under the
registered tradename U-Haul® throughout the United States and Canada.

Real Estate owns approximately 90% of the Company’s real estate assets, including U-Haul Center and
Storage locations. The remainder of the real estate assets are owned by various U-Haul entities. Real Estate is
responsible for overseeing property acquisitions, dispositions and managing environmental risks of the
properties.

RepWest originates and reinsures property and casualty insurance products for various market partici-
pants, including independent third parties, U-Haul’s customers, and the Company.

Oxford originates and reinsures annuities, credit life and disability, life insurance, and supplemental
health products. Oxford also administers the self-insured employee health and dental plans for the Company.
Foreign Currency

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of U-Haul Co. (Canada) Ltd., a subsidiary of
U-Haul. The assets and liabilities, denominated in foreign currency, are translated into U.S. dollars at the
exchange rate as of the balance sheet date. Revenue and expense amounts are translated at average monthly
exchange rates. The related translation gains or losses are included in the Consolidated Statements of Changes
in Stockholders’ Equity and Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income/ (Loss).

Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the financial
statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company and SAC Holdings consider liquid investments with an original maturity of three months
or less to be cash equivalents.
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Revenue Recognition Policies

Rental revenue is recognized over the period trucks and equipment are rented. Sales are recognized at the
time title passes and the customer accepts delivery. Premium revenues are recognized over the policy periods.
Interest and investment income are recognized as earned.

Receivables

Accounts receivable include trade accounts from customers and dealers. RepWest and Oxford receiv-
ables include premiums and agents’ balances due, net of commissions payable and amounts due from ceding
reinsurers. Accounts receivable are reduced by amounts considered by management to be uncollectible based
on historical collection loss experience and a review of the current status of existing receivables.

Notes and mortgage receivables include accrued interest and are reduced by discounts and amounts
considered by management to be uncollectible.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. Cost is primarily determined using the LIFO (last-
in, first-out) method. ‘

Investments

Fixed maturities consist of bonds and redeemable preferred stocks. Fair values for investments are based
on quoted market prices, dealer quotes or discounted cash flows. Fixed maturities are classified as follows:

+ Held-to-maturity — recorded at cost adjusted for the amortization of premiums or accretion of
discounts.

+ Available-for-sale — recorded at fair value with unrealized gains or losses reported on a net basis in the
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity unless such changes are deemed to be
other than temporary. Gains and losses on the sale of these securities are reported as a component of
revenues using the specific identification method.

Mortgage loans & notes on real estate — at unpaid balances, net of allowance for possible losses and any
unamortized premium or discount.

Real estate — at cost less accumulated depreciation.

Policy loans — at their unpaid balance.

Investment income is recognized as follows:

» Interest on bonds and mortgage loans & notes — recognized when earned.

» Dividénds on common and redeemable preferred stocks — recognized on ex-dividend dates.

+ Realized gains and losses on the sale of investments — recognized at the trade date and included in
revenues using the specific identification method.

~» Short-term investments consist of other securities scheduled to mature within one year of their
acquisition date. See Note 5 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs

Commissions and other costs, which vary with and are primarily related to the production of new business
have been deferred.

For Oxford, costs are amortized in relation to revenue such that costs are realized as a constant
percentage of revenue.

For RepWest, costs are amortized over the related contract period which generally do not exceed one
year.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost and are depreciated on the straight-line and accelerated
methods over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Building and non-rental equipment have estimated lives
ranging from three to fifty-five years, while rental equipment have estimated lives ranging from two to twenty
years. Maintenance is charged to operating expenses as incurred, while renewals and betterments are
capitalized. Major overhaul costs are amortized over the estimated period benefited. Gains and losses on
dispositions are netted against depreciation expense when realized. Interest costs incurred as part of the initial
construction of assets are capitalized. Interest of $732 thousand, $2.0 million and $2.5 million was capitalized
during fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

During fiscal year 2002, based on an in-depth market analysis, U-Haul decreased the estimated salvage
value and increased the useful lives of certain rental trucks. The effect of the change reduced net losses for
fiscal year 2002 by $3.1 million ($0.15 per share) net of taxes. The in-house analysis of sales of trucks was
completed for the fiscal years ending March 31, 1996 through March 31, 2001. The study compared the truck
model, size, age and average residual value of units sold for each fiscal year indicated. The analysis revealed
that average residual values (as computed) when compared to sales prices were not reflective of the values
that the Company was receiving upon disposition. Based on the analysis, the estimated residual values were
decreased to approximately 25% of historic cost. In addition, this analysis revealed that our estimates of useful
lives were not reflective of the economic lives of our trucks, which ultimately were being utilized by the
Company for longer periods of time. Thus the useful lives for certain of our trucks were increased by
approximately 3 years. The adjustment reflects management’s best estimate, based on information available,
of the estimated salvage value and useful lives of these rental trucks.

The Company reviews property, plant and equipment for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be fully recoverable through expected
undiscounted future operating cash flows.

The carrying value of the Company’s real estate that is no longer necessary for use in its current
operations, and available for sale/lease, at March 31, 2003 and 2002, was approximately $13.0 million and
$18.4 million respectively. Such properties available for sale are carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation,
which is less than fair market value and is included in investments, other.

Environmental Costs

Liabilities for future remediation costs are recorded when environmental assessments and remedial
efforts, if applicable, are probable and the costs can be reasonably estimated. The liability is based on the
Company’s best estimate of undiscounted future costs. Certain recoverable environmental costs related to the
removal of underground storage tanks or related contamination are capitalized and depreciated over the
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estimated useful lives of the properties. The capitalized costs improve the safety or efficiency of the property as
compared to when the property was originally acquired or are incurred in preparing the property for sale.

Financial Instruments

Historically AMERCO has entered into interest rate swap agreements to reduce its floating interest rate
exposure and does not use the agreements for trading purposes. Although the counterparties to the agreements
expose AMERCO to credit loss for the interest rate differential in the event of nonperformance, it does not
anticipate nonperformance by the counterparties.

For the years ended March 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, AMERCO recognized $0 thousand, $16 thousand
and $16 thousand as interest income, respectively, representing the ineffectiveness of the cash fiow hedging
activity.

The Company has mortgage receivables, which potentially expose the Company to credit risk. The
portfolio of notes is principally collateralized by mini-warchouse storage facilities and other residential and
commercial properties. The Company has not experienced losses related to the notes from individual notes or
groups of notes in any particular industry or geographic area. The estimated fair values were determined using
the discounted cash flow method, using interest rates currently offered for similar loans to borrowers with
similar credit ratings.

Fair Value Summary of Note and Mortgage Receivables

Note and mortgage receivables are carried at $14.1 million and $14.6 million in 2003 and 2002, fair value
of these receivables approximates carrying value.

Other financial instruments that are subject to fair value disclosure requirements are carried in the
financial statements at amounts that approximate fair value, unless elsewhere disclosed. See below, as well as
Notes 5 and 6 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Company’s financial instruments that are exposed to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of
temporary cash investments, trade receivables and notes receivable. The Company places its temporary cash
investments with financial institutions and limits the amount of credit exposure to any one financial institution.
Concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade receivables are limited due to the large number of customers
and their dispersion across many different industries and geographic areas.

Policy Benefits and Losses, Claims and Loss Expenses Payable

Liabilities for policy benefits payable on traditional life and certain annuity policies are established in
amounts adequate to meet estimated future obligations on policies in force. These liabilities are computed
using mortality and withdrawal assumptions, which are based upon recognized actuarial tables and contain
margins for adverse deviation. At December 31, 2002, interest assumptions used to compute policy benefits
payable range from 2.5% to 9.25%.

The liability for annuity contracts, which are accounted for as investment contract deposits, consists of
contract account balances that accrue to the benefit of the policyholders, excluding surrender charges.
Carrying value of investment contract deposits were $640.0 million and $572.8 million at December 31, 2002
and 2001, respectively.

Liabilities for health and disability and other policy claims and benefits payable represent estimates of
payments to be made on insurance claims for reported losses and estimates of losses incurred but not yet
reported. These estimates are based on past claims experience and consider current claim trends.
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RepWest’s liability for reported and unreported losses is based on RepWest’s historical and industry
averages. The: liability for unpaid loss adjustment expenses is based on historical ratios of loss adjustment
expenses paid o losses paid. Amounts recoverable from reinsurers on unpaid losses are estimated in a manner
consistent with the claim liability associated with the reinsured policy. Adjustments to the Liability for unpaid
losses and loss expenses as well as amounts recoverable from reinsurers on unpaid losses are charged or
credited to expense in periods in which they are made.

Income Taxes

AMERCO files a consolidated federal income tax return with its subsidiaries, except for NAI and
CFLIC, which file on a stand alone basis. SAC Holdings files a consolidated return with its subsidiaries. SAC
Holdings 11 files a consolidated return with its subsidiaries. For tax purposes AMERCO and SAC returns are
not consolidated with one another. The provision for income taxes reflects deferred income taxes resulting
from changes in temporary differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their reported
amounts in the financial statements in accordance with SFAS No. 109.

Advertising Costs

The Company expenses advertising costs as incurred. Advertising expense of $39.9 million, $37.8 million
and $37.9 million was charged to operations for fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

New Accounting Standards

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 143, Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations,
requires recognition of the fair value of liabilities associated with the retirement of long-lived assets when a
legal obligation to incur such costs arises as a result of the acquisition, construction, development and/or the
normal operation of a long-lived asset. Upon recognition of the liability, a corresponding asset is recorded at
present value and accreted over the life of the asset and depreciated over the remaining life of the long-lived
asset. SFAS 143 defines a legal obligation as one that a party is required to settle as a result of an existing or
enacted law, statute, ordinance, or written or oral contract or by legal construction of a contract under the
doctrine of promissory estoppel. SFAS 143 is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2002. We have
adopted this statement effective April 1, 2003 and we do not expect it to have a material effect on the
Company’s financial position, results of operation or cash flows,

In October 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-
Lived Assets. SFAS 144 requires that long-lived assets be measured at the lower of carrying amount or fair
value less cost to sell, whether reported in continuing operations or in discontinued operations. Therefore,
discontinued operations will no longer be measured at net realizable value or include amounts for operating
losses that have not yet occurred. SFAS 144 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2001 and, generally, are to be applied prospectively. We have adopted this
statement effective April 1, 2002 and it did not affect our consolidated financial position or results of
operations.

In April 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 145, Rescission of No. 4, {Reporting Gains and Losses from
Extinguishment of Debt), No. 44 (Accounting for Intangible Assets of Motor Carriers), No. 64, (Extinguish-
ments of Debt Made to Satisfy Sinking-Fund Requirements), Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13
(Accounting for Leases) and Technical Corrections. This statement eliminates the current requirement that
gains and losses on debt extinguishment must be classified as extraordinary items in the income statement.
Instead, such gains and losses will be classified as extraordinary items only if they are deemed to be unusual
and infrequent, in accordance with the current GAAP criteria for extraordinary classification. In addition,
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SFAS 145 eliminates an inconsistency in lease accounting by requiring that modification of capital leases that
result in reclassification as operating leases be accounted for consistent with sale-leaseback accounting rules.
The statement also contains other nonsubstantive corrections to authoritative accounting literature. The
changes related to debt extinguishment will be effective for fiscal years beginning after May 15, 2002, and the
changes related to lease accounting will be effective for transactions occurring after May 15, 2002. We have to
reclassify debt extinguishments expense net of taxes, previously reported as extraordinary to interest expense.
The effect was to increase interest expense by $3.3 million and $0.5 million and the benefit for income taxes by
$1.2 million and $0.2 million for the fiscal years 2001 and 2000 respectively.

In April 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 149, “Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities.” This Statement amends and clarifies the accounting for derivative
instruments, including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts and for hedging activities
under SFAS No. 133. In particular, SFAS No. 149 (1) clarifies under what circumstances a contract with an
initial net investment meets the characteristic of a derivative as discussed in SFAS No. 133, (2) clarifies when
a derivative contains a financing component, (3) amends the definition of an underlying derivative to conform
it to the language used in FASB Interpretation No. 45, Guarantor Accounting and Disclosure Requirements
for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others, and (4) amends certain other
existing pronouncements. SFAS No. 149 is generally effective for contracts entered into or modified after
June 30, 2003. The Company does not believe the adoption of SFAS No. 149 will have a material impact on
the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with
Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity.” This Statement establishes standards for classifying and
measuring as liabilities certain financial instruments that embody obligations of the issuer and have
characteristics of both liabilities and equity. SFAS No. 150 is effective at the beginning of the first interim
period beginning after June 15, 2003; including all financial instruments created or modified after May 31,
2003. SFAS No. 150 currently has no impact on the Company.

In June 2002, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 146, (SFAS 146)
Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities, which addresses accounting for restructuring
and similar costs. SFAS 146 supersedes previous accounting guidance, principally Emerging Issues Task
Force (EITF) Issue No. 94-3. SFAS 146 requires that the liability for costs associated with an exit or disposal
activity be recognized when the liability is incurred. Under EITF No. 94-3, a liability for an exit cost was
recognized at the date of a company’s commitment to an exit plan. SFAS 146 also establishes that the liability
should initially be measured and recorded at fair value. Accordingly, SFAS 146 may affect the timing of
recognizing future restructuring costs as well as the amount recognized. The provisions of this Statement are
effective for exit or disposal activities that are initiated after December 31, 2002. We have adopted this
statement effective January 1, 2003, and it did not effect our consolidated financial position or results of
operations.

In November 2002, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 45, Guarantor's Accounting for
Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others, an
interpretation of FASB Statements No. 35, 57, and 107 and rescission of FASB Interpretation No. 34,
Disclosure of Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others (“FIN 45). FIN 45 clarifies the requirements
for a guarantor’s accounting for and disclosure of certain guarantees issued and outstanding. It also requires a
guarantor to recognize, at the inception of a guarantee, a liability for the fair value of the obligation undertaken
in issuing the guarantee. This Interpretation also incorporates without reconsideration the guidance in FASB
Interpretation No. 34, which is being superseded. The Company entered into a support party agreement for
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$70 million of indebtedness of an affiliate. Under the terms of FIN 45, the Company recognized a liability in
the amount of $70 million, which management estimated to be the fair value of the guarantee.

In December 2002, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 148, “Account-
ing for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure” (“FAS 148”), which amends Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (“FAS 1237).
FAS 148 provides alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value based method of
accounting for stock-based employee compensation. In addition, FAS 148 amends the disclosure requirement
of FAS 123 to require more prominent and more frequent disclosures in financial statements of the effects of
stock-based compensation. The transition guidance and annual disclosure provisions of FAS 148 are effective
for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2002. The interim disclosure provisions are effective for financial
reports containing condensed financial statements for interim periods beginning after December 15, 2002. The
Company does not have any stock based compensation plans and the adoption of FAS 148 is not expected to
have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet or results of operations.

In January 2003, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest
Entities, an interpretation of Accounting Research Bulletins (“ARB”) No. 51, Consolidated Financial
Statements (“FIN 46”). FIN 46 applies immediately to variable interest entities created after January 31,
2003, and in the first interim period beginning after June 15, 2003 for variable interest entities created prior to
January 31, 2003. The interpretation explains how to identify variable interest entities and how an enterprise
assesses its interests in a variable interest entity to decide whether to consolidate that entity. The interpretation
requires existing unconsolidated variable interest entities to be consolidated by their primary beneficiaries if
the entities do not effectively disperse risks among parties involved. Variable interest entities that effectively
disperse risks will not be consolidated unless a single party holds an interest or combination of interests that
effectively recombines risks that were previously dispersed. The Company has determined that Private Mini is
a Variable Interest Entity and will need to be consolidated beginning in July 2003. The impact of this on the
consolidated financial statements is to increase assets by approximately $320.0 million and increase debt by
approximately $308.0 million. AMERCO also determined that SAC qualifies as a Variable Interest Entity
and will continue to be consolidated.

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per common share are computed based on the weighted average number of shares
outstanding for the year and quarterly periods, excluding shares of the employee stock ownership plan that
have not been committed to be released. Preferred dividends include undeclared (i.e. contractual) or unpaid
dividends of AMERCO. Net income is reduced for preferred dividends for the purpose of the calculation. For
the purpose of calculating earnings per share, the Company aggregates both the Series A Common and the
Common Stock.

Comprehensive Income/ (Loss)

Comprehensive income/ (loss) consists of net income, foreign currency translation adjustment, unreal-
ized gains and losses on investments and fair market value of cash flow hedges, net of the related tax effects.

2. Restatements and Reclassifications

The Company has identified various adjustments to its previously issued consolidated financial state-
ments. The following table highlights the effects of the restatement adjustments on the previously reported
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consolidated statement of operations for fiscal 2002 and 2001, and 2001 beginning retained earnings. All notes
and schedules have been restated as appropriate.

Net Net
Income/ (Loss) Income/ (Loss) April 1, 2000
Fiscal 2002 Fiscal 2001 Retained Earnings
(In thousands)
As previously reported .. ... ... L oLl $ 2,721 1,012 738,805
Adjustments to net income/ (loss):
Insurance reserves(a) ........... ... ... (55,570) (56,255) (13,320)
Investments in Private Mini(b) .............. (9,729) (8,392) (8,132)
Capitalized G&A costs(e) ..., (900) — (31,749)
Accrued property taxes(d) .................. — — (3,600)
Fixed assets(e) .......... ... ... 3,846 (4,829) —
Cash surrender value(f) .. ................ ... (3,943) 636 3,307
Impairment of real estate investments(g) ...... (2,366) — —
Other(h) ... (860) 800 (5,156)
Pretax adjustments . ...................... (69,522) (68,040) (58,650)
Income tax benefit(i)....................... 19,361 24,918 41,492
Asrestated: ...... ... ... i $(47,440) (42,110) 721,647

2002 net income, 2001 net income, and beginning retained earnings were adjusted by $50.2 million,
$43.1 million, and $17.2 million, respectively, after tax as a result of the following restatement adjustments:

(a) To accrue for fully-developed actuarial estimates of the Company’s insurance reserves.

(b) To recognize equity-method losses relating to the Company’s investments in Private Mini
Storage Realty, L.P.

(¢) To write-down unamortized capitalized G&A costs.

(d) To adjust property tax under-accruals.

(e) To correct net depreciation expense and gains and losses on the disposition of fixed assets.
(f) To record changes in the cash surrender value of life insurance in the proper periods.

(g) To record impairment of real estate in the proper period.

(h) Other miscellaneous adjustments.

(i) To record the income tax effects of the restatement adjustments.
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3. Trade Receivables, Notes and Mortgage Receivables, Net

A summary of trade receivables follows:

March 31,
2003 2002
(In thousands)
Trade accounts receivable . .. ... .. .. $ 14,082 24,778
Premiums and agents’ balances ............ ...t 40,401 54,630
Reinsurance recoverable .......... i e 165,464 155,176
Accrued investment INCOME .. ... ... ...ttt i, 10,405 11,827
Independent dealer receivable ......... ... ... .. .. il 1,349 1,718
Other receivables .. ... .ot e 34,319 29,369
266,020 277,498
Less allowance for doubtful accounts ........ ... ... .. ... ... . ... .. (2,283) (2,628)

$263,737 274,870

A small portion of the independent dealer receivables set forth in the table above originates from
transactions with related parties. See also Note 19.

A summary of notes and mortgage receivables follows:

March 31,
2003 2002
(In thousands)
Notes, mortgage receivables and other, net of discount ..................... $2,938 7,349
Less allowance for doubtful accounts ........... ..., (70) (70)
$2,868 7,279
4. Inventories, Net
A summary of inventory components follows:
' March 31,
2003 2002
. (In thousands)
Truck and trailer parts and accessOTIes .. .....coviiinnineiin .. $33,256 43,075
Hitches :and towing components. . .......... ..., 10,389 12,033
Moving supplies and promotional items ............ ... ... .. oL 9,625 10,668

$53,270 65,776

Inventories are stated net of reserve for obsolescence of $4.9 million and $2.7 million at March 31, 2003
and 2002, respectively.

LIFO inventories, which represent approximately 99% and 96% of total inventories at March 31, 2003
and 2002, respectively, would have been $4.9 million greater at March 31, 2003 and 2002, if the consolidated
group had used the FIFO (first-in, first-out) method.
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5. Investments, Fixed Maturities & Other

A comparison of amortized cost to estimated market value for fixed maturities is as follows:

Gross Gross Estimated
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Market
Cost Gains Losses Value
, (In thousands)
DECEMBER 31, 2002
CONSOLIDATED HELD-TO-MATURITY
U.S. treasury securities and government obligations . ... ... $ 500 170 — 670
U.S. government agency mortgage-backed securities ... ...
Corporate Securities . .. ... oot
Mortgage-backed securities ......... ... ... ... 15,683 583 — 16,266
Redeemable preferred stocks .............. . ... . ...,
16,183 753 — 16,936
DECEMBER 31, 2002
CONSOLIDATED AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE
U.S. treasury securities and government obligations ... .. .. $ 31,697 3,405 (49) 35,053
U.S. government agency mortgage-backed securities . ... .. 10,182 201 (13) 10,370
Obligations of states and political subdivisions ........... 3,974 232 4,206
Corporate securities. .. ......covvn i 574,334 25,996 (25,392) 574,938
Mortgage-backed securities ........... ... ... L 95,893 2,206 (4,316) 93,783
Redeemable preferred stocks ............... .. i 126,301 1,558 (2,962) 124,897
Redeemable common stocks ............. ... .. L. 1,101 304 (235) 1,170
843,482 33,902 (32,967) 844,417
Total ..o $859,665 34,655 (32,967) 861,353
DECEMBER 31, 2001
CONSOLIDATED HELD-TO-MATURITY
U.S. treasury securities and government obligations .. ..... $ 3,289 219 — 3,508
U.S. government agency mortgage-backed securities ... ... 15,155 554 (35) 15,674
Corporate securities. ... ......ovvvt i 42,625 1,219 (97) 43,747
Mortgage-backed securities ........... ... ... . .. 20,648 705 ) 21,352
Redeemable preferred stocks ........ ... . ... o oL 112,350 502 (2,122) 110,730
194,067 3,199 (2,255) 195,011
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Gross Gross Estimated
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Market
Cost Gains Losses Value
: (In thousands)
DECEMBER 31, 2001

CONSOLIDATED AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE

U.S. treasury securities and government obligations ....... $ 40,656 2,223 (128) 42,751

U.S. government agency mortgage-backed securities . . . ... 20,001 843 3) 20,841

Obligations of states and political subdivisions ........... 10,035 344 (2) 10,377

Corporate secprities .................................. 651,125 24,635 (14,792) 660,968

Mortgage-backed securities ............ ..., 26,520 2,128 (865) 27,783

Redeemable preferred stocks .............. ... ... ..... 29,976 314 (422) 29,868

Redeemable common stocks ............ ... ... ... ... 2,434 — (692) 1,742

780,747 30,487 (16,904) 794,330

Total .o e e $974.814 33,686 (19,159) 989,341

Fixed maturities estimated market values are based on publicly quoted market prices at the close of
trading on December 31, 2002 or December 31, 2001, as appropriate.

The amortized cost and estimated market value of debt securities by contractual maturity are shown
below. Expected maturities will differ from contractual maturities as borrowers may have the right to call or
prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties.

December 31, 2002 December 31, 2001
Amortized Estimated Amortized Estimated
Cost Market Value Cost Market Value
(In thousands)

CONSOLIDATED HELD-TO-MATURITY
Dueinone yearorless ......... ..ot $ 19 20 20,652 21,154
Due after one year through five years .............. 204 252 19,457 20,159
Due after five years through ten years.............. 205 287 1,358 1,461
After ten years ... ... i e 72 111 4,447 4,481
. 500 670 45914 47,255
Mortgage-backed securities....................... 15,683 16,266 35,803 37,026
Redeemable preferred stock .............. ... . ... — — 112,350 110,730
‘ $ 16,183 16,936 194,067 195,011

. CONSOLIDATED AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE

Due inone yearorless ............ ..., $ 53,240 53,985 52,290 53,309
Due after one vear through five years .............. 210,765 215,996 259,659 266,002
Due after five years through ten years.............. 181,425 176,645 251,413 254,002
After ten years .. ... 164,575 167,571 138,454 140,733
610,005 614,197 701,816 714,096
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December 31, 2002 December 31, 2001
Amortized Estimated Amortized Estimated
Cost Market Value Cost Market Value
(In thousands)

Mortgage-back¢d SECUITHES . v .o 106,075 104,153 46,521 48,624
Redeemable preferred stock ...................... 126,301 124,897 29,976 29,868
Redeemable common stock ...................... 1,101 1,170 2,434 1,742
843,482 844,417 780,747 794,330

Total ......... R R R $859,665 861,353 974,814 989,341

Proceeds from sales of investments in debt securities for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and
2000 were $248.0 million, $175.9 million and $52.8 million respectively. Gross gains of $6.0 million,
$3.8 million and $733 thousand and gross losses of $2.4 million, $256 thousand and $646 thousand were
realized on those sales for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The Company
realized a write-down of investments due to other than temporary declines approximating $9.8 million,
$6.7 million, and $6.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

At December 31, 2002 and 2001 fixed maturities include bonds with an amortized cost of $11.7 million
and $18.5 million respectively, on deposit with insurance regulatory authorities to meet statutory requirements.

Investments, other consists of the following:

March 31,
2003 2002
(In thousands)
Short-term INVEStMENtS . . ... ot it e e e $111,377 65,934
Mortgage 10ans . ... ...t 67,513 85,455
Real estate ... e 75,014 74,829
Policy 10anS . . ..o 5,784 6,205
Receivable from Private Mini. ....... ... oo i i 125,000 —
Other . o 4,564 8,489

$389,252 240,912
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A summary of net investment and interest income follows:

Year Ended
March 31,
2003 2002 2001
(In thousands)
Fixed maturities ... ...ttt $60,855 67,945 57,379
Real estate .. ... ... i i e 2,438 (1,518) 12
Policy loans .. ... ... 368 1,092 250
Mortgage 10ans . ... oot 8,007 8,796 7,262
Short-term, amounts held by ceding reinsurers, net and other
INVESTIMENTS . v\ttt ettt e e e et (2,176)  (1,575) 4,199
Investment MCOME .. ..ottt ittt e 69,492 74,740 69,102
Less investment eXPenses . . . .o oo ve vt vt e e i (32,388) (30,914) (21,973)
Net InveStmeEnt INCOME ..ottt et e e e inen 37,104 43,826 47,129
Interest INCOME . ... .. . i i e e 4,464 3,517 5,168
Net investment and interest INCOMe . .........oovvneneenn.. $41,568 47,343 52,297

Short-term investments consist primarily of fixed maturities of three months to one year from acquisition
date. Mortgage loans, representing first lien mortgages held by the insurance subsidiaries, are carried at unpaid
balances, less allowance for possible losses and any unamortized premium or discount. Equity investments and
real estate obtained through foreclosures and held for sale are carried at the lower of cost or fair value. Policy
loans are carried at their unpaid balance. Investment expenses include costs incurred in the management of
the investment portfolio and interest credited on annuity policies.

At December 31, 2002 and 2001, mortgage loans held as investments with a carrying value of
$68.0 million, and $85.5 million, respectively, were outstanding. The estimated fair value of the mortgage
loans at December 31, 2002 and 2001 aggregated $68.0 million and $86.4 million, respectively. The estimated
fair values were determined using the discounted cash flow method, using interest rates currently offered for
similar loans to borrowers with similar credit ratings. Investments in mortgage loans, included as a component
of investments, are reported net of allowance for possible losses of $527 thousand and $323 thousand in 2002
and 2001, respectively.

In February 1997, AMERCQO, through its insurance subsidiaries, invested in the equity of Private Mini
Storage Realty, L.P. (Private Mini), a Texas-based self-storage operator. RepWest invested $13.5 million and
has a direct 30.6% interest and an indirect 13.2% interest. Oxford invested $11 million and has a direct 24.9%
interest and an indirect 10.8% interest. U-Haul is a 50% owner of Storage Realty L.L.C., which serves as the
general partner and has a direct 1% interest in Private Mini. AMERCO does not maintain operating control of
Private Mini arid the minority heolders have substantial participation rights. During 1997, Private Mini secured
a line of credit in the amount of $225.0 million with a financing institution, which was subsequently reduced in
accordance with its terms to $125.0 million in December 2001. Under the terms of this credit facility,
AMERCO entered into a support party agreement with Private Mini whereby upon default or noncompliance
with debt covenants by Private Mini, AMERCO assumes responsibility in fulfilling all obligations related to
this credit facility.

At March 31, 2003 AMERCO had become contingently liable for the $55.0 million under the terms of
the support agreement. This resulted in increasing other liabilities by $55.0 million and our investment in a
receivable from Private Mini by $55.0 million. Under the terms of FIN 45, the Company recognized a liability
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in the amount of $70.0 million, which is management’s estimate on the liability associated with the guarantee.
This resulted in increasing other liabilities by $70.0 million and our investment in Private Mini by
$70.0 million. :

On June 30, 2003, RepWest and Oxford exchanged their respective interests in Private Mini for certain
real property owned by certain SAC Holding’s entities. The exchanges were non-monetary and were recorded
on the basis of the book values of the assets exchanged. Private Mini has been determined to be a variable
interest entity as defined by FIN 46. Since the entity was created before January 31, 2003, it will be
consolidated effective July 1, 2003. By virtue of the non-monetary exchange of assets discussed above, SAC
Holdings became the primary beneficiary of the Private Mini variable interests. SAC Holdings will initially
measure the assets and liabilities at their carrying amounts, which is the amounts at which they would have
been recorded in the consolidated financial statements if FIN 46 had been effective at the inception of Private
Mini. Accordingly, on July 1, 2003 SAC Holding’s assets will increase by approximately $320.0 million,
liabilities will increase by approximately $308.0 million, and shareholders’ equity will increase by approxi-
mately $12.0 million. The consolidation of this VIE will not have a material effect on results of operations. For
the year ended December 31, 2002 Private Mini had revenue of approximately $39.0 million and a net loss of
$4.0 million.

6. Notes and Loans Payable
At March 31, 2003 the Company was in default under substantially all of its borrowings due to the cross

default provisions in the agreements. As a result of this default, all amounts in the following charts are
currently due and payable other than borrowings against the cash surrender values of life insurance policies.
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AMERCO’s notes and loans payable consist of the following:

March 31,
2003 2002
(In thousands)
Short-term borrowings, 2.85% interest rate ............. ... $ — 12,500
Notes payable to banks under revolving lines of credit, unsecured, 7.00%

IMEETEST TALES . vt vttt ettt e et ettt et e e e e 205,000 283,000
Notes payable to insurance companies, 9.0% to 11.0%................. 100,000 —
Medium-term notes payable, unsecured, 7.23% to 8.08% interest rates,

due through 2027 ... ... . e 109,500 109,500
Notes payable under Bond Backed Asset Trust, unsecured, 7.14% interest

rate, due through 2002 ... ... ... ... . . ... 100,000 100,000
Notes payable to public, unsecured, 7.85% interest rate, due through

2003 175,000 175,000
Senior Note, unsecured, 7.20% interest rate, due through 2002 ......... —_ 150,000
Senior Note, unsecured, 8.80% interest rate, due through 2005 ......... 200,000 200,000
BBAT option termination. . . .. ...ouuverunne et ane e 26,550 —
Loan against cash surrender value of insurance policy................. 18,229 —
Fair market value SWAP ... ... .. . .. — 775
Debt related to SWAP termination ............cuiuuinineennnnn.. 5,590 R
Other notes payable, secured and unsecured, 7.00% to 11.25% interest

rate, die through 2005 ... .. ... L 194 234

940,063 1,031,009
Financed lease obligations ..................coovviiiioi.., P 14,793 14,792

$954,856 1,045,801

Other notes payable are secured by land and buildings at various locations with a net carrying value of
$6.0 million and $5.5 million at March 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

At March 31, 2003, AMERCO had a revolving credit loan (long-term) available from participating
banks under an agreement, which provided for a credit line of $205 million through June 30, 2005. Depending
on the form of borrowing elected, interest will be based on the London Interbank Offering Rate (LIBOR),
prime rate, the federal funds effective rate, or rates determined by a competitive bid. LIBOR loans include a
spread based upon the senior debt rates of AMERCO. Facility fees paid are based upon the amount of credit
line. As of March 31, 2003, loans outstanding under the revolving credit line totaled $205 million.

At March 31, 2003, AMERCO had short-term borrowings, from its total uncommitted lines of credit of
$59.7 million.
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Revolving Credit Activity Short-Term Borrowing
Year Ended Year Ended
2003 2002 2001 2003 2002 2001

(In thousands, except interest rates)

Weighted average interest rate during the

VAT . o o et 4.6% 3.53% 6.36% N/A 3.59%  6.67%
Interest rate at yearend ................. 7.0% 2.44% 5.68% N/A 263%  596%
Maximum amount outstanding during the

VAL . ¢ ottt e $400,000 283,000 258,000 N/A 33,553 41,500
Average amount outstanding during the year  $248,847 224,667 86,000 N/A 23,531 18,458
Facility fees .. ....... ..., $ 1,537 507 507 N/A N/A N/A

AMERCO has entered into interest rate swap agreements (SWAPS) to potentially mitigate the impact
of changes in interest rates on its floating rate debt. These agreements effectively change AMERCOQ’s interest
rate exposure on $45.0 million of floating rate notes to a weighted average fixed rate of 8.63%. The SWAPS
mature at the time the related notes mature. Incremental interest expense associated with SWAP activity was
$1.5 million, $2.4 million and $1.0 million during 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

As of March 31, 2003, the Company no longer has interest rate swap agreements. All interest rate swap
agreements at March 31, 2002 expired during the year ended March 31, 2003, except for two (2), which were
converted to debt in the amount of $5.6 million.

During fiscal year 2002, AMERCO paid down $102.5 million of 7.44% to 7.52% Medium Term Notes.

During fiscal year 2001, AMERCO extinguished $100.0 million of BBATs with interest of 6.89%
originally due in fiscal year 2011, and $25.0 million of 6.71% Medium-Term notes originally due in fiscal year
2009. This resulted in an extraordinary loss of $2.1 million, net of tax of $1.2 million ($0.10 per share).

Certain of AMERCO’s credit agreements contain restrictive financial and other covenants, including,
among others, covenants with respect to incurring additional indebtedness, maintaining certain financial ratios
and placing certain additional liens on its properties and assets.

Interest paid in cash amounted to $76.6 million, $77.9 million and $92.6 million for fiscal years 2003,
2002 and 2001, respectively.

SAC Holdings’ notes and loans payable, non-recourse to AMERCO consist of the following:

March 31,
2003 2002
(In thousands)

Notes payable, secured, bearing interest rates ranging from 7.50% to 8.82%,
due between 2004 and 2032 .. ... . $590,813 563,922

Less discounts on notes payable . .............. i $ (1,794) (2,035
$589,019 561,887

Secured notes payable are secured by deeds of trusts on the collateralized land and buildings. Principal
and interest payments on notes payable to third-party lenders are due monthly. Certain notes payable contain
provisions whereby the loans may not be prepaid at any time prior to the maturity date without payment to the
lender of a Yield Maintenance Premium, as defined in the loan agreements. The loans on a portfolio of sixteen
properties are cross-collateralized and cross-defaulted.
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The annual maturities of long-term debt for the next five years adjusted for subsequent activity are
presented in the table below:

Year Ended
2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 Thereafter
(In thousands)
Notes payable, secured.......... 79,971 88,236 8,212 8,918 10,323 393,359

Interest paid in cash amounted to $20.1 million, $33.8 million and $23.7 million for fiscal years 2003,
2002 and 2001, respectively.

7. Stockholders’ Equity

AMERCO has authorized capital stock consisting of 150,000,000 shares of common stock,
150,000,000 shares of Serial common stock and 50,000,000 shares of Serial preferred stock. The Board of
Directors may authorize the Serial common stock to be issued in such series and on such terms as the Board
shall determine. Serial preferred stock issuance may be with or without par value.

AMERCO has issued 6,100,000 shares of 8'.% cumulative, no par, non-voting Series A preferred stock
(“Series A”’). The Series A is not convertible into, or exchangeable for, shares of any other class or classes of
stock of AMERCO. Dividends are payable quarterly in arrears and have priority as to dividends over
AMERCOQ’s common stock. On or after December 1, 2000, AMERCO, at its option, may redeem all or part
of the Series A, for cash at $25.00 per share plus accrued and unpaid dividends to the redemption date. Due to
the Chapter 11 filing, AMERCO does not expect to make any dividend payments on the Series A for the
duration of such proceedings. As of March 31, 2003, AMERCO has accrued unpaid dividends of $6.5 million.

8. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income/ (Loss)

A summary of accumulated comprehensive income/ (loss) components follows:

Unrealized Fair Market Accumulated
Foreign Gain/ (Loss) Value of Other
Currency on Cash Flow Comprehensive
Translation Investments Hedge Income
(In thousands)
Balance at March 31,2001 ............. $(35,450) (7,123) (2,624) (45,197)
Foreign currency translation............. (25,031) — — (25,031)
Fair market value of cash flow hedge. . ... — — 8,942 8,942
Unrealized gain on investments.......... — 20,706 — 20,706
Balance at March 31,2002 ............. $(60,481) 13,583 6,318 (40,580)
Foreign currency translation............. 3,781 — — 3,781
Fair market value of cash flow hedge..... — — (6,318) (6,318)
Unrealized (loss) on investments ........ — (12,648) — (12,648)
Balance at March 31,2003 ............. $(56,700) 935 — (55,765)
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9. Earnings Per Share

As of March 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, 6,100,000 shares of preferred stock have been excluded from the
weighted average shares outstanding calculation because they are not common stock equivalents

10. Income Taxes

The components of the consolidated expense/ (benefit) for income taxes applicable to operations are as
follows:

Year Ended
2003 2002 2001
(In thousands)
Current:
Federal ..... .. . e § 4,440 3,831 2,252
Stateand local. . ... ... 2,127 3,591 1,072
Foreign . . e 840 923 1,042
Deferred:
Federal . ... ... e (19,631) (25,136) (24,659)
Stateand local. . ... .. ... ... . (1,711)  (3,100)  (2,251)
Foreign . ..ot e — — —

$(13,935) (19,891) (22,544)

Income taxes paid in cash amounted to $12.8 million, $7.2 million and $6.3 million for fiscal years 2003,
2002 and 2001, respectively.

Actual tax expense reported on earnings from operations differs from the “expected” tax expense amount
(computed by applying the United States federal corporate tax rate of 35% in 2003, 2002 and 2001) as follows:

Year Ended
2003 2002 2001
(In thousands)

Computed “expected” tax expense (benefit)................. (13,622) (23,566) (22,629)
Increases (reductions) in taxes resulting from:

Tax-exempt interest income/ (loss) ........... ... ....... 630 755 —

Dividends received deduction ........... ... ... ... ...... — 914 —

Canadian subsidiary income/(loss) ...................... (1,130)  (1,202) (361)

Federal tax expense/ (benefit) of state and local taxes....... (1,027) (511) (746)

Other ..o (42) 2,305 1,329
Actual federal tax expense/(benefit ........................ (15,191) (21,305) (22,407)
State and local income tax expense/ (benefit) ................ 1,256 1,414 (137)
Actual tax expense/ (benefit) of operations .................. $(13,935) (19,891) (22,544)
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are comprised as follows:
March 31,
2003 2002
(In thousands)

Deferred: tax assets

Tax net operating loss and credit carryforwards . ....................... $ 99,375 88,212
Accrued expenses/ (benefit) . ... ... ... . 127,675 111,301
Deferred revenue from sale/leaseback. ........ ... ... . ... . . . ... .. 5,137 9,893
Policy benefits and losses, claims and loss expenses payable, net ......... 26,596 30,987
Unrealized gains/ (losses) .. ... e 2,043 (4,992)
Total deferred tax assets ..., 260,826 235,401
Deferred tax liabilities Property, plant and equipment .................. 196,525 194,270
Deferred policy acquisition COSIS ... ...ttt i 26,127 24217
O heT . o e 5,932 10,869
Total deferred tax liabilities .. ... . ot 228,584 229,356
Net deferred tax assels ... ...ttt $ 32,242 6,045

Prior to the restatements, AMERCO had a history of profitable operations and management has
concluded that it is more likely than not that AMERCO will ultimately realize the full benefit of its deferred
tax assets. Management has determined it has tax strategies which could be implemented sufficient to recover
all of its deferred tax assets. Accordingly, AMERCO believes that a valuation allowance is not required at
March 31, 2003 and 2002. See also Note 15 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Under the provisions of the Tax Reform Act of 1984 (the Act), the balance in Oxford’s account
designated “‘Policyholders’ Surplus Account” is frozen at its December 31, 1983 balance of $19.3 million.
Federal income taxes (Phase III) will be payable thereon at applicable current rates if amounts in this
account are distributed to the stockholder or to the extent the account exceeds a prescribed maximum. Oxford
did not incur a Phase III Hability for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000.

In connection with the resolution of litigation with certain members of the Shoen family and their
corporations, AMERCO has deducted for income tax purposes approximately $372.0 million of the payments
made to plaintiffs in a lawsuit. While AMERCO believes that such income tax deductions are appropriate,
there can be no assurance that such deductions ultimately will be allowed in full. The IRS has proposed
adjustments to the Company’s 1997 and 1996 tax returns. Nearly all of the adjustments are attributable to
denials of deductions claimed for such payments. We believe these income tax deductions are appropriate and
are vigorously contesting the IRS adjustments. No additional taxes have been provided in the accompanying
financial statements, as management believes that none will result.

At March 31, 2003 and March 31, 2002, AMERCO and RepWest have non-life net operating loss
carryforwards available to offset federal taxable income in future years of $181.6 million and $181.4 million,
respectively. These carryforwards expire in 2011 through 2020, At March 31, 2003 and March 31, 2002,
AMERCO has alternative minimum tax credit carryforwards of $5.4 million and $5.3 million, respectively,
which do not have an expiration date, and may only be utilized in years in which regular tax exceeds
alternative minimum tax.
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The SAC consolidated group consists of two separate affiliated groups for tax purposes. The SAC
Holdings affiliated group has net operating losses of $61.6 million and $42.2 million in fiscal years ending
March 31, 2003 and March 31, 2002 respectively, to offset federal taxable income in future years. The SAC
Holding 1T group, which began to file tax returns in fiscal year ending March 31, 2003 has a net operating loss
carryforward of $7.6 million to offset federal taxable income in future years. These carryforwards expire in
2013 through 2023.

During 1994, Oxford distributed its investment in RepWest common stock as a dividend to its parent at
book value. As a result of such dividend, a deferred intercompany gain arose due to the difference between the
book value and fair value of such common stock. However, such gain can only be triggered if certain events
occur. If the DOI places RepWest under conservatorship, that event might be deemed to trigger the deferred
gain. The current tax payable as result of that deferred gain could be as much as $18 million. However, the
same hypothetical action by the DOI would most likely lead to an offseiting current tax loss to AMERCO
resulting in future recovery of that same tax. To date, no events have occurred which would trigger such gain
recognition. No deferred taxes have been provided in the accompanying consolidated financial statements as
management believes that no events have occurred to trigger such gain.

Under certain circumstances and sections of the Internal Revenue Code a change in ownership for tax
purposes will limit the amount of net operating loss carryforwards that can be used to offset future taxable
income.

11. Transactions with Fleet Owners and Other Rental Equipment Owners

Independent rental equipment owners (fleet owners) own approximately 4% of all U-Haul rental trailers
and 0.01% of certain other rental equipment. There are approximately 1,290 fleet owners, including certain
officers, directors, employees and stockholders of AMERCO. Such AMERCO officers, directors, employees
and stockholders owned approximately 0.07%, 0.09% and 0.10% of all U-Haul rental trailers during the fiscal
years 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. All rental equipment is operated under contract with U-Haul
whereby U-Haul administers the operations and marketing of such equipment and in return receives a
percentage of rental fees paid by customers. Based on the terms of various contracts, rental fees are distributed
to U-Haul (for services as operators), to the fleet owners (including certain subsidiaries and related parties of
U-Haul) and to Rental Dealers (including Company-operated U-Haul Centers).

See also note 19.

12. Employee Benefit Plans

AMERCO employees participate in the AMERCO Employee Savings, Profit Sharing and Employee
Stock Ownership Plan (the “Plan”) which is designed to provide all eligible employees with savings for their
retirement and to acquire a proprietary interest in AMERCO.

The Plan has three separate features: a profit sharing feature under which the Employer may make
contributions on behalf of participants; a savings feature which allows participants to defer income under
Section 401 (k) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986; and an employee stock ownership feature under which
AMERCO may make contributions of AMERCO common stock or cash to acquire such stock on behalf of
participants. Generally, employees of AMERCO are eligible to participate in the Plan upon completion of a
one year service requirement.

No contributions were made to the profit sharing plan in fiscal year 2003, 2002, or 2001.

83




AMERCO AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES AND
SAC HOLDING CORPORATION, SAC HOLDING 11 CORPORATION
AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

AMERCO has arranged financing to fund the ESOP trust (ESOT) and to enable the ESOT to purchase
shares. Below is a summary of the financing arrangements:

Amount
Outstanding
) , M::i:l?fSI, Interest Payments
Financing Date ) 2003 2003 2002 2001
(In thousands)
May 1990 . . e — — — 8
June 1991 e 14,398 978 1,210 1,113
March 1999 ... . .. 140 11 14 16
February 2000 ........... .o 885 62 74 —
AL 2001 . oot 144 5 — —

Shares are released from collateral and allocated to active employees based on the proportion of debt
service paid in the plan year. Contributions to the ESOT charged to expense were $2.2 million, $2.1 million
and $2.2 millien for fiscal years 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

The shares held by ESOP as of March 31 were as follows:
March 31, 1992

2003 2002

(In thousands)
Allocated Shares . .. ... ot e e 1,639 1,674
Shares committed to be released ....... ... it e — —
Unreleased shares ....... ... i it e 795 860
Fair value . of unreleased shares. . ... ... . $3,212 14,973

For purposes of the schedule, fair value of unreleased shares issued prior to December 31, 1992 is defined
as the historical cost of such shares. Fair value of unreleased shares issued subsequent to December 31, 1992 is
defined as the March 31 trading value of such shares for 2002 and 2001.

Oxford insures various group life and group disability insurance plans covering employees of the
consolidated group. Premiums carned were $2.7 million, $2.0 million and $1.4 million during the years ended
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively, and were eliminated in consolidation.

13. Postretirement and Postemployment Benefits

AMERCO provides medical and life insurance benefits to retired employees and eligible dependents over
age 65 if the employee meets specified age and service requirements.

AMERCO uses the accrual method of accounting for postretirement benefits. AMERCO continues to
fund medical and life insurance benefit costs as claims are incurred.
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The components of net periodic postretirement benefit cost for 2003, 2002 and 2001 are as follows:

Year Ended
2003 2002 2001
(In thousands)

Service cost for benefits earned during the period . ................... $ 299 259 228
Interest cost on accumulated postretirement benefit ... ... ... .. 355 302 276
Other COMPONENTS ...\ttt et i (279) (315) (340)
Net periodic postretirement benefit cost ....... . ... ... . L. $ 375 246 164

The 2003 and 2002 postretirement benefit liability included the following components:

Year Ended

2003 2002

(In thousands)
Beginning of year . ... ..o $4,982 4,097
S ETVICE COSE. . ettt et ettt e 299 259
INterest COSt ... it 355 302
Benefit payments and expense ....... ... (122) (81)
Actuarial (gg\in) 0SS o e (536) 405
Accumulated postretirement benefit obligation .............. .. ... ... . ... 4978 4982
Unrecognized net gain. ...t e 4,364 4,107
$9,342 9,089

The discount rate assumptions in computing the information above were as follows:

2003 2002 2001

Accumulated postretirement benefit obligation ................ . ... 6.75% 71.25%  7.50%

The year-to-year fluctuations in the discount rate assumptions primarily reflect changes in U.S. interest
rates. The discount rate represents the expected yield on a portfolio of high-grade (AA-AAA rated or
equivalent) fixed-income investments with cash flow streams sufficient to satisfy benefit obligations under the
plans when due.

The assumed health care cost trend rate used in measuring the accumulated postretirement benefit
obligation was 5.6% in 2003, declining annually to an ultimate rate of 4.20% in 2016.

If the health care cost trend rate assumptions were increased by 1.00%, the accumulated postretirement
benefit obligation as of March 31, 2003 would be increased by approximately $270 thousand and a decrease of
1.00% would reduce the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation by $294 thousand.

Post employment benefits, other than retirement, provided by AMERCO are not material.

14. Reinsurance

In the normal course of business, RepWest and Oxford assume and cede reinsurance on both a
coinsurance and risk premium basis. RepWest and Oxford obtain reinsurance for that portion of risks
exceeding retention limits. The maximum amount of life insurance retained on any one life is $150,000.
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A summary of reinsurance transactions by business segment is as follows:

Ceded to Assumed Percentage of
Direct Other from Other Net Amount
Amount(a) Companies Companies Amount(a) Assumed to Net
(In thousands)
Year ended December 31,
2002 Life insurance in
force .................. $2,036,998 1,045,011 1,613,812 2,605,789 62%
Premiums earned:
Life ..................... 22,973 10,078 15,111 28,006 54%
Accident and health ....... 114,526 15,274 26,581 125,833 21%
Annuity .......... R, 1,272 — 3,609 4,881 74%
Property and casualty ...... 166,677 69,374 51,902 149,205 34%
Total .................... $ 305,448 94,726 97,203 307,925 —
Ceded to Assumed Percentage of
Direct Other from Other Net Amount
Amount(a) Companies Companies Amount(a) Assumed to Net
(In thousands)
Year ended December 31,
2001 Life insurance in
force ......... ... . ..., $2,088,898 925,608 1,732,122 2,895,412 60%
Premiums earned:
Life ... .. L. $ 21,437 8,889 14,083 26,631 53%
Accident and health ... ..... 115,364 18,265 28,051 125,150 23%
Annuity ... .. 1,651 — 3,939 5,590 70%
Property and casualty ... .... 217,401 55,301 91,699 253,799 37%
Total..................... $ 355,833 82,455 137,772 411,170 —
Ceded to Assumed Percentage of
Direct Other from Other Net Amount
Amount(a) Companies Companies Amount(a) Assumed to Net
(In thousands)
Year ended December 31,
2000 Life insurance in
force ................... $1,736,332 923,472 1,812,548 2,625,408 69%
Premiums earned:
Life...................... $ 23,666 2,493 8,232 29,405 28%
Accident and health ... ... .. 72,593 15,195 16,884 74,282 23%
Annuity ......... ... ... ... 574 — 6,932 7,506 92%
Property and casualty ....... 153,816 33,182 96,281 216,915 44%
Total ... .o $ 250,649 50,870 128,329 328,108 —
Balances are reported net of intersegment transactions. Premiums eliminated in consolidation total

$3.4 million, $8.2 million and $9.2 million for RepWest, and $2.7 million, $2.0 million and $1.4 million
for Oxford for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

86




AMERCO AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES AND
SAC HOLDING CORPORATION, SAC HOLDING II CORPORATION
AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

To the extent that a reinsurer is unable to meet its obligation under the related reinsurance agreements,
RepWest would remain liable for the unpaid losses and loss expenses. Pursuant to certain of these agreements,
RepWest holds letters of credit of $7.6 million from reinsurers and has issued letters of credit of approximately
$15.7 million in favor of certain ceding companies as of December 31, 2002.

RepWest is a reinsurer of municipal bond insurance through an agreement with MBIA, Inc. Premiums
generated through this agreement are recognized on a pro rata basis over the contract coverage period. On
December 1, 2002, MBIA, Inc. and RepWest entered into a termination agreement to terminate the
agreement on a cut-off basis. In conjunction with the Termination Agreement, RepWest paid MBIA, Inc.
$3.4 million in December of 2002 for reimbursement of unearned premiums.

The following is a summary of balances related to the agreement with MBIA, Inc as of December 31,
2001:

(In thousands)

Unearned Premilmms . . ..o vttt e e e ettt $4,300
Case 1088 TESEIVES . ..\ttt $ 702
Aggregate exposure for Class I municipal bond insurance...................... $5,200

15. Contingent Liabilities and Commitments

The Company uses certain equipment and occupies certain facilities under operating lease commitments
with terms expiring through 2079. Lease expense was $163.8 million, $170.0 million and $173.0 million for the
years ended 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. During the year ended March 31, 2003, a subsidiary of U-Haul
entered into two transactions, whereby AMERCO sold rental trucks, which were subsequently leased back.
AMERCO has guaranteed $192.0 million of residual values at March 31, 2003, for these assets at the end of
the respective lease terms. Certain leases contain renewal and fair market value purchase options as well as
mileage and other restrictions similar to covenants disclosed in Note 6 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements for notes payable and loan agreements.

Following are the lease commitments for leases having terms of more than one year:

. March 31, 2003
Property, Plant and Rental

Year Ended Other Equipment Fleet Total
(In thousands)
2004 ... e $120,334 117,514 237,848
2005 L e 2,837 107,408 110,245
2006 ... 2,692 84,891 87,583
2007 e e e 2,178 71,436 73,614
2008 L 1,379 25,690 27,069
Thereafter .. ... ... .. . . 5,699 10,107 15,806
$135,119 417,046 552,165

The Company, at the expiration of the lease, has the option to renew the lease, purchase for fair market
value, or sell to a third party on behalf of the lessor.

The Company maintains credit facilities and leasing agreements, collectively the Lease Facilities. Under
these Lease Facilities, the lessor acquires land to be developed for storage locations with advances of funds
(the Advances) made by certain parties to the facilitiecs. AMERCO separately leases the land and
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~ improvements, including completed locations (the Properties) under the facilities and respective lease
supplements.

In December of 1996, AMERCO executed a $100.0 million Lease Facility with a number of financial
institutions, which was amended and restated in July 1999 to $170.0 million. This credit facility related to this
Lease Facility terminated in July of 2001, however the leasing agreement under which AMERCO leases the
Properties does not terminate until July of 2004. In September 1999, and April of 2001, AMERCO entered
into additional Lease Facilities for available credit of $115.5 million and $49.0 million, respectively. Both the
Credit Facility and the Leasing Agreement for the respective facilities expire in September 2004 and April
2004, respectively. There was no available credit under the Lease Facilities at March 31, 2003 and 2002.

As of March 31, 2003 the Company had obligations outstanding of $254.0 million under the Lease
Facilities, of this, $117.0 million represents properties qualifying as operating leases.

The facilities contain certain restrictions similar to those contained in Note 6. Upon occurrence of any
event of default, the lessor may rescind or terminate any or all leases and, among other things, require
AMERCO to repurchase any or all of the properties. The facilities have a three-year term, with options for
successive one-year renewal terms subject to consent of other parties.

Upon the expiration of the facilities, AMERCO may either purchase all of the properties based on a
purchase price equal to all amounts outstanding under the Advances, including the interest and yield thereon,
or remarket all of the properties to a third party purchaser.

In the normal course of business, AMERCO is a defendant in a number of suits and claims. AMERCO
is also a party to several administrative proceedings arising from state and local provisions that regulate the
removal and/or cleanup of underground fuel storage tanks. It is the opinion of management that none of such
suits, claims or proceedings involving AMERCO, individually or in the aggregate, are expected to result in a
material loss. Also see Note 16.

Compliance with environmental requirements of federal, state and local governments significantly affects
Real Estate’s business operations. Among other things, these requirements regulate the discharge of materials
into the water, air and land and govern the use and disposal of hazardous substances. Real Estate is aware of
issues regarding hazardous substances on some of its properties. Real Estate regularly makes capital and
operating expenditures to stay in compliance with environmental laws and has put in place a remedial plan at
each site where it believes such a plan is necessary. Since 1988, Real Estate has managed a testing and
removal program for underground storage tanks. Under this program we have spent $43.7 million.

Based upon the information currently available to AREC, compliance with the environmental laws and
its share of the costs of investigation and cleanup of known hazardous waste sites are not expected to have a
material adverse effect on AMERCO’s financial position or operating results.

16. Legal Proceedings

Pursuant to the $7.5 million settlement of a class action lawsuit relating to overtime compensation and
brought on behalf of current and former Moving Center General Managers in California, Sarah Saunders, et
al. vs. U-Haul Company of California, Inc., final payment was made on April 5, 2002.

On July 20, 2000, Charles Kocher (“Kocher”) filed suit in Wetzel County, West Virginia, Civil Action
No. 00-C-51-K, entitled Charles Kocher v. Oxford Life Insurance Co. (“Oxford”) seeking compensatory and
punitive damages for breach of contract, bad faith and unfair claims settlement practices arising from an
alleged failure of Oxford to properly and timely pay a claim under a disability and dismemberment policy. On
March 22, 2002, the jury returned a verdict of $5 million in compensatory damages and $34 million in punitive
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damages. On November 35, 2002, the trial court entered an Order (“Order”) affirming the $39 million jury
verdict and denying Oxford’s motion for New Trial Or, in The Alternative, Remittitur. Oxford has perfected
its appeal to the West Virginia Supreme Court. Oral argument on the appeal petition is set for September 9,
2003. Management does not believe that the Order is sustainable and expects the Order to be overturned by
the West Virginia Supreme Court, in part because the jury award has no reasonable nexus to the actual harm
suffered by Kocher. The Company has accrued $725,000, which represents management’s best estimate of the
costs associated with legal fees to appeal and re-try the case and the Company’s uninsured exposure to an
unfavorable outcome.

As previously discussed, on June 20, 2003, AMERCO filed a voluntary petition for relief under
Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code. As debtor-in-possession, AMERCO is authorized under Chapter 11 to
continue to operate as an ongoing business, but may not engage in transactions outside the ordinary course of
business without the prior approval of the Bankruptcy Court. As of the Petition Date, all pending litigation
against AMERCO is stayed, and absent further order of the Bankruptcy Court, no party, subject to certain
exceptions, may take any action, again subject to certain exceptions, to recover on pre-petition claims against
AMERCO. The automatic stay, however, does not apply to AMERCQ’s subsidiaries, other than Amerco
Real Estate Company, which filed for protection under Chapter 11, on August 13, 2003.

On September 24, 2002, Paul F. Shoen filed a derivative action in the Second Judicial District Court of
the State of Nevada, Washoe County, captioned Paul F. Shoen vs. SAC Holding Corporation et al,
CV02-05602, seeking damages and equitable relief on behalf of AMERCO from SAC Holdings and certain
current and former members of the AMERCO Board of Directors, including Edward J. Shoen, Mark V.
Shoen and James P. Shoen as defendants. AMERCO is named a nominal defendant for purposes of the
derivative action. The complaint alleges breach of fiduciary duty, self-dealing, usurpation of corporate
opportunities, wrongful interference with prospective economic advantage and unjust enrichment and seeks
the unwinding of sales of self-storage properties by subsidiaries of AMERCO to SAC Holdings over the last
several years. The complaint seeks a declaration that such transfers are void as well as unspecified damages.
On October 28, 2002, AMERCO, the Shoen directors, the non-Shoen directors and SAC Holdings filed
Motions to Dismiss the complaint. In addition, on October 28, 2002, Ron Belec filed a derivative action in the
Second Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada, Washoe County, captioned Ron Belec vs. William E.
Carty, et al, CV 02-06331 and on January 16, 2003, M.S. Management Company, Inc. filed a derivative action
in the Second Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada, Washoe County, captioned M.S. Management
Company, Inc. vs. William E. Carty, et. al, CV 03-00386. Two additional derivative suits were also filed
against these parties. These additional suits are substantially similar to the Paul F. Shoen derivative action.
The five suits assert virtually identical claims. In fact, three of the five plaintiffs are parties who are working
closely together and chose to file the same claims multiple times. The court consolidated all five complaints
before dismissing them on May 8, 2003. Plaintiffs have filed a notice of appeal. These lawsuits falsely alleged
that the AMERCO Board lacked independence. In reaching its decision to dismiss these claims, the court
determined that the AMERCO Board of Directors had the requisite level of independence required in order to
have these claims resolved by the Board.

A subsidiary of U-Haul, INW Company (“INW”), owns one property located within two different state
hazardous substance sites in the State of Washington. The sites are referred to as the “Yakima Valley Spray
Site” and the “Yakima Railroad Area.” INW has been named as a “‘potentially liable party” under state law
with respect to this property as it relates to both sites. As a result of the cleanup costs of approximately
$5.0 million required by the State of Washington, INW filed for reorganization under the federal bankruptcy
laws in May of 2001. A successful mediation with other liable parties has occurred and future liability to INW
will be in the range of $750,000 to $1.25 million.
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The Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) has issued a formal order of investigation to
determine whether the Company has violated the Federal securities laws. On January 7, 2003, the Company
received the first of four subpoenas issued by the SEC. SAC Holdings, the Company’s current and former
auditors, and -others have also received one or more subpoenas relating to this matter. The Company is
cooperating fully with the SEC and is facilitating the expeditious review of its financial statements and any
other issues that may arise. The Company has produced a large volume of documents and other materials in
response to the subpoenas, and the Company is continuing to assemble and produce additional documents and
materials for the SEC. Although the Company has fully cooperated with the SEC in this matter and intends
to continue tofully cooperate, the SEC may determine that the Company has violated Federal securities laws.
We cannot predict when this investigation will be completed or its outcome. If the SEC makes a
determination that we have violated Federal securities laws, we may face sanctions, including, but not limited
to, significant monetary penalties and injunctive relief.

AMERCO is a defendant in four putative class action lawsuits. Article Four Trust v. AMERCO, et al.,
District of Nevada, United States District Court, Case No. CV-N-03-0050-DWH-VPC. Article Four Trust, a
purported AMERCO shareholder, commenced this action on January 28, 2003 on behalf of all persons and
entities who purchased or acquired AMERCO securities between February 12, 1998 and September 26, 2002.
The Article Four Trust action alleges one claim for violation of Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act
and Rule 10b-5 thereunder. Mates v. AMERCO, et al., United States District Court, District of Nevada, Case
No. CV-N-03-0107. Maxine Mates, an AMERCO shareholder, commenced this putative class action on
behalf of all persons and entities who purchased or acquired AMERCO securities between February 12, 1998
and September 26, 2002. The Mates action asserts claims under section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5, and
section 20(a) ‘of the Securities Exchange Act. Klug v. AMERCO, et al., United States District Court of
Nevada, Case No. CV-S-03-0380. Edward Klug, an AMERCO shareholder, commenced this putative class
action on behalf of all persons and entities who purchased or acquired AMERCO securities between
February 12, 1998 and September 26, 2002. The Klug action asserts claims under section 10(b) and
Rule 10b-5 and section 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act. IG Holdings v. AMERCO, et al., United States
District Court, District of Nevada, Case No. CV-N-03-0199. IG Holdings, an AMERCO bondholder,
commenced this putative class action on behalf of all persons and entities who purchased, acquired, or traded
AMERCO bonds between February 12, 1998 and September 26, 2002, alleging claims under section 11 and
section 12 of the Securities Act of 1933 and section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5, and section 20(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act. Each of these four securities class actions allege that AMERCO engaged in transactions with
SAC entities that falsely improved AMERCO’s financial statements, and that AMERCO failed to disclose
the transactions properly. The actions are at a very early stage. The K/ug action has not been served. In the
other three actions, AMERCO does not currently have a deadline by which it must respond to the complaints.
Management has stated that it intends to defend these cases vigorously. We have filed a notice of AMERCO’s
bankruptcy petition and the automatic stay in each of the Courts where these cases are pending.

The United States Department of Labor (“DOL”) is presently investigating whether there were
violations of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA”) involving the AMERCO
Employee Savings, Profit Sharing, and Employee Stock Ownership Plan (the “Plan”). The DOL has
interviewed a number of Company representatives as well as the Plan fiduciaries and has issued a subpoena to
the Company and a subpoena to SAC Holdings. At the present time, the Company is unable to determine
whether the DOL will assert any claims against the Company, SAC Holdings, or the Plan fiduciaries. The
DOL has asked AMERCO and its current directors as well as the Plan Trustees to sign an agreement tolling
the statute of limitations until December 31, 2003 with respect to any claims arising out of certain transactions
between AMERCO or any affiliate of AMERCO and SAC Holdings or any of its affiliates and such persons
have done so. The DOL recently asked such parties to extend the tolling agreement. The DOL has not advised
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the Company that it believes that any violations of ERISA have in fact occurred. Instead, the DOL is simply
investigating potential violations. The Company intends to take any corrective action that may be needed in
light of the DOL’s ultimate findings. Although the Company has fully cooperated with the DOL in this matter
and intends to continue to fully cooperate, the DOL may determine that the Company has violated ERISA. In
that event, the Company may face sanctions, including, but not limited to, significant monetary penalties and
injunctive relief.

17. Preferred Stock Purchase Rights

AMERCO’s Board of Directors adopted a stockholder-rights plan in July 1998. The rights were declared
as a dividend of one preferred share purchase right for each outstanding share of AMERCO’s common stock.
The dividend distribution was payable on August 17, 1998 to thé stockholders of record on that date. When
exercisable, each right will entitle its holder to purchase from AMERCOQ one one-hundredth of a share of
Series C Junior Participating Preferred Stock (Series C), no par value per share of AMERCO, at a price of
$132.00 per one one-hundredth of a share of Series C, subject to adjustment. AMERCO has created a series
of 3,000,000 shares of authorized but unissued preferred stock for the Series C stock authorized in this
stockholder-rights plan.

The rights will become exercisable if a person or group of affiliated or associated persons acquire or obtain
the right to acquire beneficial ownership of 10% or more of the common stock without approval of a majority
of the Board of Directors of AMERCO. The rights will expire on August 7, 2008 unless earlier redeemed or
exchanged by AMERCO.

In the event AMERCO is acquired in a merger or other business combination transaction after the rights
become exercisable, each holder of a right would be entitled to receive that number of shares of the acquiring
company’s common stock equal to the result obtained by multiplying the then current Purchase Price by the
number one one-hundredths of a share of Series C for which a right is then exercisable and dividing that
product by 50% of the then current market price per share of the acquiring company.

18. Stock Option Plan

AMERCO’s stockholders approved a ten year incentive plan entitled the AMERCO Stock Option and
Incentive Plan (the Plan) for officers and key employees in October 1992. No stock options or awards were
granted under this plan, the plan has terminated during fiscal year 2003.

19. Related Party Transactions

AMERCO has related party transactions with certain major stockholders, directors and officers of the
consolidated group as/disclosed in Notes 3 and 11 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements and below.
Management believes that the transactions described in the related notes and below were consummated on
terms equivalent to those that would prevail in arm’s-length transactions.

On December 23, 2002, Mark V. Shoen, a significant shareholder purchased a condominium in Phoenix,
Arizona from Oxford Life Insurance Company. The purchase price was $279,573, which was in excess of the
appraised value.

During fiscal 2003, U-Haul purchased $2.1 million of printing from Form Builders, Inc. Mark V. Shoen,
his daughter and Edward J. Shoen’s sons are major stockholders of Form Builders, Inc. Edward J. Shoen is
Chairman of the Board of Directors and President of AMERCQO and is a significant stockholder of
AMERCO. Mark V. Shoen is President, U-Haul Phoenix Operations and is a significant stockholder of
AMERCO. The Company ceased doing business with Form Builders, Inc. on April 18, 2003,

91




AMERCO AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES AND
SAC HOLDING CORPORATION, SAC HOLDING II CORPORATION
AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

During fiscal 2003, Sam Shoen, a son of Edward J. Shoen, was employed by U-Haul as project group
supervisor. Mr. Shoen was paid an aggregate salary and bonus of $77,327 for his services during the fiscal year.

During fiscal 2003, a subsidiary of the Company held various senior and junior unsecured notes of SAC
Holdings. Substantially all of the equity interest of SAC Holdings is owned by Mark V. Shoen, a significant
shareholder and executive officer of AMERCO. The Company does not have an equity ownership interest in
SAC Holdings, except for minority investments made by RepWest and Oxford in a SAC Holdings-controlled
limited partnership which holds Canadian self-storage properties. The senior unsecured notes of SAC
Holdings that the Company holds rank equal in right of payment with the notes of certain senior mortgage
holders, but junior to the extent of the collateral securing the applicable mortgages and junior to the extent of
the cash flow waterfalls that favor the senior mortgage holders. The Company received cash interest payments
of $26.6 million from SAC Holdings during fiscal year 2003. The notes receivable balance outstanding at
March 31, 2003 was, in the aggregate, $394.2 million. The largest aggregate amount outstanding during the
fiscal year ended March 31, 2003 was $407.4 million. At March 31, 2003, SAC Holdings’ notes and loans
payable to third parties totaled $589.0 million. Interest on the senior and junior notes accrues at rates ranging
from 6.5% to 13%.

Interest accrues on the outstanding principal balance of senior notes of SAC Holdings that the Company
holds at a fixed rate and is paid on a monthly basis.

Interest accrues on the outstanding principal balance of junior notes of SAC Holdings that the Company
holds at a stated rate of basic interest. A fixed portion of that basic interest is paid on a monthly basis.
Additional interest is paid on the same payment date based on the difference between the amount of
remaining basic interest and an amount equal to a specified percentage of the net cash flow before interest
expense generated by the underlying property minus the sum of the principal and interest due on the senior
notes of SAC Holdings relating to that property and a multiple of the fixed portion of basic interest paid on
that monthly payment date.

The latter amount is referred to as the “cash flow-based calculation.”

To the extent that this cash flow-based calculation exceeds the amount of remaining basic interest,
contingent interest equal to that excess and the amount of remaining basic interest are paid on the same
monthly date as the fixed portion of basic interest. To the extent that the cash flow-based calculation is less
than the amount of remaining basic interest, the additional interest payable on the applicable monthly date is
limited to the amount of that cash flow-based calculation. In such a case, the excess of the remaining basic
interest over the cash flow-based calculation is deferred and all amounts so deferred bear the stated rate of
basic interest until maturity of the junior note.

In addition, subject to certain contingencies, the junior notes provide that the holder of the note is entitled
to receive 90% of the appreciation realized upon, among other things, the sale of such property by SAC
Holdings. To date, no such properties have been sold by SAC Holdings.

The Company currently manages the self-storage properties owned by SAC Holdings pursuant to a
standard form of management agreement with each SAC Holdings subsidiary, under which the Company
receives a management fee equal to 6% of the gross receipts. The Company received management fees of
$12.3 million during fiscal year 2003. This management fee is consistent with the fees received for other
properties the Company manages.

RepWest and Oxford currently hold a 46% limited partnership interest in Securespace Limited
Partnership (“Securespace”), a Nevada limited partnership. A SAC Holdings subsidiary serves as the general
partner of Securespace and owns a 1% interest. Another SAC Holdings subsidiary owns the remaining 53%
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limited partnership interest in Securespace. Securespace was formed by SAC Holdings to be the owner of
various Canadian self-storage properties.

During fiscal year 2003, the Company leased space for marketing company offices, vehicle repair shops
and hitch installation centers in 35 locations owned by subsidiaries of SAC Holdings. Total lease payments
pursuant to such leases were $2,051,858 during fiscal year 2003. The terms of the leases are similar to the .
terms of leases for other properties owned by unrelated parties that are leased to the Company.

At March 31, 2003, subsidiaries of SAC Holdings acted as U-Haul independent dealers. The financial
and other terms of the dealership contracts with subsidiaries of SAC Holdings are substantially identical to the
terms of those with the Company’s other independent dealers. During fiscal 2003, the Company paid
subsidiaries of SAC Holdings $27,658,641 in commissions pursuant to such dealership contracts.

The transactions discussed above involving SAC Holdings have all been eliminated from the Company’s
consolidated financial statements. Although these transactions have been eliminated for financial statement
reporting purposes, except for minority investments made by RepWest and Oxford in Securespace, the
Company has not had any equity ownership interest in SAC Holdings.

SAC Holdings were established in order to acquire self-storage properties which are being managed by
the Company pursuant to management agreements. The sale of self-storage properties by the Company to
SAC Holdings has in the past provided significant cash flows to the Company and the Company’s outstanding
loans to SAC Holdings entitle the Company to participate in SAC Holdings’ excess cash flows (after senior
debt service).

Management believes that its sales of self-storage properties to SAC Holdings over the past several years
provided a unique structure for the Company to earn rental revenues from the SAC Holdings self-storage
properties that the Company manages and participate in SAC Holdings’ excess cash flows as described above.

Although the Board of Directors of the appropriate subsidiary which was a party to each transaction with
SAC Holdings approved such transaction at the time it was completed, the Company did not seek approval by
AMERCQ’s Board of Directors for such transactions. However, AMERCO’s Board of Directors, including
the independent members, was made aware of and received periodic updates regarding such transactions from
time to time. All future real estate transactions with SAC Holdings that involve the Company or any of its
subsidiaries will have the prior approval of AMERCO’s Board of Directors, even if it is not legally required,
including a majority of the independent members of AMERCQ’s Board of Directors.

During the fiscal year ended 2001, AMERCO sold $10.5 million of remanufactured engines and small
automotive parts and purchased $53.7 million of automotive parts and tools from a company wherein a major
stockholder, director and officer of AMERCO formerly had a beneficial minority ownership interest. The
related party interest ceased to exist as of December 31, 2000.

During the fiscal year ended 2001, AMERCO purchased $1.1 million of rebuilt torque converters and
other related transmission parts from a company wherein an owner was a family member of a major
stockholder, director and officer of AMERCO. The related party interest ceased to exist as of December 31,
2000.

During the years ended 2003, 2002 and 2001, AMERCO purchased $2.1 million, $3.2 million and
$3.5 million, respectively, of printing services from a company wherein an owner is related to a major
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stockholder, director and officer of AMERCO. The Company ceased doing business with this entity on
April 18, 2003.

In connection with transactions described above regarding parts, tools and printing services, the Internal
Audit Department of U-Haul periodically tests pricing against competitive third party bids for fairness.

Management believes that the foregoing transactions were consummated on terms equivalent to those
that prevail in arm’s-length transactions.
20. Supplemental Cash Flow Information

The (increase) decrease in receivables, and inventories and increase (decrease) in accounts payable and
accrued expenses net of other operating and investing activities follows:

Year Ended
2003 2002 2001
(In thousands)
Trade receivables, net....... ... .. i 11,133 (26,778) (57,520)
InVentories . . ... e 12,506 8,643 9,534
Prepaid expenses . ... i i e (6,567) (6,577) 17,958
Deferred inCoOme taxes .. ... vttt s (26,197) (26,303)  (4,643)
Accounts payable and accrued CXPENses ............. BT 28,143 5,473 68,543
Deferred InCoOme . ... oo e (2,871) (4,771) 6,572

21. Summarized Consolidated Financial Information of Insurance Subsidiaries

Applicable laws and regulations of the State of Arizona require Oxford and RepWest to maintain
minimum capital and surplus determined in accordance with statutory accounting practices. The amount of
dividends that can be paid to shareholders by insurance companies domiciled in the State of Arizona is
limited. Any dividend in excess of the limit requires prior regulatory approval. At December 31, 2002, Oxford
cannot distribute any of their statutory surplus as dividends without regulatory approval. At December 31,
2002, RepWest had $6.5 million of statutory surplus available for distribution. However, as discussed above, as
a result of the Order of Supervision issued by the DOI, RepWest must obtain approval from the DOI prior to
any dividend payments to AMERCO.

Audited statutory net income (loss) for RepWest for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000
was $4.1 million, $(36.6 million) and $(28.1 million), respectively; audited statutory capital and surplus was
$65.4 million and $151.6 million at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Audited statutory net income
(loss) for NAFCIC for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 was $(346,000), $558,000 and
$298,000, respectively; audited statutory capital and surplus was $3.8 million and $4.2 million at December 31,
2002 and 2001, respectively.

Audited statutory net income (loss) for Oxford for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000
was $(11.6 million), $(1.3 million) and $6.6 million, respectively; audited statutory capital and surplus was
$39.1 million and $77.9 million at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Audited statutory net income for
CFLIC for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 was $3.2 million, $3.6 million and
$4.7 million, respectively; audited statutory capital and surplus was $17.2 million and $20.0 million at

94




AMERCO AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES AND
SAC HOLDING CORPORATION, SAC HOLDING II CORPORATION
AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Audited statutory net income (loss) for NAI for the years ended
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 was $3.1 million, $0.7 million and $43,000, respectively; audited statutory
capital and surplus was $25.9 million and $40.5 million at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

On November 13, 2000, Oxford acquired all of the issued and outstanding shares of Christian Fidelity
Life Insurance Company (“CFLIC”), for $37.6 million. CFLIC’s premium volume is primarily from the sale
of Medicare Supplement products.

On May 20, 2003, RepWest consented to an Order for Supervision issued by the Arizona Department of
Insurance (“DOTI”). The DOI determined that RepWest’s level of risk based capital (“RBC”) allowed for
regulatory control. Pursuant to this order and Arizona law, during the period of supervision, RepWest may not
engage in certain activities without the prior approval of the DOIL.

If RepWest fails to satisfy the requirements to abate the DOI’s concerns, the DOI may take further
action, including, but not limited to, commencing a conservatorship.

95




2OVS 01 QO¥ANY woly Lxedoxd snjdins jo ofes uo wed aeuiunyg (§)

1q9p uo sa19ur Luedwoosaiut ateurwyyg (o)

swnrwaid Aueduroosgur aeununyg (p)

Jwodut ased| Auedwooraqul sjeutwyyg (o)

sajqeded pue sa[qea1add1 Auedwootaur ajeunuyg (q)

SAUEIPISQNS Uy JuausaAul sreumuyy (€)

655°7$ Jo 1wowdinba pue ANRUWINY PUB HES 6ELS JO Siudwaordun pue sBuippng ‘OLpcLz$ Jo puer st uonded siy) ur papnpuy (g)
7007 ‘1€ 19quiaaq Jo se saoueeqg ()

ver'eLL'e  (TI8%S9)  670°066 LoT'ssr'e  (Lyi'Losn) SLE'Y96 YYO'YOL  LS0'OVL  T6L'80T'1  LSHITOUNG T oororeroeroenes S1dSSV 1V10L
LIEOPE' T (SS9'1ST)  ¥88'SS6 880°THT°1 — — — SPPS0S  e6v9EL vkl * yuawdmnba pue juerd ‘Auadoid mrog
(661°86T°1) 9199 (6L9'6s)  (9gr'svT’l) — — — (60v'pST) (TIv066) (s1€) vttt uoneroaIdap PaYRnINOOE §597]
9IS'rbe'e  (1LT85T)  €9S'SI0'T  vTT'L8H'T — — — PS8'6SL  T16'9TLT  6SY

T6T'LSL (1L7'867)  €95S10°T — — — — — — — (7)1udwdmba pue juerd ‘fuadord s3uipjoH OVS

6T OpI‘l — — YT OVl — — — — vz ovl‘’T — LRI LN

LOL'6¥T - — LOL6V1 — — — — LoL'6PT — juowdinba [e1UDL 1310 PUR SISIER) [PIUSY

£8¢€°16T - - £3€°16C — — — or0‘gl v88TLT 6y 000 oo * juswdinba pue juerd ‘Auedord 15y10

€S8°LYL - — £S8°LYL — — — 9L9°T09  LLI'SPY  — oottt spuowaaordwi pue sfurpjing

L86'LS1 — — L86°LST — — — 8EI6ET  6v8°81 R pueq

11500 18 quawdmba pue jueld ‘Aiadorg

—_ mwm@JV — Awmm“:vv —_ P _ — — Awmof—vv ........................... :U<m Cm wﬁuﬂ:mo>ﬂ:

- - - - B(9SL°LEO'T)  — — - — 9SLILEQTT Tt SOUTIPISqNS Ul JUSISIAU]
LOT°LZ8'T  B(S60'SPY)  SIvE Lso'sez'c  (16€°69L) SLE'P96 PPO'POL  TYO'OYT  TETTULY  SEV'STY

009°€9 — SE9VT $96°8¢ q(89°689) 68T 099'88 166'€ STRIOL  P8|'ILy T oorrocmrereneieees 19888 Y10
001°501 — — 001°501 - ¥68°'16 90z'¢1 - — — e 51500 uonsinboe Ad1jod pasrsja o
sTe8e a(zeseee) — vLL'88L  a(LOL'6L) Y09'vTT TLEOTL  6I9°LIT  9880LY  000'SEL oot SEL (TR EN E=TAT) BN
009'098  a(LLV'9) - LLO'L98 - 90Z°¢19 1,8°¢ST — — e SONUINIBW PAXY ‘SIUILISIAU]

98°1T 4(£9%9) g 86Y°LT — 11 00¥°LT L8 ) " " sosuadxo predard
0LT'€S — LEO'Y £ET'6h — - — 14 67T 6¥ — T 13U *SIUOIUIAUY
898°C q(6L8%T) — LYLLT — — — 68TLI 9v°01 — e 19U ‘$a|qeatdoar 98edliojy pue saloN
LEL'EOT  q(¥SLiL) - 16¥'1LT — 790°€T LTP YT 8851 b e — TTrronommremoremmtenrntiaas $9]qeA100Yy]
PE8'99 — 799t TLITO — 0ze'6 801'% YL 9+0°0¢ 124 S sjuafeamba ysed pue yse)
SLASSV
(spuesnoy} uj)
pJyepiyp 0] suonsuItIly m—.o_u«.-wao paiept| D suon gy A:@u:au:m:— A:@u:-&:m:— aeysy m::ﬁ«.-va_o OQODOUAANY
g0, ade1)g pue  QDAANWY g Ayense)y 1599 IBe03g
Bunoy HVS pue faadorg pue Sunop
1aeH-N

SMOJ[0] SB 3IB €007 ‘1€ YoTe Jo SB Juamrdas A1snpul £q s329ys oourjeq Sunepijosuoy)

1smo[[o} 1uawdas Ansnput £q suonesado FUNLISOUOD UOHBULIOJU|
‘DVS JO UoIsSnjoul Syl O} anp SI 13sSB XB) PALIAJAP U] [L10] UL IsNed3q SIBPp uotieiuasasd siy "s1osse se pojuesald ole saxe)
JWODUL PRIIDJAP 2IIYM 130YS DOUT[E] PIILPIOSUOD BY) UIOL SIOHIP SIYL "SIUSUISIEIS SurepljosuoDd 3Y) UO SINI[IGRI] SE UMOYS 1L $OXE] JWOIUT paudfa(q ‘siuswidas Sunesado sjuiedas se asoy)
juasaxd jou soop A[Buipi0ooe pue juawdos Funerado sjeredas v Se payisse}d oq 6 Pannbar ore jey) s1onpoid Jo sajes pue sooeds 9FeI0IS-J[as JO [RIULI ‘SOIYSA JO [RIuaI J0§ AfIqeryord oy Jo

asnseawt 9jesedas Aue 110dat Jou so0p 1nq ‘Aj91eredas sanusaal syorI) Juswadeur |y ‘93e101S pue Sulaojy Juewdos Ansnput 936101 pue Suraowr sUO Jo 1SS0 SSUPJOH HVS T(PIOJXO) dourInSul
Iyl pue (1sadoy) eourinsul Ajjensed pue Auadord “(HFYV) 2eIse [eal ‘([nBH-() pue OO YIWY) suonerado sferors pue Suraow £q pajussasdas syuswdas Ansnpur 1noj sey ODYIWV

eje(g eary dyderdoas pue juawsag Ansnpuj Suneprjosuo) 7z

(ponunuo)) — SINTNALYLS TVIDNVNIA AALVATITOSNOD GASNAANOD OL SALON

SARVIAISENS AALVAITOSNOD ANV SNOLLVIOdIOD INIATOH DVS
ANV SAIVIAISINS JALVAITOSNOD ANV ODJYINY



OVS 01 0DHINVY woly Aadoad snidins jo ofes uo ured syeurwing (J)

1G9p uo Jsa1aul Auedwooram seuiunyg (9)
swntwoaid Auedwoossoiut ajeuruyy (p)

awoout ased] Auedwoorsyur seurunyy (o)

sojqeAed pue sojqeaidasolr Auedwoostoyur syeuiwiy (q)
SILIRIPISGNS Ul JUaWIsaAul ajemwig (e)

7007 ‘1€ 12quiadna(g Jo se ssouepeq (1)

ver'eLL's  (ZI8%S9)  670'066 LOT'8EY'e  (LP17LORI)  SLEP96 YPO'POL  L8O9VL  16L°80T'Y  LSHIUTHU o rororeriniereerereee ALINOA
SYIATOHNDOLS ANV SHILITIEVIT TVLOL
8b¥°LTE e(ziLrin)  (Ler'sy) L6T'P8Y (9SL°L£0°1)  QOI°LIT L60'661  T86'PIT 08L'66Y  bevLGp oo Ayba s 1opjoyy203s [e10],
(LLren) — — (eLren) — — - — (L6I'€1) oz oo $9IBYS JOST pawesu()
(8L 12) — (661°¢) (eLr'giy)  — - - - - (6L1'81p)  ~ o AINSBAN} UL S2IBYS UOWIWIOD JO 3500
7TT'89¢ B99Z'0S (059'cr) 90919 BOPE ‘369 666°'L8 S8ITIL  00S'L9  9$9°0EP  909°19S e 10Y3p pare[nwunade /SFUIUIED pauIR)oy
(L8¥'D) vL8Y] (L8¥'1) (L8y'1) - — - - - (L8v'1) " HOVS =~ $50] 2AISUay21dIWIO0d J9Yj0 pajenuInooy
(8LT'v¢) - (8LT'vS)  ®w60TT 991y 685l — (6v8'6€)  (8LT'vS) 1t §50] SAISUIYAIAWIOD 19G}0 PARINUNIOY
661°¢ e(661°¢) 661'¢ 661°€ — — — - - 661'c HOVS — [endeo-ut-pred Teuonippy
V8L'SET J99z091) — 050'96¢  B(691°65¢) SEV9I £20°0L I8FLYT  OETITL  0SO96E  ~ et [eirdeo-ui-pied [euomippy
L6 — - [£4%3 e(1vE9) 005°C 00€°¢ I ovs 4N S 32038 uowwIo))
I¥5°1 — - Wl - — - — — 15720 R 0018 UOWIWOD V' $3U2S
— — — — — — — — — e — Y2018 UOWILLOD [BLIAG
— —_ — — — — — — — e— e 3203s pailojaid g sousg
— — ~— — — — — — — e ¥20)s poligjasd v sousg
— — — — — — — — — R — 2015 pairzjoid [euag
A11IN0F SYHATOHNDO0LS
— (g8 1) 8Z811 — — — — — — —  rrorormrmensrmerenenos 1sarspu] AjLouty
9L6'spp'e  (TLT'IES)  8ELETO'T  016'€S6T  (16€°69L) SLT'ES8 LYS'S0S  SOI'TES  [IV'60L  €96°ETI'T 7w trrrrrrrrrre e SONI|IQEY] [e10],
- — — — q(860°LES) SIETI - €8L5TE  — —  Trrrmerreremesreniennee sanqel J2Y10
(trT'Te) 3(500°86) (816'61) 189'68 q(850'¢5¢E) £99°8 — pI6'v6  SIL'vlz  opblogr oot SIXE] JWOIUI PaLIBJa(]
L8EOY a(g9v'9) £€0°C1 LI8'vE — — - 110} EV6°0E 127 AR 3WooUl PaNIdJa(]
60€°0¢ — — 60£°0€ — SH1'01 $91'0C — — - sanjiqer] pue spuny s 1aployAdtod 10410
866'6£9 — — R66°6£9 — 866'6£9 - - — — e $10011U0) 1UIUIISIAUT WOLj SONNIQRIT
7€9'9¢8 — — T€9°9¢£8 — £86°781 €8¢'58y  — 999°891  —  UUroroorreroesreirieciitisente 3jqeded
sosuadxa sso[ pue SWIe ‘SISSO] pue S1Yauaq Aorjog
610685 a(ILI'P6E)  061°C86 — — — - - — — e a[qeded sueoj pue sajou SFUP[OH HVS
968756 — — 968956 9(00S‘6£) - — SOS‘T01  €69°1¢€ 8617198 e 3jqeded sueo| puw so10u S,OOYTNY
L10°L8E a(££92¢) £€0'8Y LI91LE  e(SEL6E) 0LS — 68°L P6CE9T  gevieEl sosuadxo patuooe pue sjqeded sjunoooy
SAILITIEVIT
(spuesnoy) uy)
p P D suot g m—_e_«a._oa—c pajepl] D uonButaryy Anveu_:ﬁ:m-: Anva—_su:m:m 3)8)ST w-_e_uﬁvno ODYAINY
[B10], 93v10)g pue ODJ¥ANY E1ig] Ayenss)y ey adeiolg
Busop DVS pue {uadord pue Sulon
IneH-N

SMO[[O] S 218 £007 ‘1€ Yotepy Jo se juatrdos Ansnpur Aq S199ys souefeq 3unepiosuo))

(panunuo)) — SINHAWALV.LS TVIDONVNIA AZLVATTIOSNOD dASNAANOD OL SHLON

SHIIVIAISH1S dHALVATITOSNOD ANV SNOILVIOJdd0D ONIATOH DVS
ANV SHIAVIAISENS TALVATIOSNOD UNV ODdINV

97



"€9L°T$ Jo yudswdinbo pue axmnuny pue gz7/°61L$ Jo siuswoaoxduit pue s3uip[ing ‘QI'49z$ Jo puey st uonded siyy ur pepnpu] (7)

1007 ‘1€ 19quuaoa(] jo se saouefeqg (1)

TLTOTL'E  (SLL'IL9)  889°TL6  6SESTHE (90S'W16'T)  TSS'ET6  TTI‘TI8  SPI'GTL  SGI'660TT ISSOLLTE © trr  irrrrrrs e S1ASSY TVLOL
9.0'9g6' 1 (186°€¢ST)  SYL'Ov6  TIC'TVT'Y — — - 8E0T6Y  6LLOSL S6 oot juswdnba pue yuerd ‘Arodoxd fejo],
(9vL°00T°1)  069°'F (9s1°6€)  (08T°991°1) — — - (sTe'8¥7) (SSP'Li6) (DOE) o uoneroardop paIp[IWINdIE $597]
cegocl'e  (1LT'8ST)  106'$86  T61'60V'T — — — €90V PET'R99T S6€

0€9'Lze  (1LT'8ST)  106'S86 — - - — — — — (z)uswdimbs pue ueyd ‘Ausdoid suipioy OVS
89L291 — - 89L°791 - - - 89L°T9T — e juwowdnbs [ejuaI 19410 puE SIofEn) [BlUSY
wooh_\ioé R — ﬁO@,:lO.ﬁ . — _ _ VOOJPOJ e e e e e e e e e e et a et e e e SO [BIUaY
[1L°88C - - LIL'88T - - P81 SLOOLT  S6E  ortrrorroetteocceees owdinbs pue ainpnwing
vIT'STL - - viesee — - - T8LGLS  TEY'SYL -~ i siuswasoxdwit pue sutpjing
$68°091 — — $68°091  — — — 11294 AU SN ) I pue

11500 e Yuawdinba pue juepd ‘Auadoryg

_ Nmmnﬂm _ ANmm,va _ — _ . . ANmm,va e e e e e e e e VS U1 JUDUISOAUL
J— . . — AooN,—aov — _ . _ @@N,_mm ................................ SALIBIPISNS UL JUSWISIAU]
961°06L°T  (9TLTSK)  €v6'ST  6L6'912°T (LETCT6) TSY'ET6  TTU'TIR  LOV'LET  9I¥'8pE  61L'618

61€'8S — 81917 10L9¢  (T6£°068) 9EL’T TG0l SILE vLI'S 22501 I $138SB 13Y30
816'L6 — - 816°L6 - TL618 9p6'S 1 - - mm T 83500 uonIsinbor Aofod paisjeg
zi6'ove  (SLv'vor) — L3€°s¥9  (S¥8TE) L30°FLY LIL'S6 -~ 096'LTT  89V'OLT QD001 " 7 oo 19Y)0 ‘SIUSUISOAU]
L6E886 (8Lt'9) — SL8'766 — 90€°T€9 695°79¢  — — T— T SONUINIEU PaXI) ‘STUSLU]SIAU]
6LTST (Lyro1) £20°1 £0LPT — — — 01 18S'v T sosuadxa predaig
QNN\WO N N@N.m QanNO —_ J— . .v OthNG T jou «mDEOH:D\:.:
6LT'L (85v1) — L181T — — — 68y 4 ) O 19U ‘$9]qEAL2091 SFRFLIOW PUE $210N
0L8vLe  (88L'91) — 869‘167 — €6SFT wo'Lzz  (05) 690°0F Tt $9[qBAIR29Y
Ot 1Y — 01 9Er Iy — 8516 716°S 9LS 61L'ST 1L § e siuajeamnbs yses pue yse)

SLASSV
(spuesnoy} uy)
PAJEpIjOsSuO]) suonBulwIly  suoyerad()  pajeprosuo)) suopeulw[y ({)adueinsu] ([)Idueansuj NeISY [edY suoneRd) ODUAANV

[s10L,

ade10)g pue
BunoN DVS

ODYHNV art

Aense)

pue fyedorg

adeioyg
puy Junsoly
1neH-1)

'SMO[[0] S® oXe (Pa1eIsdy) TOOT ‘1€ YoIejy Jo se juawgos Ansnpur £q $300ys aduejeq SuNEpIjOSHOY)

(panupuo)) — SINAWALVLS TVIONVNIA AALVAITOSNOD OL SALON

SHIFVIAISEANS dALVAI'TOSNOD ANV
NOLLVIOJdYO0D 11 ONIATOH DIVS ‘NOLLVIOdI0D ONIATOH DVS
NV SAVIAISINS dALVAITOSNOD ANV ODJHNYV

98



1007 ‘1€ Joquiada(q jo se saouefeqg (1)

ZLT'9zL'e (SLL'1L9) 88976 6SEisTi'e (90s'vI6l)  TS8ET6 TLITI8  SPI6ZL  S61°660°T 1S$°9LL°18  ALINOT SYFATOHIDOLS ANV SALLITIEVIT TVIOL

ves'ige (b0 1T1)  (I€L°8)  66T°0FS  (69T°166) TCLLTT 9LT'SOT  09V'S61  6E9°8ST  ILY'PSS ittt Aunba s19pjoyxo03s feI0,
(zs1'v1) — - (Tst'p1) — — - - (TLI'w1) 0T e sofeys JOSH pauseau(y
(oL6'61v) — (661¢)  (1LL'9p) — — - — — QP71 1) EEE AInsear) ul saieys uOUIWod jO 1507
1£1°909 €496t (€s6'vE) 180109 (68E°SHY) 9.8'88 9SS'LIT  TII'8F  SP8'06E  I8P109  ~ ot HOYap PIje[nWnodIe /SFUILIRD PIUIEINY
(8LL°D) 8LLT (8LL°7)  (8LL'D — — — - — (gLe'ey oo OVS — $50] 2a1suayardwod 1ayjo pajejnunody
(zog‘LE) — — (zog'LE) 9011 $06°6 v6LY 1 — (ro8'6g) (TOSLE) oot $50{ 2a15U9Y21dWOd 1310 PIB[IWNIIY
661°C (661°€) 661°¢ 661°C - — — — — 661°C it OVS ~ [endeo-ui-pred jeuonippy
£67°9¢7  (997'091)  — 655°96¢  (SH9bSE) 9l 97969 LYELYT  OET1T1 6SS'96E Tt Jendeo-ui-pred jeuorppy
AN — — (44N (1v£'9) 005 00¢°€ I 128 44 - §0018 UoWWOD)

1Pr'T — — PPl — — — — — $272 SR 39018 UOWIWOD Y $3U2G
— xooﬂw uomwod —.mtom

— — — — —_ — —_ — — —— Tt 3}00]s patiajard g sauag

— — —_ —_ — — _— — — — o yo01s paudjord vy salag
— 30015 pawuajold [eULG
. ALINOA SYFATOHNDIOLS
- Gve1n 111 - — — — — — rrterescesaecsescesn e 152193u] AjLouriy

PLYPE'E  (06£°6£S)  8L0'666  090°588°T (LET'€T6) 0£1'908 9F8'GO9  S89°CES 9SS0V 080'TTTU T orrororcerremcerereenes SOUNIGE]] [BI0L
- - - - (Tog'60s)  LoROI - WOT6LY  €6T69  —  TTTTITToorTIiromenmenTomesnnenee SOUIIGEY YO
(sv0'9)  (so0'86)  (T9s'y1)  zTg'9ol  (1ze'Ise) 78091 - 961'C6  006'8TT  €96'6P1 T irrrTiTirriiniieee SOXE} AWOIUL PALIdIA(Y
86Ty (L¥r'o1) 05561 SSI'8E - — — 966 STL'CE  PEP'E ot WO PALIAJa(Y
L6S'CL — — L6S'EL — £re'6l YSTYS — — — e SenIIqel| pue spunj spjoyLorod 1oYIO
€6LTLS — - g6L'CLS — £6L°TLS — — — — e SIORITUOD JUAWISIAUL WIOL) S3BIIQEr]
£85°618 — — £85°618  — TOLLLY 76818 — 65706  — o1qeded sosuadxd $SO| PUB SWiEO ‘SISSO] PUE SJYIUAq ADTOq
L88°19S  (T19'66E)  66v°196  — — — — — — — e s[geAed survoj pue s3j0u SSUIPOH DVS
108'sv0°'1  — — 108°6v0'1  — — — £0T £6LY1 SOBOEO'T e sqeded sueo[ pue se10u SQOYAWY
vL'cer  (9TEIE) 168°9¢ 60£'827  (119°78) £5€°6 — 880°01  909°COT 9L8'LE § Tt sosuadxs [enooe pue siqeded spunoooy

’ SALITIEAVIT
(spuesnoy} uj)
paiepijosuo) suoneuiwily suopuRdy parepiy ) suon NA  (1)sdueinsu] (1)adusinsuy aB)sy [dy suonendd) QOYANV
13034 adw10)g pue  ODYANYV aj Kyense) Agernyg
Bunon DVS pue gadorg pus uiAoj
1neH-

:smof[o} se a1e (Paie1say) 0T ‘1€ YoIeA Jo se juswidas Ansnpur Aq $)22(s douejeq Sunepijosuo))

(penunuo)) — SINHWIALVLS TVIONVNIA AALVAITOSNOD OL SHLON

SHIIVIAISE]S dALYUI'TOSNOD ANV

NOILVHOJH 0D II ONIATOH DVS ‘NOLLVIOJA0D SNIATOH DVS
ANV SHIYVIAISINS GILVAITOSNOD ANV ODYIINV

99



DVS 01 ODAANY woyy Auadoid snpdins jo sfes uo ured ojeurwuryg ()
199p uo jsarur Auedwosiayur ojeuryg (9)

sunuord Auedwrosrsiur syeuiun]y (p)

swoour asea| Auedwoosojur aeurulfg (o)

so[qeAed pue sojqearaoar Auedwoorajut oreurwyg (q)

SOURIPISQNS Ul JUSWNISAATY djeuiwilg ()

2007 ‘1€ Taquiaoo( Jo se saoueeq ([)

(6v6°LE) £29°01 (L69]) (5L8°68) (156°25) (2L8) (1Lg¢) "88¢°61 118°6€ (SLR'6E)S  ~w e s1apjoyareys
uourwioy o s[qejieae (sso[) sduruieq
(€9671) - - {€96'71) - — - — - (g96Tl) "t SPUSPIAIP }001§ panogald 185a7]
(986°v2) £29°01 (L69°8) (z16'97) (156°29) (LL8) (12£9) 88€°61 118°6¢ (Tl6'9z) " (sso}) /sgururea JoN
SE6'ET — 169°¢ P01 — 6tS 19T (zoo'er)  (112'12) 96T’y 1ousq /(ssusdxa) xey swodu]
(1263¢) £29°01 (g8¢21) (951°2£) (156°TS) (97t'1) (£86°L) 06£°T¢ T20'19 (€:10748'1*) A (sso1) sBuuies Xel01g
1e1syl (688°5¢) ¥91°18 968201 — — — 769'€T 1666 €IT69 e asuadxs ysasou]
017'601 (99¢°sT) 9LL'89 00L°59 (156'25) (9zt'1) (£86°L) 5098 €I0°TL 19170 2 A suonesado woyy (ssof) sduyuiey
— L69°'8 — (L69°8) — — — — — (Le9'®) e OVS jo Bupuiey ur Ajnby
— — — — (156°28) — — — — s6cs Kreipisqng jo sguriey ur Aymby
LLT'ET0'T  (9EP'TH) 610811 P6S L6 | (L0Z'99) SIL9LT 616781 1L8°€T TERSOST  wvvyy sasuadxd pue $1500 [B1O]
9 LET (926°1) £LETT 666°L11 — — — 691°S SI18TIt S TR 1ou ‘voneardo( -
Tr9'6L (L8v) - 621°081 - - - (43841 070°$91 T/ 2 asuadxa 9589 S
618°LE — — 618°LE ~ 8£5°0T 18T°L1 — — — e §)500
uonistaboe Aorjod poisajop jo wonezIOWY
898°187 — — 898°18¢ — 82911 089821 — 09¢'Le s 35S0} pue sjjouag
STISTT — 65€°1C 95L°¢6 — — — 17 SELEE e $9Jes JO 180))
LT89¢1 2(189°LT) — 80S¥91 - — — — 805v91 — e osuadxa uorssiuwo)
09p'pell  a(TreTl) L8TS01 SIS IP0 Y 2(L02°99) 6vS0p 856°9¢ (105°6) Y1Z°266 (/1193 2 sosuadxs SunendQ
‘ sasuadxs pue s1s0))
LYE°TET'T  (66€°9L) S6L91T 166'166'1 (L0799) 68T°SLT 9€6'pL1 £16°69 $989¢9°T  SeI't ot St SONUAADI [EI0],
8951y a(688'st) - LSYLL - 168°¢1 81€7C $69°01 86L°6T sert QWIODUL JSAIFIUL PUE JUSWIISIAUT JON
ST6°L0E — — $T6°L0€ p(160'9) 86£°191 819°CS1 — — i SWNIUIaIg
688°TCT — $9L'8Y 1Z1LT — — — 96 S90'bLT e sa[es N
$00°09s‘1  2(01Sor) LTO8OT 8P TEF T 2(911°09) — — 791°68 THYEEY'T — e SnuaAdl [eIudY
SINUIATY
(spuesnoyy uy)
pajepriosuo)  suonwmuIy  suouend  pajEpyosun) - swopemuwiyg  ([)duwmsul  ([)dUeansul  NeRF [e3Y  suoyriadg  ODYHNY
jeio], adelo)g pue ODUANY ary Kyjense) adeio1g
Sunoy DVS pue xadosg pue 3uIA0IA
Iney-n

SMOJJ0] SB aI® €007 ‘1€ YOI POpu2 ieok oY) 1oj juawdes Ansnpul £q sjuawale)s sawooul uneprjosuo))

(panunuo)) — SINAWALVLS TVIONVNIA AALVAITOSNOD AASNAANOD OL SHLON

SANVIAISANS AALVATTIOSNOD UNV SNOLLYY04d 0D ONIATOH DVS
ANV SHIUVIAISENS dILVATTOSNOD ANV 0DYdINY




(£0v'09) 156'S1 (szo'vl) (62£°79) S6¥01 ¥91°¢ (569°8t) 9SH'TT 08s'ct (62£°279)8
(£96°Cl) — - (£96°C1) — — — — — (£96°21)
(opt'Ly) 1$6'S1 (sT0'p1) (99¢°6¥) S6p01 ¥91°¢ (569°s¥) 9S¥°7T 0851 (99¢°61)
168'61 - SLE'S 9151 — (81v°7) 9€L'ET (zoi's1)  (L11°9) L1bp1
(1££29) 15661 (oot‘61) (28%°¢9) S6¥°01 785°6 (1ev'ze) 86S°LE L6981 (£8L°€9)
S9P°601 (£9¢°82) 18019 LYL'9L — — — 66T°F¢ SLYT €LLOE
Pe1Th (1ir'zy) 189°1¥ $98°CI S61'01 785 (1ev'TL) LSS 1L TLEOE (010°¢¢)
— ST0'v1 — (szo'v1) — — — — — (szo'v1)
— — — — S6v 01 — — — — (s6t01)
SHPIS1T (820°7¢) S15°66 856°L80°C (015%L) £L6°9LI LS0O'SSE 9L 11E'919°1 €9¢°6
LS6°T01 (9z6'1) 1LOST 71868 — — — (6£0'T) 15€°26 (00S)
99°bLI (1£1°6) — S6L°E81 — — — 1zt 959°1L1 816
yLYOY — — vL9OY — £85°81 160°TT — — —
60L°ECTH - — 60LCTY — L16°0T1 961°66T — 9E0°LY -
P69°7T1 - 12221 CLYOTL — — — ¥T 6011 —
PorI (gzo'en) — SOV'ESH — - — — SOP'ES | —
SOE9rI‘l (816°L) £27°89 0£0°980°1 (01¢%L) CLYLE 01T'LL (Tr'y) PSEIPO L SH6'8
6LS€61°T (s9t°8¢) 961°LE1 YRYVINT (015'pL) $65781 979°78¢ 129°9L £89°9¥9°T  €L8
EpELY (£9¢°82) — 90LSL — SLI'ET 1$9°0T 12¢8 989°7C €L8
oLI‘11Y — — oL 1Y (s81°'01) 08€°651 SLE'19T — — -
918'TTT — 6VbvT L9€°861 ~ — — g T1£861 —
0$T°TIS‘I (zor'og) LYLTIT S09'6TH 1 (sz€v9) — — SPT89 ¢8osTrl — $
(spuesnol]) uy)
pAaeprosuo))  suoneuNWIjF suoljesddg pajepriosuo)  suoneulwl[y (1)adueansuy  (1)ddusmsuy  vIsy |eay suoneRdo ODYANY
(1L ade10)g pue ODUHANY LT Ajense)y ade10)g
FunoN DVS pue Apadosg pue Juno
"eH-(}

100T ‘1€ ¥2quiad3(] Jo se saosuefeq ()

........................... SIOPJOYaILYS

UOWIUIOD 0] ajqe[ieak (SSof) sSutuieqy

.............. SPUSPIALP }901s poirajard 5597

...................... Ammo_v mwc_c.—mw BN

............... 1youaq/ (osuadxa) xe) swodu|

...................... (ssoq) sSurwiea xe1a1d

........................ asuadxa 15919)U§

........... ‘- suotjerado wioly (ssof) s3unirey

................. OVS jo sdurureq w1 Qinbg
............. Kreipisqng jo s8utwrey ur A)jinbg

........... * - - -sasuadxd puE $1500 JR10]

........................ 19U ‘vonealdag
.......................... asuadxa asea

................................ $1500
uonisinboe Aorjod Palidjop jo uonezZIIOWY

....................... $35S0] pue s)yousg
............................ safes Jo 1507
..................... asuadxa UOTSSILIOY)

...................... sasuadxa Guneradp

sasuadxa pue $1500)

........................ SONUDAII [RI0L

........ QUIOJUT 1S2121Ul PUE JUIUWSIAUL 19N
.............................. SWINIWGS g
............................... $o[BS 19N

.......................... ANUIAJL [BIUIY

SANUAAY

ISMO[[0) St 218 (Pale1say) T00T ‘1€ YDIBIA Papue Jeak oyl 1oj juswdoes Ansnpui Aq SHUOUWIIE]S 2WodUl SUNIBPIOSUO))

(panuhuo)) — SINAWALYLS TVIDONVNIA AALVAITOSNOD AASNIANOD OL SHLON

SAVIAISANS AALVAITOSNOD ANV SNOLLVIOJdA0D HINIA'TIOH DVS
ANV SHIIVIAISANS dALVAI'TOSNOD ANV ODdANY

101



0007 ‘1€ 12quaod( Jo se sdouejegqg (1)

(£L05S) 868°01 (oov'6) (145°99) 769°¢1 96T (18620) 197°¢1 (891°9) (1£5'9¢)$ " s19pjoyareys uowuIod 03 d[qe[reae sfururey
(£96°C1) — — (€96'21) - — — — — (e96'T1) SPUAplAlp 3001s palajaid :ssa
(o11°29) 868°01 (0or'6) (809°¢t) 759°¢1 9T (186'70) 197°¢1 (391°9) (809°¢y) e (sso}) sTuruies 1oN
¥s'TT — oLT'S vLE'L) — (8s1°1) 088'6 (861°8) 126y 6T6° I e 159uaq/ (dsuadxa) Xey awodu]
(#$9v9) 86801 (0Ls'v1) (286°09) TS9°¢CT ¥6£°C (198°2¢) 6SY°1T (680°11)  (LES'cS)  ~rrrrroerrerreeee (ss0]) /s8urmies XBI2I
8L8IIT (rsv'87) 15P°€S 18898 - — — S9T vy r60°L1 TTSST e asuadya 152593u]
vIT'LY (955°L1) 188°8¢ 668'ST 59°¢1 Y6£°C (198°2¢) pTLSY S00°9 (s10'0¢) suonerado woij (sso[) sSururey
— 00%'6 — (oot'6) — — — — — (oor'6) HOVS jo sButuses ut Ajinbyg
— — — — 789'€1 - — - — (zso'cry SOUEIpISQNS 0010WY Jo sSurures ul Aunby
96T786' | (855°70) 66V 1L SIECE6'T (vOL°18) €T3 STY'¥8T 67€'L1 SITLLSY  vT6'L e sosuadxa pue §1502 [EJO],
L08'€01 (86¥'1) $8ETI 026°T6 - - - 86TS 6£5°L8 154 B 1ou ‘woneidadoq
09¥°sL1 (r60't) — $SS6LL — — — 9L8'T1 062°L91 1:1:1° H asuadys osea]

TeT'9t - - TET'9¢ - 8£9°61 6591 - — —  rerrrieemrnrreenens $1500
uonisinboe Aorjod patiejap jo uoneznIouly
6L0°T€E — — 6L0°1¢¢€ - £ET'6L SeEnI1e — 1z5‘or — e S350 puE Sjyouag
908971 - LL86 629°911 — — — 14 109911 el S3[es JO 1500
€987l (gzL'on) — 885 Ch1 — - — — 885 EH1 m— e sasuadxa UOISSILILIOD)

LOE9LOT (£vT'9) LET'6 £IE€£0T (+0L°18) TSE'6T 60595 L9V OLS'TITOT  EIT'L ot sasuadxs SuneradQ
sasuadxd pue 51500
087°620°C (r1s'6r) 08€°011 ¥19°896°1 (YOL 18) L1911 L95°16T £60°¢8 OTI'ERS' T 196 oo SINUAI [EI0],
L6TTS (¥S¥'87) - 1SL°08 — 100°61 6LY'ST 9601 OPE'YT €96 T SUIOOUI JS2I1UT PUE JUIWISIAUL JON
801°82¢ — — 801°8Z¢ (965°01) 919°C1 1 880°977 - - —  rrrrrrorromeserersseneces SUINIIIAL
£YTTIT — £T6'LT 0zZE'P61 — — — 0$ 0LTY61 e safes 10N

T7€8°9Ev°) (090°10) LSYT6 SEP'SOL’] (801°1L) — — 1v0'TL POS'P9E'T (T) e INU2ASI [RIUIY
SONUIAIY

(spuesnoy) ui)
parepy ) swonuwuny  suonesdQ pajeprjosuo)  suonewrmyy  (p)aaueinsu]  ([)oduvinsup  JeIsH [BAY - suonedQ  ODUYANY
{2301, " 3eroyg pue OJUANY Py Lpense)) adei0)g
Sunoy DVS pue £uadoig pue Sutaop]
10¢H-N

SMOJ[0J sk are (Pajelsay) [00T ‘1€ YOIBIA PIpuo Iedk oy} Joj Juswdos Ansnpul 4Q Siuswialels awooul Supepijosuo))

(panunuo)) — SINAWALV.LS TVIONVNIA AALVATTOSNOD AASNAANOD OL SALON

SHIMVIAISENS ALVAI'TOSNOD ANV SNOLLVIOdYO0D ONIATOH DVS
ANV SHIIVIAISYS FILVAITOSNOD ANV ODYHINY

102



7007 ‘1§ 19quada(] Jo se soouefeq ()

P£8'99 — 799y TLITY — 07€°6 801y pLl 940'0¢ 4% 1 BN S pouad jo pus 9y) 18 SIUS[EAINDD Ysed pue yse)
oIy — 01 9ty Iy - 8516 z16's 9LS 61L°6T b T pousad
Jjo w:_:Ewoﬁ_ 243 e wuco—wiswu ysed pue :wnU
88€°ST — 59y 9¢L'0T — 791 (+08°1) (zor) LTE'Y €5t°81 " sjuajearnbo yses pue Ysed ul (ISLAIOOP) OSEAIOU]
(ovo'er) 1101 76912 (evL'se) (005°6€) 65T°LY — TT9'001  SL8LT  {666'181) " sanlanoe Surueuy Aq (pasn) papiacsd yses joN
(Zz0'86) — — (zz0°86) — (220'86) — — — e S[EMBIPYYim 1OBIIUOD JUSUIISOAU]
182691 - — 182691 — 187691 - — — — e s)1s0dap 10RIIUOD 1UBUNSIAU]
(08°9) - — (08r'9) — — — — — (o8v'9) i pred spuapiaip 0015 pariojaid
(80v°1) — - (0¥'1) — — — — — (sov‘r) oo 1ou ‘suopisinboe 301 Ainseal],
(zirTey) 8£8°8T (sgr'ee)  (Si18cer) — — — (Lz) — (88Lcey) oo sajou uo sjuourfed [edoutiy
SL6 — — SL6 — — — — SL6 et ueo| uo sjuswied
— —_— — — — — — — — e saleys jo aseyoIng
— — — — — — _ — — — e ueo] uo JuswAeday :JOSY poderssa]
(010°¢) - — (010°¢) - — - (089) - (Gt §1500 9ouenSSt 143
9€8°6rt (Lz8'L2) LT88S 9¢8'81¢ (00s°6¢£) - - 67e°101  — LO0°LST e $3J0U WOLJ SPIIV0IY
006°1T — — 0061 — — — - 00691 000’ T SBULMOLIOQ WLIGY-LIOUS Ul dFueyd JaN
:S2M1ALOR wEo:m:@ EO.C SMO[] (SED)
(zo1°9£) — (z15°0€) 650°L0T L8 (s11'6p) 6TE€L (c96'c1)  (Lyo'Le)  (¥9) © o sanlanoe Junsaaut Aq (pasa) papiaord yseo 10N
18"y — — 18t'p TLL Y (sL5°€) (L61°81) 8%t — — e SJUSUIISHAUT JO1J0 Ul s3uryD)
€LI'I - — €L1'8I - 60v°L1 19¢ o€l €L Sl sueo| 93eduol
£r0°CC — — £40°TT — £¥0'TT — — — T ajeIsa feay
$88°C — — $88°C — $88°T — — — — e Y018 parojald
i _ _ -° _ i _ - _ P Jo0IS UowtIO))
PIT'9E - - vI'Y9¢ - bIpLT9T £LE°101 - - — it SOUMIEW PaxLy
638°96 - - 688'96 - - - 00911 687°¢8  — oottt yuswdinbo pue jueid ‘Kradord
(SJUDUIISAAUL JO J[BS WOI] Spaddold
— - - 000°zC (000°72) - - - — e sueo| o3edoN
(65L17) - — (65L17) — (65L12) — — — — T areIss B3y
(o1v'1) - - (011 005°L1 (016°81) - - - — e JUSUIISIAUL J3SSE TOUIQ
e o _ v i b o _ _ e Y0IS PouIayaIg
_ _ _ _ B _ _ _ _ [ 001G Uowwod
(tse'sLz) - - (Lse'sLe)y  — (6v6'2927)  (80¥°01) - - —  TrTrrrmmrrrmmmemmrroresnes SonUnjEW paxLy
Gor'grz) — (tis'or)  (ev9'Tic)  — - - (oL1'0g)  (e0p'z8D) (v9) ot yawidinba pur yueid “Asodorg

ISJUSWIS2AUL JO SISEYIINS
:$9111AIDE SU)SIAUL WIOL] SMOY YSED)

0€SvL (t10'1) TLYEd 69079 (zeL1y)  (Tse'Ll) (ggr'se) (650°L8)  66v°€8 QIS'QOT § ey SalIANO.
Gunerodo £q (poesn) paplaoid smop ysed 19N

(spuesnoy) uj)
pajepIjosuo) suoyeuiwyy  suonedQ  pajeprosuo)) suoneuiwmipy (1)9oueinsuy  (j)Iduvinsu]  e)sy (Y  suonedy  ODAANYV

1oL age10)g pur ODHAINVY yYry AyBnse) EY AN
Sunop HvVS pue Apadorg pue Sunsopy
fneH-N

:SMO[[0] SE 3IB £00T ‘1€ Y2IB popue Ieok oy} 1o} Juowdas A1jsnpul £q sJUSWiolels Moy YSed Juleprjosuo))

(panunuo)) — SINFWALV.LS TVIONVNIA AALVATTOSNOD dASNAANOD OL SALON

SANVIAISENS dALVATI'IOSNOD ANV SNOLLVIOJAd0D ONIATOH DVS
ANV SHIHVIAISANS dALVAITOSNOD ANV ODdINY

103



——

et — 01 9EY‘ 1 — TI16'S 8516 9.5 61L°ST 1L $

8T9°6¥ — 01 8196t — £90°¢ 80L°92 886 ISZR! 3t

(z81°8) — — (z81°8) — 6v8°T (osse1)  (Tiv) v16'9 ()

9€5'6sT  (TTS'PR) soo'Lee (Lv6T8) (108°L) — 880°8¢ (¢€) vIg'st  (Sigep1)
(5¥8°66) — — (sp8°66) — — (s¥8°66) — — —

79051 — — TEF0S | - — TEP0S — — —

— — — — (105°L) ~ 10S°L — — —
(vsron — — wsion - — — — — wsron
(£96°C1) — — (¢96C1) — — — -~ — (g96°C1)
(181°L01)  LL8¢6l  (L8T661)  (1LLTOD) — — - (¢€) — (s¢L101)

£60°1 — — £60°1 — — — — £60°1 —
(zL) — — (zL) — — — — (zr) —
(06%) — — (06£) - — — — — (06¢)

£68°Lve  (66£°8L7)  T6T9TS — - — - — — —
(LLT'6) — — (LLZ'6) — — — — coL'vyr  (OLO'WT)
(L30°8P1)  P9E’LEL  (6S9°STE)  80TOP 600°L 98cv9  (88v'0L)  foL'ewl  (S80°S01) €89

L68°T — — L68T 600°L 996°1 (sL5°8) L68°T — —
06981 — — 06981 — z 016'L1 0I¢ 897 —

00L‘E — — 00LC — 7997 8E0°1 — — —

00v'y — — 00ty — — 00v'Yy — — —
91L°€ET — — 9ILEET — TELYY $86°891 — — —
sieete (SEO'IPL)Y  PITES 961°LIE — — — PI'CLT  LIC'EPT  $69
(1s5¢'1) — — (asen) - — (o6L) (196} - —

LLT'Y — — LLTY — Iy (s¢) — — —
(652°T) — — (652°7) — — (6$7'T) — — —
(zL0'D) — — (zL0'D) — — (zL0'7) — — —
(81t) — — (81t) — — (s1v) — — —
{6ss'Ls) — - (655°L57) — (888°8) (129'8b7)  — — -
(e8¥°18€)  e6c9LT  (cL88LE)  (600°187) — — — (Lzeee)  (oLo'sre) (1)
(1£9%61) (z#8°S) (9p€°1) LSSPE (434 (Lgs‘19)  (0S1°6) (280 PP 1) SHT'96 686°RP1 §

Amv__«m:c__P _:tvi L ) Lo .
© pajeprjosuo’y  suopewluipy  SioneredQ pajepijosuo))  suopBmIUNyY  (])ddueinsu]  (J)duransu)  AesH ¥ suonerdy  ODYANY
[l LA § ade10}g pue ODYANY fpense) Yy adero)g
Bunoy DVS pue Auedoig pue
Sunoy
I"eH-N

189k Jo pud ayj e sjus[eAInba ysed pue yse))

................................... BT

Jo SuuuiBaq 2y) I syuspeamba ysed pue ysed)

............................. wHEO—.m\r_:UD

USED puU®B YSBO Ul (9SB2ID9P) ISBAIdU|

...... sananor Suueuy Aq paprold yses 1N

........... S[EMBIPYIIM JOBIIUOD JUIWIISIAUY
............... m:womu_u 10B1JUOD JUSWISIAU]
.......................... U:NQ spuaplal(q
............ 19U ‘suonisimbor 3o01s AInseal]
............. pred spuopiaip jo01s pariajald
............... sajou uo spudwAed [edoug
.................... o[ Uo mH:uE\mmL
................... SIRYS JO ISBYIING
:ued diysisumQ Yooi1g 2akojdwy a8eiaaa
..................... 1509 Oocmzwmm ﬁﬂum
...................... $2]0U WOJ] SPadd0id
....... sZuimoLI0q ULIN-1IoYs Ul 23uByd 19N

:$2131A1108 SUIOUBUY WO} smoy Use))

........ sananor Junsaaut £q (pasn) yses 1aN]

.............. SIUDWUISIAUL SOYI0 Ul saguey))
...................... WC.WO— Uwﬁmwhoz
Cereeeeeeeeeeiiiio gunes oy
...................... §201s patiajaLd
...................... FOOIS UOWWOT)
..................... sonLINYEW poxT|
......... juswdinbo pue jued ‘Aadorg
ISTUDUISIAUL JO SI[BS WIOJ] SPIF0L]
...................... w:.ﬂo— mewucﬂoz
......................... e1se vy

...................... ¥001S patrajald
...................... §00)S WOWIWIO?)
.................... sanunEWw paxig
......... wowdmbs pue yueld ‘Alradorg
ISJUDWISIAUL JO SISEYIINJ

S21IALOR FuiISOAUL WOL) SMOP Yse))

............................... SI1TAIIOR

Bunerado £q (posn) popiaoid smop ysed J1oN

SMOJ[0] B are (PIIeIsSaY) 7OOT ‘1€ USIBIN papud Ieak oy Joj juowdos Ansnpul £q sjusuaie)s mof yseo Junepijosuo))

(panunuo)) — SININALVLS TVIONVNIA AALVATTIOSNOD AASNAANOD OL SALON

SHRVIAISANS AALVAITOSNOD ANV SNOILLVIOdd0D IONIATOH JVS
ANV SHIFVIAISINS dALVATTIOSNOD ANV OOHIINY

104



8796k — ol 819°6¥ — £90°C 80L°9C 886 SpL8l 120 $
Li427 — 01 9Eh 3P — 69¢°1 60L°6T 196 682°91 801
78111 — — z81°l — ¥69°1 (100°¢) LT 96#°C 9
9L1°%6 (Lo9‘617)  L6SLOE 981°0T £9L°LS — vOLCT (£20°8S) 019 (818°¢)
(£s6'TL) — — (¢s6'TL) — — (£s6°TL) — . —
L5998 — — L5998 — — L5998 — — —
(£96°T1) — — (£96°C1) £9L°LS — — (goL'Ls) — (£96°T1)
(L19'6) — — (L19'6) — — — — — (L19°6)
(veserl)  Lov'orl  (Obe‘zs1)  (190°LE1) — - - (1¢) — (o10°L€1)
6£T°1 — - 6£T°1 — — — - 201l LET
(9%) — — (9v) - — — — (9v) -~
(+69) — — (v69) — — - (652) — (sev)
LLOYE (+10°99¢)  Les‘oor  (orp) — — — — (9v1) —
0L0°9¢1 — — 0L0°9S1 — — - — — 0L09¢1
(v79°697)  606'8LI (1zezee)  (Tigszl) LLS'ET wisen) (191°02)  (865°01) (0o01's01) (91)
— — — LLS'ET (sve'6) (zeevn) — — —
PeTLl — — vTTiLl — L LO9ET 897 [429 -
TLE — - TLe — — TLE — — -
$61°9 — — v61'9 — — v61°0 — — -
19L°TS1 — — 19L°TS1 — 186°05 08L°101 — — —
ovTvse  (6Lt°8€) 56°9F L9LSPE — — — L1ty 0LS'€0E —
(£9$°CT) — - (£9570) — — (19v't0) — (zo1) -
(97) — — (92) — (92) — — — —
(§16°S) — — (S16°6) — — (516') -— — -~
(gLL°1€) — — (€LLT1E) — — (eLLi1e) — — —
(v98zer) — — (v9gzzi) — (1£1°68) (ceL'L9) — — —
(pLT'L19)  88€°L1T  (£49'698)  (686'F9%) — — - (¢90'¢s)  (016°11p) (91)
0£9°CLI 8690 1ZA B! 808°911 (ove18) 8021 95t'e 86989 9r6901  0F8C  §
(spussnoyy, uj)
pajepy| D) suopewwiIg suonesdQ pajepyosuo)y suoneurunpy  ({)adueinsu]  ()douesnsuy  vISHY [#3Y SuonerRd(  QDUANY
[lalY R ’ adei01§ pue ODUAINV Ayense) Iy a3u10)g
Sunoy DVS pue Apadorg pue
dunso
JneH-N)

" 129k Jo pua 9y} Je sjus[eAlnbs yseo pue yse)

....................... 1294

Jo Swuui8sg ay) jB sjuspealnbs yses pue ysen)

.................. Wﬁﬁ“ﬂ“\fm:—uo
ysed pue yseds ul (9SeaInap) 2sealou|

...... sanianoe Juidueuy Aq paplaocid yseo 10N

S[EMBIDYIIM JOBIIUOD JUIWISIAU]
T SHSOdIp JOBIIUOD JUDIIISIAUL
............... ﬂv:wa wbcvﬂvmswmm—

19U ‘suonisinboe }o0)s Ainsear]
pred spuspialp y201s patlayaid

** )JeIpI2A0 ysed ul afueyo JoN
*+* sajou uo sjuswAed [edioung
......... UBO| UO SJUSWAR]
........ sareys jo aseyoing

uepd digsisumQ) %001G 9akojduiy 28eioaa]

............ 1500 93uenssI 1q3(
.......... $2]0U WIOJ} SPIID0IJ

....... s3uImosioq wiIa-poys ur a3uryd 19N

1SaN1ALOE SUIDUBUY WOI) SMOY YSB))

........ sananoe Junsaaul Aq (pasn) yseo 1aN

* T SJUSLUISIAUL JOY10 Ul saSury))
........... sueoj s3eduoN
.............. 21.)$0 [BY
.......... 30018 paliajald
........... ¥001s uoWWO))
.......... SonUNiBWE paxL]
juowdinba pue jueld ‘Aiedoig
SJUSUIISOAUN JO SI[BS WIOI] SPa2d0id
.......... sueo| a3e3oWN
.............. 21e1SO [2oy
...... JUSWI)SIAUT JISSE JOYI()
........... NI0}S paliajalg
........... YO0} UOW W)y
.......... sanuniew paxig
juswdinba pue jued ‘Auadorg

ISHIBWISIAUL JO SISBYOIN

:SONIATIOR UISOAUL UIOI) SMOf YSBD)

.................... sauIAnoE

Suneiodo Aq (pasn) popiaoid smop yses joN

$MO(J0) SB a1 1007 ‘1€ YOIBIA POpU2 1eaA 2Y) I0J Judtudas AIsnpul AQ SJUSWIDIBIS MO]) Sed Jurjepljosuo))

(panupuo)) — SINFWALVLS TVIONVNIA AALVAITOSNOD AASNIAANOD OL SALON

SHAVIAISINS dALVAITOSNOD ANV SNOLLVIOJdd0D INIATOH DVS
ANV SHIIVIAISINS dALVAITOSNOD ANV ODYINV

105



AMERCO AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES AND
SAC HOLDING CORPORATION, SAC HOLDING I CORPORATION
AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Financial information by geographic area are as follows

Year Ended United States Canada Consolidated
(All amounts are in thousands U.S, $’s)

March 31, 2003

Total TeVENUES. .. ..ottt e $2,077,333 55,054 2,132,387

Depreciation/amortization net ........................ 169,799 5,466 175,265

Interest expense/ (benefit) ....... ... ... ... .. ... ... 146,144 1,987 148,131

Pretax earnings/(loss) . ... .. o i {45,628) 6,707 (38,921)
Income tax expense/(benefit) ............ .. ... ..... 16,282 (2,347) 13,935

Identifiable assets ... .. i e 3,673,738 131,928 3,805,666

March 31, 2002

TOtal TEVEMUES . . .. ..ottt et e e e $2,141,229 52,350 2,193,579

Depreciation/amortization net ........................ 138,401 5,230 143,631

Interest expense/(benefit) . ....... ... ... .. ... ..., 107,370 2,095 109,465

Pretax earnings/(loss) .. ... ... i (74,828) 7,497 (67,331)
Income tax expense/(benefit) ........................ 22,515 (2,624) 19,891

Identifiable assets . ... 3,615,108 117,209 3,732,317

23. Subsequent Eveats

On April 18, 2003, AMERCO filed suit against its former auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC). The
complaint seeks actual and punitive damages in excess of $2.5 billion dollars as a result of the alleged
negligent, fraudulent and tortious conduct of PwC during the last seven years of its audit engagement.

On June 20, 2003, AMERCO filed a voluntary petition for protection under Chapter 11 of the
U.S. Bankruptcy Code. AMERCO has taken this action in order to expedite the financial restructuring of its
debt. On August 13, 2003, Amerco Real Estate Company filed a voluntary petition for relief under Chapter 11
of the Bankruptcy Code with joint administration under BK-03-52103-GWZ. Not included in the Chapter 11
filing are the following AMERCO subsidiaries: U-Haul, Oxford Life Insurance Company and its subsidiaries,
and Republic Western Insurance Company, among others. The Chapter 11 filing by AMERCO is not
expected to impact the operations of these subsidiaries, and their business will continue uninterrupted.
Additionally, since the Company is solvent, with asset value in excess of its debt, AMERCO intends to repay
its creditors in full pursuant to a full-value plan of reorganization, without diluting the interest of its
shareholders.

On June 30, 2003, RepWest and Oxford exchanged their respective interests in Private Mini for certain
real property owned by certain SAC Holdings entities. The exchanges were non-monetary and were recorded
on the basis of the book values of the assets exchanged.

On May 20, 2003, RepWest consented to an Order for Supervision issued by the Arizona Department of
Insurance (“DOI”). The DOI determined that RepWest’s level of risk based capital (“RBC”) allowed for
regulatory control. Pursuant to this order and Arizona law, during the period of supervision, RepWest may not
engage in any of the following activities without the prior approval of the DOI. If RepWest fails to satisfy the
requirements to abate DOI’s concerns, the DOI may take further action, including, but not limited to,
commencing a conservatorship.

In April 2003, the Company determined that in connection with overall restructuring efforts, RepWest is
exiting non-U-Haul related lines of business.
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

SUMMARY OF EARNINGS OF INDEPENDENT TRAILER FLEETS
Unaudited

The following Summary of Earnings of Independent Trailer Fleets is presented for purposes of analysis
and is not a required part of the basic financial statements.
Years Ended March 31,
2003 2002 2001 2000 1999

(In thousands, except earnings
per $100 of average investment)

Earnings data (Note A):
Fleet owner income:

Credited to fleet owner gross rental income. . . . . $ 823 1,028 1,350 1,977 2,191
Credited to trailer accident fund (Notes D
and E) ... 49 61 79 114 144
Total fleet owner income .................. 872 1,089 1429 2,091 2,335
Fleet owner operation expenses:
Charged to fleet owner (Note C) ............. 4 532 719 999 873
Charged to trailer accident fund (Notes D
and F) ... 9 15 18 23 27
Total fleet owner operation expenses ........ 431 547 737 1,022 900
Fleet owner earnings before trailer accident fund
credit, depreciation and income taxes........ 402 496 631 978 1,318
Trailer accident fund credit (Note D) ........... 39 46 61 91 117
Net fleet owner earnings before depreciation and
INCOME TAXES .\ttt te i $ 441 542 692 1,069 1,435
Investment data (Note A): :
Amount atendof year................. ... ..., $1,380 1,663 2046 2,654 3272
Average amount during year ................... $1,526 1,855 2,350 3,574 3,574

Net fleet owner earnings before depreciation and
income taxes per $100 of average investment
(Note B) (unaudited) .................... $19.95 20.06 2338 28.12 29.56

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this. Summary of Earnings of Independent Trailer Fleets.
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
NOTES TO SUMMARY OF EARNINGS OF INDEPENDENT TRAILER FLEETS

(A) The accompanying Summary of Earnings of Independent Trailer Fleets includes the operations of
trailers under the brand name of “U-Haul” owned by independent fleet owners. Earnings data represent the
aggregate results of operations before depreciation and taxes. Investment data represent the cost of trailers and
investments before accumulated depreciation. ‘

Fleet owner income is based on Independent Rental Dealer reports of rentals transacted through the day
preceding the last Monday of each month and received by U-Haul International, Inc. by the end of the month
and U-Haul Center reports of rentals transacted through the last day of each month. Payments to fleet owners
for trailers lost or retired from rental service as a result of damage by accident have not been reflected in this
summary because such payments do not relate to earnings before depreciation and income taxes but, rather,
investment (depreciation).

The investment data is based upon the cost of trailers to the fleet owners as reflected by sales records of
the U-Haul manufacturing facilities.

{B) The summary of earnings data stated in terms of amount per $100 of average investment represents
the aggregate results of operations (earnings data) divided by the average amount of investment during the
periods. The average amount of investment is based upon a simple average of the month-end investment
during each period. Average earnings data is not necessarily representative of an individual fleet owner’s
earnings.

(C) A summary of operations expenses charged directly to independent fleet owners follows:

Year Ended March 31,
2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
(In thousands)

Licenses . ..o e $ 52 86 124 150 159
Public liability insurance ....................... DU 53 65 87 126 134
Repairs and maintenance. . ...........coovueriiiiin .. 317 381 508 723 580

42 532 719 99 8713

(D) The fleet owners and subsidiary U-Haul Rental Companies forego normal commissions on a portion
of gross rental fees designated for transfer to the Trailer Accident Fund. Trailer accident repair expenses,
otherwise chargeable to fleet owners, are paid from this Fund to the extent of the financial resources of the
Fund. The amounts designated “Trailer Accident Fund credit” in the accompanying summary of earnings
represents independent fleet owner commissions foregone, which exceed expenses borne by the Fund.

(E) Commissions foregone for transfer to the Trailer Accident Fund follow:

Fleet Owners

Subsidiary
U-Haul Subsidiary
Companies  Companies  Independent Total
(In thousands)
Year ended:

March 31,2003 .. ... $6,845 3,637 49 10,531
March 31,2002 ....... ... .. 6,385 3,377 61 9,823
March 31,2001 ... .. ... i 6,073 3,191 79 9,343
March 31,2000 ....... ... ... ... . ... 6,061 3,150 114 9,325
March 31, 1999 ... ... ... 6,081 3,131 144 9,356




ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
NOTES TO SUMMARY OF EARNINGS OF INDEPENDENT TRAILER FLEETS — (Continued)

(F) A summary of independent fleet owner expenses borne by the Trailer Accident Fund follows:

Fleet Owners ,I.Tl_ggfelr
Subsidiary Trailer Accident
- U-Haul Subsidiary Sub Accident Repair
Companies  Companies  Independent Total Retirements Expenses
(In thousands)
Year ended:
March 31,2003........... $1,095 582 8 1,685 394 2,079
March 31, 2002........... 1,225. 647 12 1,884 455 2,339
March 31, 2001........... 1,067 561 18 1,646 498 2,144
March 31, 2000........... 1,233 641 23 1,897 354 2,251
March 31, 1999........... 1,148 591 27 1,766 342 2,108

(G) Certain reclassifications have been made to the Summary of Earnings of Independent Trailer Fleets
for the fiscal years ended 1999 to conform to the current year’s presentation.
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SCHEDULE 1
CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF AMERCO
BALANCE SHEETS

March 31,
2003 2002
(In thousands)
ASSETS
Cash oo $ 18,524 71
Investment in subsidiaries . . ... ..o 995,818 956,737
Due from unconsolidated subsidiaries ........... ot 451,424 792,327
OtheT @SS ottt it e e e 155,691 27,416
Total ASSELS . o v vt e $1,621,457 1,776,551
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Liabilities:
Notes and loans payable . ........ . ... .. . $ 861,158 1,030,805
Other Habilities. . .. ..ot e 262,805 191,275
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stOCK . ... oot e — —
Common StOCK . ..o 10,563 10,563
Additional paid-in capital ....... ... 399,249 399,758
Accumulated other comprehensive income. ..., (55,765) (40,580)
Retained earnings/ (loss):
Beginning of year .. ........ R 601,481 663,810
Net earnings/ (108S) . ..ottt (26,912) (49,366)
Dividends accrued/paid. ... ... ... . (12,963) (12,963)
561,606 601,481
Less:
Cost of common shares in treasury .............. ... i (418,179)  (416,771)
Unearned employee stock ownership plan shares.......................... 20 20
Total stockholders’ equity ...t 497,494 554,471
Total Liabilities and stockholders’ equity .......................... $1,621,457 1,776,551

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF AMERCO
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Revenues
Net interest income from subsidiaries .....................
Expenses
Interest expense ...... .. ...
Other eXpenses . ...ttt
Total eXpenses .. ...t e

Operating 108S . . ..ot
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated subsidiaries............
Income tax (expense)/benefit ............... ... ... ...

Net earnings/ (loss) ... . i
Less: preferred stock dividend ............. ... .. ... ...

Earnings/ (Loss) available to common shareholders .........
Earnings/ (1Loss) per common share (both basic and diluted):

Weighted average common shares outstanding .............

Years Ended March 31,

2002 2001
2003 (Restated) (Restated)

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

$ 1,195 873 961
69,213 30,773 25,522
44,444 9,363 7,924

113,657 40,136 33,446
(112,462)  (39,263)  (32,485)
44,254 (24,520)  (23,052)

41,296 14,417 11,929

$  (26912)  (49,366)  (43,608)

(12,963) (12,963) (12,963)

(39,875) (62,329) (56,571)

$  (1.92) (2.96) (2.63)

20,743,072 21,022,712 21,486,370

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF AMERCO
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended March 31,
2003 2002 (Restated) 2001 (Restated)
(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net earnings/(108S) ... ..ot $ (26912) (49,366) (43,608)
AMOTtization, Net .. ... ... 1,752 2,046 1,364
Gain/(loss) onsale . ....... ... ... i — (559) —

Equity in earnings of subsidiaries...................... — — —
(Increase) decrease in amounts due from unconsolidated

subsidiaries . ...... .. . — — —
Net change in operating assets and liabilities............ 225,676 196,468 46,084
Net cash provided by operating activities . ............ 200,516 148,589 3,840
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property, plant and equipment........... (64) (12) (16)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment . .. - 695 -
Net cash used by investing activities. ................ (64) 683 (16)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Net change in short term borrowings .................. 5,000 (24,070) 156,070
Proceeds from notes .......... ... L 257,007 — —
Leveraged Employee Stock Ownership Plan-repayments
fromloan ©...... ... .. .. — — 137
Principal payments onnotes .. ............. .. ....... .. (433,788) (101,738) (137,010)
Debt issuance costs . ..ot (2,330) (390) (433)
Repurchase of preferred stock ........... .. ... ... ..... — — —
Preferred stock dividends paid ........................ (6,480) (12,963) (12,963)
Treasury stock purchase, net ............. N (1,408) (10,154) (9,617)
Extraordinary loss on early extinguishment of debt, net ... — — —
‘Net cash used by financing activities................. (181,999) (149,315) (3,818)
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents .......... 18,453 (43) 6
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year.......... 71 114 108
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year ............. § 18,524 71 114

Income taxes paid in cash amounted to $11.4 million, $5.9 million and $5.4 million for 2003, 2002 and
2001, respectively. Interest paid in cash amounted to $76.6 million, $77.9 million and $92.6 million for 2003,
2002 and 2001, respectively.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF AMERCO

NOTES TO CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
March 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

AMERCO, a Nevada corporation, was incorporated in April, 1969, and is the holding company for
U-Haul International, Inc., Republic Western Insurance Company, Oxford Life Insurance Company and
Amerco Real Estate Company. The financial statements of the Registrant should be read in conjunction with
the Consolidated Financial Statements and notes thereto included in this Form 10-K.

AMERCO is included in a consolidated Federal income tax return with all of its U.S. subsidiaries.
Accordingly, the provision for income taxes has been calculated for Federal income taxes of AMERCO and
subsidiaries included in the consolidated return of the Registrant. State taxes for all subsidiaries are allocated
to the respective subsidiaries.

The financial statements include only the accounts of the Registrant (a Nevada Corporation), which
include certain of the corporate operations of AMERCO (excluding SAC Holdings). The interest in
AMERCO’s majority owned subsidiaries is accounted for on the equity method. The debt and related interest
expense of AMERCO have been allocated to the consolidated subsidiaries. The intercompany interest income
and expenses are eliminated in the consolidated financial statements.

2. Guarantees

AMERCO has guaranteed performance of certain iong-term leases and other obligations. See Note 15 of
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

3. Notes and Loans Payable

Notes and loans payable consist of the following:

March 31,
2003 2002
(In thousands)

Medium-term notes payable, unsecured, 7.23% to 8.08% interest rates, due through

202, e $109,500 109,500
Notes payable under Bond Backed Asset Trust, unsecured, 7.14% interest rates,
due through 2002. . . ... 100,000 100,000

Notes payable to banks under commercial paper agreements, unsecured, 5.00% to
6.20% INTETESE FALIES . . o v\ vttt et e e e e — —

Notes payable to public, unsecured, 7.85% interest rate, due through 2003........ 175,000 175,000
Senior Note, unsecured, 7.20% interest rate, due through 2002.................. _— 150,000
Senior Note, unsecured, 8.80% interest rate, due through 2005.................. 200,000 200,000
Other notes payable, unsecured, 8.15% interest rate, due through 2017. .......... 22,000 30
Notes payable to banks under revolving lines of credit, unsecured, 7.00% interest

223 C 205,000 283,000
Debt related to SWAP termination . ......... e 5,582 775
Debt related to BBAT option termination . ...... ... . . o i 26,550 —
Other short-term promissory notes, 2.88% interest rate ........................ 17,526 12,500

$861,158 1,030,803

For additional information, see Note 6 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SCHEDULE V

AMERCO AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES
SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION (FOR PROPERTY-CASUALTY INSURANCE UNDERWRITERS)
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002, 2001 AND 2000

Claim and Claim

Reserves .
for Unpaid Adjustment Amortization Paid
Deferted  Claims and Expenses Incurred of Deferred  Claims and
Policy Claim  Discount Net __Relatedto Policy Claim Net
Fiscal Affiliation with  Acquisition Adjustment if any, Unearned  Net Earned  Investment Current  Prior  Fiscal Acquisition Adjustment Premiums
Year Registrant Costs Expenses - Deducted Premiums Premiums(1) Income(2) Year Year Year Costs Expenses  Written (1)

(In thousands)

2003 Consolidated $13,206 399,448 N/A 62,346 149,209 27,931 112,284 16,396 2003 17,143 196,798 120,946
property
casualty entity

2002 Consolidated $15,946 448,984 N/A 91,725 253,799 27,876 232,984 23042 2002 22,067 236,866 227,378
property
casualty entity

2001 Consolidated $21,374 382,651 N/A 107,880 216,915 30,372 162,265 41,285 2001 16,571 178,221 256,034
property . ‘
casualty entity . \

(1) The earned and written premiums are reported net of intersegment transactions. Earned premiums eliminated in consolidation
amount to $3.4 million, $8.2 million and $9.2 million for the years ended 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

(2) Net Investment Income excludes net realized gains (losses) on investments of ($5.6 million), ($7.2 million) and
{$4.9 million) for the years ended 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

AMERCO

By: /s/ EDWARD J. SHOEN

Edward J. Shoen
Chairman of the Board and President

Dated: August 22, 2003

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below
constitutes and appoints Edward J. Shoen his true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, with full power of
substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any
and all amendments to this Form 10-K Annual Report, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other
documents in connection therewith with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said
attorney-in-fact and agent, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act or things requisite
and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully and to all intents and purposes as he might or
could do in person hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorney-in-fact and agent, or his substitute or
substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be. done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below
by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ EDWARD J. SHOEN Chairman of the Board and President August 22, 2003
Edward J. Shoen (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/  GARY B. HORTON ‘ Treasurer August 22, 2003
Gary B. Horton (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
/s/ WILLIAM E. CARTY Director August 22, 2003
William E. Carty
/s/ JAMES P. SHOEN Director August 22, 2003
James P. Shoen
/s/ CHARLES J. BAYER : Director August 22, 2003
Charles J. Bayer
/s/  Joun M. Dopbs Director August 22, 2003
John M. Dodds
/s/  JaMEes J. GROGAN Director August 22, 2003
James J. Grogan
/s/ JoHN P. BROGAN Director August 22, 2003
John P. Brogan
/s/ M. FRANK LyoONs Director August 22, 2003

M. Frank Lyons
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

U-HAUL INTERNATIONAL, INC.

By: /s/ EpwarD J. SHOEN

Edward J. Shoen
Chairman of the Board and President

Dated: August 22, 2003

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below
constitutes and appoints Edward J. Shoen his true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, with full power of
substitution and resubstitution, for him and in his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any
and all amendments to this Form 10-K Annual Report, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other
documents in connection therewith with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said
attorney-in-fact and agent, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act or things requisite
and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully and to all intents and purposes as he might or
could do in person hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorney-in-fact and agent, or his substitute or
substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below
by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ EpWARD J. SHOEN Chairman of the Board and President August 22, 2003
Edward J. Shoen (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ GARY B. HORTON Assistant Treasurer August 22, 2003
Gary B. Horton {Principal Financial and Accounting
Officer)
/s/ WiLLiaMm E. CARTY Director August 22, 2003

William E. Carty

/s/ JouN M. DoDDSs Director August 22, 2003
John M. Dodds

/s/ JoHN C. TAYLOR Director . August 22, 2003
John C. Taylor
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CERTIFICATIONS
I, Edward J. Shoen, certify that:

[. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of AMERCO and U-Haul International, Inc.
(together, the “registrant”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material
fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual
report; '

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in
this annual report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

4, The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the
registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information
relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date
within 90 days prior to the filing date of this annual report (the “Evaluation Date”); and

c) Presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and 1 have disclosed, based on our most recent
evaluation, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and
have identified for the registrant’s auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have
a significant role in the registrant’s internal controls; and

6. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have indicated in this annual report whether there
were significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal
controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard
to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

/s/‘ EpwaRrD J. SHOEN
Edward J. Shoen
Chairman of the Board
and U-Haul International, Inc.

Date: August 22, 2003
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I, Garle. Horton, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of AMERCO and U-Haul International, Inc.
(together, the “registrant”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material
fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in
this annual report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

4. ‘The registrant’s other certifying officers and [ are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the
registrant and have:

‘a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information
relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly daring the period in which this annual report is being prepared;

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date
within 90 days prior to the filing date of this annual report (the “Evaluation Date”); and

¢) Presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures based on our evaluation as of the Evaluation Date;

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and 1 have disclosed, based on our most recent
evaluation, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a} All significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and
have identified for the registrant’s auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have
a significant role in the registrant’s internal controls; and

6. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have indicated in this annual report whether there
were significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal
controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard
to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

/s!/  Gary B. HOrRTON

Gary B. Horton
Treasurer of AMERCO and
Assistant Treasurer of U-Haul International, Inc.

Date: August 22, 2003

118




EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit

_No. Description

2.1 Order Confirming Plan(1)

2.2 Second Amended and Restated Debtor’s Plan of Reorganization Proposed by Edward J. Shoen(1)
31 Restated Articles of Incorporation of AMERCO(2)

3.2 Restated By-Laws of AMERCO(3)

3.3 Restated Articles of Incorporation of U-Haul International, Inc.
34 Bylaws of U-Haul International, Inc.

4.1 Debt Securities Indenture dated May 1, 1996(1)

42 First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 6, 1996(4)

4.3 Rights Agreement, dated as of August 7, 1998(13)

4.5 Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of October 22, 1997(11)
4.6 Calculation Agency Agreement(11)

4.7 6.65%-AMERCO Series 1997 A Bond Backed Asset Trust Certificates (“BATs”) due October 15,
2000(11)

4.8 Indenture dated September 10, 1996(9)

4.9 First Supplemental Indenture dated September 10, 1996(9)

4.10  Senior Indenture dated April 1, 1999(14)

4.11  First Supplemental Indenture dated April 5, 1999(14)

4.12  Second Supplemental Indenture dated February 4, 2000(15)

10.1*  AMERCO Employee Savings, Profit Sharing and Employee Stock Ownership Plan(5)

10.1A* First Amendment to the AMERCO Employee Savings, Profit Sharing and Employee Stock
Ownership Plan(16)

10.2 U-Haul Dealership Contract(5)

10.3 Share Repurchase and Registration Rights Agreement with Paul F. Shoen(5)
10.5 ESOP Loan Credit Agreement(6)

10.6 ESOP Loan Agreement(6)

10.7 Trust Agreement for the AMERCO Employee Savings, Profit Sharing and Employee Stock
Ownership Plan(6)

10.8 Amended Indemnification Agreement(6)
10.9 Indemnification Trust Agreement(6)
10.10  Promissory Note between SAC Holding Corporation and a subsidiary of AMERCO(12)

10.10A  Addendum to Promissory Note between SAC Holding Corporation and a subsidiary of
AMERCO(20)

10.11 Promissory Notes between Four SAC Self-Storage Corporation and a subsidiary of AMERCO(12)

10.11A  Amendment and Addendum to Promissory Note between Four SAC Self-Storage Corporation and
Nationwide Commercial Co.(20)

10.12  Management Agreement between Three SAC Self-Storage Corporation and a subsidiary of
AMERCO(12)

10.13  Management Agreement between Four SAC Self-Storage Corporation and a subsidiary of
AMERC(12)

10.14 Agreement, dated October 17, 1995, among AMERCO, Edward J. Shoen, James P. Shoen, Aubrey
K. Johnson, John M. Dodds and William E. Carty(8)

10.15 Directors’ Release, dated October 17, 1995, executed by Edward J. Shoen, James P. Shoen, Aubrey
K. Johnson, John M. Dodds and William E. Carty in favor of AMERCO(8)

10.16 AMERCO Release, dated October 17, 1993, executed by AMERCO in favor of Edward J. Shoen,
James P. Shoen, Aubrey K. Johnson, John M. Dodds and William E. Carty(8)




3\?9".):
10.21
10.22
10.23
10.24
10.25
10.26
10.27
10.28
10.29
10.30
10.31
10.32
10.33

10.34

10.35
10.36

10.37
10.38
10.39
10.40
10.41

10.42
10.43
10.44

10.45
10.46
10.46A

10.47
10.48

Description

Management Agreement between Five SAC Self-Storage Corporation and a subsidiary of
AMERCO(10)

Management Agreement between Eight SAC Self-Storage Corporation and a subsidiary of
AMERCO(10)

Management Agreement between Nine SAC Self-Storage Corporation and a subsidiary of
AMERCO(10)

Management Agreement between Ten SAC Self-Storage Corporation and a subsidiary of
AMERCO(10)

Management Agreement between Six-A SAC Self-Storage Corporation and a subsidiary of
AMERCO(16)

Management Agreement between Six-B SAC Self-Storage Corporation and a subsidiary of
AMERCO(16) :

Management Agreement between Six-C SAC Self-Storage Corporation and a subsidiary of
AMERCO(16)

Management Agreement between Eleven SAC Self-Storage Corporation and a subsidiary of
AMERCO(16)

Management Agreement between Twelve SAC Self-Storage Corporation and a subsidiary of
AMERCO(18)

Management Agreement between Thirteen SAC Self-Storage Corporation and a subsidiary of
AMERCO(18)

Management Agreement between Fourteen SAC Self-Storage Corporation and a subsidiary of
AMERCO(18)

Management Agreement between Fifteen SAC Self-Storage Corporation and a subsidiary of
AMERCO(19)

Management Agreement between Sixteen SAC Self-Storage Corporation and a subsidiary of
AMERCO(19)

Management Agreement between Seventeen SAC Self-Storage Corporation and a subsidiary of
AMERCO(17)

Management Agreement between Eighteen SAC Self-Storage Corporation and U-Haul(20)
Management Agreement between Nineteen SAC Seif-Storage Limited Partnership and
U-Haul(20)

Management Agreement between Twenty SAC Self-Storage Corporation and U-Haul(20)
Management Agreement between Twenty-One SAC Self-Storage Corporation and U-Haul(20)
Management Agreement between Twenty-Two SAC Self-Storage Corporations and U-Haul(20)
Management Agreement between Twenty-Three SAC Self-Storage Corporation and U-Haul(20)
Management Agreement between Twenty-Four SAC Self-Storage Limited Partnership and
U-Haul(20)

Management Agreement between Twenty-Five SAC Self-Storage Limited Partnership and
U-Haul(20)

Management Agreement between Twenty-Six SAC Self-Storage Limited Partnership and
U-Haul(20)

Management Agreement between Twenty-Seven SAC Self-Storage Limited Partnership and
U-Haul(20)

3-Year Credit Agreement with certain lenders named therein (20)

Promissory Note between Four SAC Self-Storage Corporation and U-Haul International, Inc.(20)

Amendment and Addendum to Promissory Note between Four SAC Self-Storage Corporation and
U-Haul International, Inc.(20)

Promissory Note between SAC Holding Corporation and Nationwide Commercial Co.(20)
Promissory Note between SAC Holding Corporation and Nationwide Commercial Co.(20)




Exhibit
No.

10.48A
1049
10.50
10.50A

10,51
10.52
10.52A

10.53
10.53A

10.54
10.54A

10.55
10.55A

10.56
10.56A

10.57
10.57A

10.58
10.58A

10.59
10.60
10.61
10.62
10.63
10.64
10.65
10.66

10.67
10.68
10.69

21

23.1
232
99.1

Description
Amendment and Addendum to Promissory Note between SAC Holding Corporation and
Nationwide Commercial Co.(20)

Promissory Note between Five SAC Self-Storage Corporation and Nationwide Commercial
Co.(20)

Promissory Note between Five SAC Self-Storage Corporation and Nationwide Commercial
Co.(20)

Amendment and Addendum to Promissory Note between Five SAC Self-Storage Corporation and
Nationwide Commercial Co.(20)

Promissory Note between Five SAC Self-Storage Corporation and U-Haul International, Inc.(20)
Promissory Note between SAC Holding Corporation and Oxford Life Insurance Company(20)

Amendment and Addendum to Promissory Note between SAC Holding Corporation and Oxford
Life Insurance Company(20)

Promissory Note between SAC Holding Corporation and Nationwide Commercial Company (20)

Amendment and Addendum to Promissory Note between SAC Holding Corporation and
Nationwide Commercial Co.(20)

Promissory Note between SAC Holding Corporation and U-Haul International, Inc.(20)

Amendment and Addendum to Promissory Note between SAC Holding Corporation and U-Haul
International, Inc.(20)

Promissory Note between SAC Holding Corporation and U-Haul International, Inc.(20)

Amendment and Addendum to Promissory Note between SAC Holding Corporation and U-Haul
International, Inc.(20)

Promissory Note between SAC Holding Corporation and U-Haul International, Inc.(20)

Amendment and Addendum to Promissory Note between SAC Holding Corporation and U-Haul
International, Inc.(20)

Promissory Note between SAC Holding Corporation and Nationwide Commercial Co.(20)

Amendment and Addendum to Promissory Note between SAC Holding Corporation and
Nationwide Commercial Co.(20)

Promissory Note between SAC Holding Corporation and Nationwide Commercial Co.(20)

Amendment and Addendum to Promissory Note between SAC Holding Corporation and
Nationwide Commercial Co.(20) :

Promissory Note between SAC Holding Corporation and Nationwide Commercial Co. (20)
Junior Promissory Note between SAC Holding Corporation and Nationwide Commercial Co.(20)
Promissory Note between SAC Holding Corporation and U-Haul International, Inc.(20)
Promissory Note between SAC Holding Corporation and U-Haul International, Inc.(20)
Promissory Note between SAC Financial Corporation and U-Haul International, Inc.(20)

1997 AMERCO Support Party Agreement

Private Mini Storage Realty, L.P. Non-Exoneration Agreement

2003 AMERCO Support Party Agreement for the benefit of GMAC Commercial Holding Capital
Corp.

Engagement Letter with Alvarez & Marsal, Inc. dated May 22, 2003

Wells Fargo Foothill, Inc. Commitment Letter dated June 19, 2003

State of Arizona Department of Insurance Notice of Determination, Order for Supervision and
Consent Thereto

Subsidiaries of AMERCO .
Consent of Independent Certified Public Accountants
Report of Independent Certified Public Accountants

Certificate of Edward J. Shoen, Chairman of the Board and President of AMERCO pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002




Exhibit

No. Description
99.2 Certificate of Gary B. Horton, Treasurer of AMERCO pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002
99.3 Certificate of Edward J. Shoen, Chairman of the Board and President of U-Haul International, Inc.
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
99.4 Certificate of Gary B. Horton, Assistant Treasurer of U-Haul International, Inc. pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

* Indicates compensatory plan arrangement

(1
(2)
3)
4
(5)
(6)
(8)
9)
(10)
(11)
(12)
(13)
(14)
(15)
(16)
(17)
(18)
(19)

(20)

Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Registration Statement on Form S-3, Registration
no. 333-1195.

Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
December 31, 1992, file no. 1-11255.

Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 1996, file no. 1-11255.

Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Current Report on Form 8-K, dated May 6, 1996, file
no. 1-11255.

Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31,
1993, file no. 1-11255.

Incorporated by reference to AMERCQO’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31,
1990, file no. 1-11255.

Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 1995, file no. 1-11255.

Incorporated by reference to AMERCQ’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated September 6, 1996, file
no. 1-11255.

Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31,
1999, file no. 1-11255.

Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
December 31, 1997, file no. 1-11255.

Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31,
1997, file no. 1-11255.

Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
June 30, 1998, file no. 1-11255.

Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated April 5, 1999, file
no. 1-11255.

Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 4, 2000, file
no. 1-11255.

Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31,
2000, file no. 1-11255.

Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31,
2001, file no. 1-11255.

Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2001, file no. 1-11255.

Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
December 31, 2000, file no. 1-11255.

Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2002.




DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE
OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANTS

The Company’s Executive Officers as of June 30, 2003, were:

Name Age Office
Edward J. Shoen 54 Chairman of the Board, President and
Director of AMERCO and U-Haul
Wiilliam E. Carty 76 Director of AMERCQ and U-Haul
Retired Area District V.P. of U-Haul
John M. Dodds 66 Director of AMERCO and U-Haul
Retired Executive V.P. Field Operations of U-Haul
Charles J. Bayer 63 Director of AMERCO
Retired President of AMERCO Real Estate Company
John P. Brogan 59 Director of AMERCO
Chairman of Muench-Kreuzer Candie Company
James J. Grogan 49 Director of AMERCO
CEOD of Loreto Bay Company
M. Frank Lyons 67 Director of AMERCO
Retired President of Evergreen Realty, Inc.
James P. Shoen 43 Director of AMERCO
Gary B. Horton 59 Treasurer of AMERCO and Assistant Treasurer of U-Haul
Gary V. Klinefelter 55 Secretary and General Counsel of AMERCG and U-Haul
Racky D. Wardrip 45 Assistant Treasurer of AMERCO
Mark V. Shoen 52 President of U-Haul Phoenix Operations
John C. Taylor 45 Director and Executive V.P. of U-Haul
Ronald C. Frank 62 Executive V.P. U-Haul Field Operatians
Mark A. Haydukovich 46 President of Oxford Life Insurance Company
Carlos Vizcarra 56 President of Amerco Real Estate Company
Richard M. Amoroso 44 President of Republic Western Insurance Company
COMMITTEES OF THE AMERCO BOARD OF DIRECTORS ADVISORY
BOARD
Audit Executive Finance Compensation Independent Governance MEMBERS
Committee Committee Committee Committee
John P. Grogan Edward J. Shoen John P. Brogan John Brogan Michael L. Gallagher*
John M. Dodds Charles J. Bayer James J. Grogan James Grogan
James J. Grogan John P. Brogan Paul A. Bible*
Thomas W. Hayes* *Non-Director members

CAUTIONARY STATEMENTS REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report contains “forward-looking statements” as that term as defined in Section 27A of the Securities Act and Section 21E of the Securities
Exchange Act. All statements, other than statements of historical fact, included in this Annual Report are forward-looking statements, including, but not limited to,
projections of revenues, income or loss, estimates of capital expenditures, plans for future operations, products or services, financing needs or plans, expected
outcome of the Chapter 11 proceeding, as well as assumptions relating to the foregoing. The words “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “project,”
“may,” “will,” “intends,” “plans,” and similar expressions identify forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date the statement was made. Such
forward-looking statements are and will be, as the case may be, subject to many risks and uncertainties that may cause actual results to differ materially from
any future results expressed or implied in such forward-looking statements. Factors that could significantly affect results include, without limitation, the risk
factors enumerated at the end of the Management's Discussion and Analysis section of the Company’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2003, as
well as the following: fluctuations in cur costs to maintain and update our fleet and facilities; changes in government regulations, particularly environmental
regulations; degree and nature of our competition; changes in accounting standards; the Company's ability to continue as a going concern; the Company’s ability
to operate pursuant to the terms of its DIP facility; the Company’s ability to obtain court approval with respect to motions in the Chapter 11 proceeding prosecuted
by it from time to time; the Company’s ability to develop, prosecute, confirm and consummate a plan of reorganization with respect to the Chapter 11 case; risks
associated with third parties seeking and obtaining court approval to terminate or shorten the exciusivity period for the Company to propose and confirm a plan
of reorganization, for the appaintment of a Chapter 11 trustee or to convert the case to a Chapter 7 case; the Company's ability to obtain and maintain normal
terms with vendors and service providers; the Company's ability to maintain contracts that are critical to its operations; the potential adverse impact of the
Chapter 11 case on the Company's liquidity or results of operations; the costs and availability of financing; the Company's ability to execute its business plan; the
Company’s ability to attract, motivate and/or retain key employees; general economic conditions; weather conditions; and other risks and uncertainties set forth
from time to time in the Company's reports to the United States Securities and Exchange Commission. Consequently, the forward-looking statements should not be
regarded as representations or warranties by the Company that such matters will be realized. The Company disclaims any intent or obligation to update or revise
any of the forward-looking statements, whether in response to new information, unforeseen events, changed circumstances or otherwise.




STOCKHOLDER INFORMATION

AMERCO, a Nevada corporation, was incorporated in April 1969, and is the
holding company of the wholly owned subsidiaries comprising the U-Hau! System
(collectively, the “Company”). The Company had its origin in 1945 under the name
“U-Haul Trailer Rental Company.” The Company is primarily engaged in the
short-term rental of trucks, trailers, and related equipment to the do-it-yourself
mover. The tompany also sells related moving products and services, and rents “
self-storage facilities and general rental items. In addition, the Company’s |
insurance subsidiaries engage in the life and property/casualty insurance and

reinsurance business. The Company employs 16,100 people.

CORPORATE HEADGUARTERS
1325 Airmotive Way, Suite 100
Reno, Nevada 89502-3239
(775) 688-6300

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

BDO Seidman
Phoenix, Arizona

FORM 10-K
Copies of Amerco’s Annual Report on Form 10-K are
available, at no cost upon request, by contacting:
AMERCO Investor Relations
P.0. Box 21502
Phoenix, Arizona 85306-1502
AMERCQ information is also available on the
Internet at www.amerco.com.

TRANSFER AGENT
Mellon Investor Services
235 Mantgomery Street, 23rd Floor
San Francisco, CA 94104
www.chasemeilon.com




